

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

Succession Planning Strategies in Polish Family-Owned **Businesses**

Jan Marcin Klaczak Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Business Commons

Walden University

College of Management and Human Potential

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Jan Marcin Klaczak

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Theresa Neal, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Yvonne Doll, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Tim Truitt, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2023

Abstract

Succession Planning Strategies in Polish Family-Owned Businesses

by

Jan Marcin Klaczak

MS, London School of Economics and Political Science, 2019

BS, Goldsmiths, University of London, 2018

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

April 2023

Abstract

Family-owned businesses contribute to social and economic advancement, yet many business owners struggle with employing succession planning during intergenerational leadership transitions. Family business leaders are concerned with identifying effective succession planning strategies for the leadership transition to the next generation for business continuity. Grounded in Rothwell's seven-step model for succession planning, the purpose of this qualitative multiple-case study was to explore succession planning strategies Polish family business leaders used for the leadership transition to the next generation. Three Polish family business leaders who successfully implemented succession planning in their organizations participated in the study. Data were collected through semistructured interviews, journal notes, and a review of company documents. Using Yin's five-step analysis approach, four themes emerged: systematic succession, grooming the successor, communication with non-family stakeholders, and long-term sustainability. A key recommendation is for family business leaders to develop succession plans containing specific milestones, areas for successors' managerial and technical development, and evaluation criteria to bolster business continuity and growth. The implications for positive social change include the potential to improve family business survival, thereby creating continuous job opportunities, supporting community advancement, and enhancing diverse stakeholders' well-being.

Succession Planning Strategies in Polish Family-Owned Businesses

by

Jan Marcin Klaczak

MS, London School of Economics and Political Science, 2019

BS, Goldsmiths, University of London, 2018

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

April 2023

Dedication

I dedicate this doctoral study posthumously to my grandparents, Maria and Piotr Klaczak. They tirelessly encouraged me to pursue my dreams and embark on this doctoral journey. Completing this doctorate would not have been possible without their wisdom, love, and support.

Acknowledgments

I would like to acknowledge and thank my chair, Dr. Theresa Neal, for guiding me through this doctoral journey. I am forever grateful for your mentorship, unparalleled support, and belief in my success. You are a role model to me. I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. Yvonne Doll and Dr. Tim Truitt, for their positive feedback that allowed me to complete this doctoral study. Finally, I would like to thank all my loved ones who supported me throughout the doctoral program and reassured me that reaching my academic goals was possible.

Table of Contents

Li	st of Tables	iv
Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem and Purpose	2
	Population and Sampling	2
	Nature of the Study	3
	Research Question	4
	Interview Questions	5
	Conceptual Framework	6
	Operational Definitions	7
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	8
	Assumptions	9
	Limitations	9
	Delimitations	. 10
	Significance of the Study	. 11
	Contribution to Business Practice	. 11
	Implications for Social Change	. 12
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	. 12
	Rothwell's Seven-Step Model for Succession Planning	. 14
	Alternative Conceptual Framework: Upper Echelons Theory	. 24
	Family Business Succession and Its Barriers	. 28

Factors Affecting Family Business Sustainability	32
Family Business Founders' and Successors' Roles in Succession Planning	37
Leadership and Succession Planning	43
Successor Mentoring for Family Business Continuity	47
Effects of Succession Planning	51
Family Business Research in Poland	53
Transition	55
Section 2: The Project	57
Purpose Statement	57
Role of the Researcher	57
Participants	61
Research Method and Design	63
Research Method	63
Research Design	65
Population and Sampling	68
Ethical Research	71
Data Collection Instruments	74
Data Collection Technique	76
Data Organization Technique	80
Data Analysis	81
Reliability and Validity	85
Reliability	85

Validity	87
Transition and Summary	90
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	92
Introduction.	92
Presentation of the Findings.	93
Theme 1: Systematic Succession	94
Theme 2: Grooming the Successor	101
Theme 3: Communication With Non-Family Stakeholders	108
Theme 4: Long-Term Sustainability	112
Applications to Professional Practice	116
Implications for Social Change	119
Recommendations for Action	120
Recommendations for Further Research	122
Reflections	124
Conclusion	125
References	126
Appendix: Interview Protocol	181

List of Tables

Table 1. Themes and Number of References by Participant	94
Table 2. Participants' References to Systematic Succession	94
Table 3. Participants' References to Grooming the Successor	101
Table 4. Participants' References to Communication with Non-Family Stakeholders	108
Table 5. Participants' References to Long-Term Sustainability	113

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Family businesses contribute to economic and social development around the world (Arregle et al., 2021). However, intergenerational leadership transition often results in family firms' decline and discontinuity (Porfírio et al., 2020). Therefore, understanding effective succession planning strategies enables family business leaders to foster their firms' survival and growth (Kiwia et al., 2019). In this qualitative multiple case study, I explored succession planning strategies that Polish family business leaders use to conduct an effective intergenerational leadership transition.

Background of the Problem

Family businesses are the backbone of most economies. They represent over two-thirds of businesses worldwide, produce 70-90% of the world's gross domestic product (GDP), and account for 50-80% of jobs in most economies (Miroshnychenko et al., 2021). Therefore, family business continuity and growth affect global development across economic, social, and environmental domains (Arregle et al., 2021). Nevertheless, family business survival remains a significant challenge for scholars and practitioners (Olubiyi et al., 2022). Only 30% of family-owned businesses survive beyond the first generation, while less than 15% reach the third generation (Porfírio et al., 2020). Moreover, solely 3% of family firms remain operational beyond the fourth generation (Mariotti et al., 2021). Hence, succession planning should be used by family business leaders seeking to ensure their firms' continuity.

Business environments have become increasingly complex and volatile, creating novel challenges for family business leaders. Empirical studies have supported the link

between succession planning, organizational sustainability, and survival (Nazer & Llorca-Jaña, 2022). Nevertheless, many family business leaders refrain from implementing formalized and systematized succession plans, reducing their firms' prospects for growth and survival (Kiwia et al., 2019). Limited family business succession planning has been observed in post-communist economies where many firms face the need for leadership transition for the first time, and practitioners lack the knowledge and experience to conduct the process effectively (Worytkiewicz-Raś, 2020). Hence, it is critical to advance research on family business succession planning to support practitioners facing challenges to their firms' sustainability (LeCounte, 2022). Through this study, I contributed to family business research and practice by exploring effective succession planning strategies that Polish family business leaders employ to support their firms' continuity and development.

Problem and Purpose

The specific business problem was that some Polish family business leaders lack succession planning strategies for leadership transition to the next generation. Therefore, the purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore succession planning strategies Polish family business leaders use for leadership transition to the next generation.

Population and Sampling

Data were collected from three purposefully sampled business leaders of three family firms in Poland who successfully concluded an intergenerational ownership and leadership transfer. Business leaders were interviewed using a semistructured interview process designed to understand the succession planning strategies they used to conduct leadership transition to the next generation. I also reviewed organizational documents for relevant information and took extensive researcher notes.

Nature of the Study

Considering the nature of a study enables researchers to identify and choose a suitable research method. Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed are the three methods employed in formal research (Lo et al., 2020). Scholars conduct qualitative research when embarking on a context-sensitive, adaptable, and data-driven problem investigation (Reuber & Fischer, 2022). Contrary to that, quantitative research is suitable when using numerical data or pursuing hypothesis testing (Powell, 2020). Mixed methods research incorporates elements of quantitative and qualitative approaches to gather and analyze data, integrate results, or establish inferences (Molina-Azorin & Fetters, 2019). Quantitative and mixed methods research approaches were unsuitable for this study, as it did not rely on numerical data to address the research question. In contrast, this study rested upon an interpretative approach to foster a comprehensive understanding of the research problem and formulate its detailed description. Thus, the qualitative method was chosen as the most appropriate to understand the succession planning strategies used to conduct leadership transition to the next generation.

Scholars pursuing qualitative studies aim to acquire a rich and deep understanding of a research problem. Narrative, ethnographic, phenomenological, and case study research designs are used in qualitative studies (Tomaszewski et al., 2020). Narrative designs enable researchers to explore individual or group life stories (Andrews, 2021).

Ethnographic designs involve exploring collective behavioral patterns, beliefs, and assumptions of cultural groups (Beckett & Kobayashi, 2020). Phenomenological designs are employed to represent people's lived experiences and understand their meaning comprehensively (Stilwell & Harman, 2021). Narrative, ethnographic, and phenomenological designs were not suitable for this study, as they allow comprehending individuals' lived experiences, life stories, or behavioral patterns instead of strategies used by business leaders to plan intergenerational succession.

I used the multiple case study research design in this study. Using a case study research design allows scholars to investigate the intricacy of a case in the most comprehensive manner possible through extensive data collection, entailing diverse kinds and sources of information and documenting descriptive themes (Cakar & Aykol, 2021). Researchers can use single or multiple case study designs (Welch et al., 2022). A multiple case study research design was used for this study, as it included several family-owned businesses that successfully concluded an intergenerational succession. As Yin (2018) suggested, a multiple case study design is appropriate as it supports a more exhaustive inquiry and provides an abundance of detail that includes several cultural perspectives not attainable when conducting a single case study.

Research Question

What succession planning strategies do Polish family business leaders use to conduct leadership transition to the next generation?

Interview Questions

- 1. What succession planning strategies did you use at your family business to conduct leadership transition to the next generation?
- 2. What key skills and abilities did you look for in potential successors during the succession planning process at your firm to conduct leadership transition to the next generation?
- 3. How did you communicate your succession planning strategies to prospective successors and other stakeholders to conduct leadership transition to the next generation?
- 4. What specific leadership development strategies did you use to prepare the successors for post-transition family business leadership?
- 5. What challenges did you encounter when implementing your succession planning strategies to conduct leadership transition to the next generation?
- 6. How did you address the challenges affecting the implementation of your succession planning strategies to conduct leadership transition to the next generation?
- 7. How did you assess the effectiveness of your succession planning strategies to conduct leadership transition to the next generation?
- 8. What additional information can you share about strategies for succession planning in your family business to conduct leadership transition to the next generation?

Conceptual Framework

I chose Rothwell's (2015) seven-step model for succession planning as the conceptual framework for this study. According to Ghazali et al. (2022), succession planning is conceptualized as a deliberate and systematic effort by organizational leaders to ensure management continuity in pivotal domains, retain and advance knowledge and intellectual capital, and contribute to stakeholders' professional development. In his seminal work, Rothwell differentiated between succession planning and succession management, arguing that they are independent but co-occurring processes. Nevertheless, Ahmad et al. (2020) noted that management researchers had refined the constructs' conceptual underpinnings over the years, with succession planning becoming the dominant and exclusive phenomenon investigated in the subject-matter literature.

The seven-step model for succession planning entails seven consecutive steps that allow organizational leaders to design and implement an effective management transfer. As a first step, the organizational leaders should commit to a systematic succession planning program. Then, they should evaluate the existing work requirements in key positions (Jackson & Allen, 2022). As a third step, business leaders should assess individual performance. Afterward, the decision-makers should assess prospective work requirements and human resource demands. Upon completion, an objective process to evaluate future individual potential should be conducted (Barton, 2019). As a sixth step, decision-makers should formulate a program for leadership development to cultivate future leaders internally (Ghazali et al., 2022). Organizational leaders should also consider alternatives to traditional promotion-from-within ways for attaining succession

demands. As a final step, decision-makers should evaluate their succession planning program (Ahmad et al., 2020). Such perpetual evaluation should be used to make ongoing improvements and sustain a commitment to systematic succession planning.

The seven-step model for succession planning has been extensively employed in research on various types of organizations. In particular, family business literature has benefitted from using the model as a framework for empirical inquiry (Ifekwem et al., 2021). Ghazali et al. (2022) encouraged management scholars to implement the framework when attempting to investigate succession planning in family businesses in a systematized manner. Due to its underpinning's alignment with succession planning research, the seven-step model for succession planning provided a lens for me to explore succession planning strategies Polish family business leaders use for leadership transition to the next generation.

Operational Definitions

Business continuity: A business' socio-technical ability to withstand and revive from intra- and extra-organizational contingencies (Niemimaa et al., 2019).

Family business: A business in which at least two individuals of a family are active in a firm's control, governance, and management (Roffia et al., 2021). The presence of at least one family member is necessary across all roles.

Intergenerational leadership transfer: A situation when a family business' ownership is transferred from a family member to another family member or close relative (Yuan, 2019).

Intrafamily succession: The transfer of management to a family member that takes control of a family business when the incumbent owner vacates the leadership position (Hidayati et al., 2020).

Leadership development: A process that allows individuals to improve their capacity to succeed in leadership roles within organizations (Wallace et al., 2021).

Non-family succession: The transfer of management to a non-family member that takes control of a family business when the incumbent owner vacates the leadership position (Mahto et al., 2021).

Primogeniture: The right of the firstborn son to inherit most of the family assets, including the family business (Eze et al., 2021).

Succession: A process in which new owners, from inside or outside the owner family, join a firm as owners and provide capital and resources that have implications for organizational processes and outcomes (Porfírio et al., 2020).

Succession planning: An intentional and organized process of ensuring the maintenance of organizational knowledge necessary for business continuity (Obianuju et al., 2021). It involves identifying and grooming future leaders who can replace existing leaders when they die, retire, or leave the organization.

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

As producers of research, scholars should comprehensively understand what is required to generate legitimate, valid findings and conclusions (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). By recognizing and communicating assumptions, limitations, and delimitations, researchers enhance their study's usefulness in academic and professional contexts

(Shahriari & Rasuli, 2020). This component contains the assumptions, limitations, and delimitations that underpinned the study.

Assumptions

Assumptions are statements by the researcher of those specific aspects of the study that are considered true (Armstrong & Kepler, 2018). Five assumptions underpinned this study. The first assumption was that succession planning is essential for Polish family businesses' survival and their local communities' advancement. The second assumption was that the study participants should be open to providing accurate responses and disclosing information on succession planning in their family businesses. The third assumption was that data provided by participants through interviews and organizational documentation should advance scholarly and practitioner understanding of the research problem. The fourth assumption was that a qualitative multiple case study is a suitable research approach for exploring succession planning in Polish family businesses. The fifth assumption was that the results of this study should enable the development of strategies for conducting family business succession planning effectively.

Limitations

Limitations denote deficiencies within a research design that may impact the results and conclusions of the study (Ross & Bibler Zaidi, 2019). Thus, researchers are obliged to the academic community to depict all known limitations affecting their investigation (Shahriari & Rasuli, 2020). This study had five limitations affecting the research process. The first limitation was that the results might not be transferable to family businesses outside Poland. The second limitation was that interviewees' responses

might be affected by their biases and the ability to precisely recollect their experiences with family business succession planning. The third limitation was that participants could refrain from disclosing confidential details about their families or firms, distorting the description of the succession planning process. The fourth limitation was that the interviews with Polish family business leaders would be conducted in English, and their language skills could potentially influence data analysis. The fifth limitation was that the organizational documentation provided by family business leaders could be intentionally limited, affecting its use in the research process.

Delimitations

Delimitations are the limitations the researchers consciously set to support attaining their study's aims and objectives (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018).

Delimitations specify the parameters of the investigation (Yin, 2018). In business research, the delimitations often encompass items such as population, sample, setting, and instrumentation (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). Four delimitations underpinned this study. The first delimitation of the study was that it was geographically restricted to Poland. The second delimitation was that the scope of the study extended to firms fulfilling Roffia et al.'s (2021) criteria for family businesses. The third delimitation involved limiting the study participants to family business owners. The fourth delimitation pertained to restricting the study to family businesses that successfully conducted an intergenerational leadership transfer.

Significance of the Study

Succession planning remains at the forefront of family business research and practice. Its effective implementation determines family firms' continuity and influence on communities (LeCounte, 2022). Thus, it is essential to consider succession planning's influence on professional practice and social development ((Lumpkin & Bacq, 2022; Zybura et al., 2021). In this component, I discuss the study's potential contribution to business practice and implications for positive social change.

Contribution to Business Practice

Business practitioners identify the importance of family businesses for the economic growth of organizations and economies. Family firms account for approximately two-thirds of businesses globally, produce 70–90% of yearly global GDP, and represent 50–80% of jobs in most countries (Miroshnychenko et al., 2021). Therefore, family businesses propel economic growth and contribute to global advancement. However, the dominant reason for family firms' failure is the unpreparedness for leadership succession, which is necessary for business continuity and long-term viability (Obianuju et al., 2021). During intergenerational leadership changes, successors of family-owned businesses mobilize innovation, creativity, and future orientation to promote business continuity and growth (Zybura et al., 2021). The results from this study could be advantageous for business practice by clarifying diverse strategies for effective succession planning in family businesses that leaders could employ in their organizations. Family business leaders could derive value from evidence-based practices enabling effective succession for business sustainability and longevity.

Implications for Social Change

The findings from this study might allow family firm leaders to understand effective succession planning practices for business continuity. Thus, the study results could contribute to positive social change by enhancing family business survival upon intergenerational leadership transitions, creating continuous job opportunities, supporting community advancement, and improving diverse stakeholders' well-being. By securing family business continuity, communities can increase economic activity to reduce unemployment and promote community members' professional development (Lumpkin & Bacq, 2022). Furthermore, business leaders of well-performing family firms may act philanthropically to develop and share wealth and legacies across generations (Ge & Micelotta, 2019). Therefore, family business research could positively impact the human condition.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore succession planning strategies Polish family business leaders use for leadership transition to the next generation. Nevertheless, before initiating the empirical component of this study, it was vital to conduct a literature review to lay a foundation for further endeavors. A literature review positions one's research within the context of extant scholarship on the subject matter, unveiling the value and necessity of further inquiry (Paul & Criado, 2020). It demonstrates a researcher's knowledge and comprehension of a given field, along with their ability to critically summarize and synthesize scholarly resources to formulate an argument for undertaking a study (Paul et al., 2021). In this study, Rothwell's (2015)

seven-step model for succession planning served as the conceptual framework for addressing the following research question - what succession planning strategies do Polish family business leaders use to conduct leadership transition to the next generation?

I acquainted myself with diverse resources spanning peer-reviewed articles, trade journals, governmental reports, and scholarly seminal books to complete an exhaustive literature review essential for understanding succession planning in family businesses. However, to remain mindful of the field's evolution, I concentrated on peer-reviewed scholarly articles published within 5 years of the study's anticipated completion. In the peer review process, independent scholars, who are experts in specific disciplines, assess research quality prior to its publication (Hanafizadeh & Shaikh, 2021). That system fosters originality, validity, and significance of the scholarly output (Emile, 2021). To access peer-reviewed scholarly literature, I primarily relied on the Walden Library. I used the following databases: Business Source Complete, EBSCO Host, Emerald Insight, ERIC, Google Scholar, ProQuest Central, SAGE Journals, ScienceDirect, and Taylor and Francis Online. Moreover, the search encompassed keywords associated with various aspects of succession planning in family business contexts. Keywords included: succession planning, succession planning model, family business governance, socioemotional wealth, strategic planning, business continuity, business survival, knowledge transfer, leadership transition, intergenerational succession, family business, family-owned business, and family firm. In the literature review component of this study, I identified 207 (99%) peer-reviewed scholarly articles, of which 194 (93.7%) were published in or after 2019.

When organizing the literature review, several elements became foundational for demonstrating the state of the field and conducting the empirical inquiry. They include:

(a) the conceptual framework of Rothwell's (2015) seven-step succession planning model, (b) an alternative conceptual perspective for viewing succession planning in family businesses, (c) the scholarly understanding of the succession process in the family business context, (d) contemporary studies on the factors affecting family businesses and their sustainability, (e) the family business founders' and successors' influence on the succession process and business longevity, (f) the extent to which family business leaders prepare for the succession process, (g) successor mentoring to support intergenerational leadership transfers in family businesses, (h) potential outcomes of effective succession processes in family businesses, and (i) family business research in the Polish context.

Rothwell's Seven-Step Model for Succession Planning

Most organizations encounter succession dilemmas at some stage. Nevertheless, the need for effective succession is particularly pronounced in family firms as it often determines business continuity and survival (Kiwia et al., 2019; Umans et al., 2020). Due to succession planning's far-reaching implications for most organizations, management scholars have devised various frameworks to improve the process' understanding (Al Suwaidi et al., 2020; Barton, 2019; Jackson & Dunn-Jensen, 2021). As Sreih et al. (2019) noted, family business leaders benefit from procedural models as they support implementing management succession practices, especially in organizations that lack experience in that domain. Among succession planning researchers, William Rothwell remains one of the most prominent theorists (Ghazali et al., 2022). The seven-step model

for succession planning, also known as the seven-pointed star model, has gained extensive approval from business scholars and practitioners (Abdellah, 2021). Rothwell devised the model in 2001 and refined it over the next decade (Ghazali et al., 2022). Therefore, the framework has undergone several revisions and extensions since its inception.

Management scholars express divergent understandings of succession planning. The seven-step model rests upon the assumption that succession planning is an intentional and systematic organizational effort to secure leadership continuity, safeguard intellectual capital, prepare for external changes, and encourage human resource development (Ahmad et al., 2020; Rothwell & Prescott, 2022). Therefore, Rothwell (2015) described succession planning as a foundation for longitudinal organizational development and survival, attained through leadership sustainability and stability.

Moreover, succession planning might protect firms' intellectual capital and support leaders and employees in identifying and forging career paths (Bano et al., 2022). Thus, in Rothwell's model, succession planning is a comprehensive and holistic process allowing organizations and their members to approach change systematically and thrive upon its completion, appreciating the potential and capabilities of all internal stakeholders (Desarno et al., 2021). The seven steps supporting the succession initiative are outlined below.

The first step of the seven-pointed star model includes the succession intention. It involves identifying and committing to a systematic succession planning process by business leaders and incorporating the endeavor into organizational strategy (Ahmad et

al., 2020; Rothwell & Prescott, 2022). At the outset of the initiative, business leaders prepare a formalized action plan outlining the process's early stages and communication patterns aimed at convincing stakeholders about the need to engage in succession planning (Tucker, 2020). Moreover, this step includes dividing tasks between managers and employees, collectively supporting reaching the desired outcome (Abdellah, 2021). As Izadi Shahnani et al. (2022) emphasized, business leaders must achieve a consensus on the milestones and goals to develop procedures and achieve congruent decision-making that navigates stakeholders through change's intricacies. Nevertheless, some flexibility should be accounted for as succession planning should not have a detrimental effect on organizational culture (Abdellah, 2021). Hence, the first step of the seven-pointed star model engages stakeholders in the succession planning initiative and orients them on strategic organizational needs.

After committing to a systematized succession planning process, business leaders should proceed to the second step, which involves evaluating existing work environments. At this stage, business leaders responsible for conducting the succession process investigate their followers' job descriptions and adjust them to fit new objectives associated with the leadership transition (Batool et al., 2022). In particular, the second step revolves around supervising individuals participating in the succession process and depicting the initiative's implications for professional development. Business leaders identify the skills and competencies needed to address specific tasks and devise a procedural form to track human resource development during the succession process (Chukwuma et al., 2021). Moreover, Izadi Shahnani et al. (2022) indicated that the

procedural form serves as a basis for designing, implementing, and assessing employee training. Hence, the second step of the framework helps business leaders comprehend the setting in which succession occurs.

The third step of the seven-pointed star model involves appraising individual performance. Business leaders critically evaluate the job performance of individuals expected to qualify for career development during the succession process (Abdellah, 2021; Rothwell & Prescott, 2022). High-performing individuals enable leadership transition by mobilizing their knowledge, skills, and abilities to implement organizational change and foster sustainable performance. Therefore, business leaders should comprehensively review internal stakeholders to ensure an alignment between organizational succession goals and human resource potential (Siewert & Louderback, 2019). Moreover, appraising individual performance supports talent management and personal growth (Batool et al., 2022; Jindal & Shaikh, 2021; Omotunde & Alegbeleye, 2021). As Najam ul Hassan and Siddiqui (2020) noted, being considerate of human resources transforms the succession planning process into a pathway toward personal and professional growth for stakeholders. Therefore, the third step of the framework reveals the role of human resources in the succession process.

The fourth step of the framework includes assessing future work and people requirements. It pushes business leaders to use their strategic foresight to consider the competencies needed to compete in shifting markets and secure organizational sustainability (Abdellah, 2021; Chobakhloo et al., 2022). Contemporary work environments undergo perpetual changes, and succession planning should serve as an

opportunity to prepare the organization and its members for future challenges that could hamper its growth and survival (Zhao et al., 2020). Therefore, the decision-makers should rely on accumulated knowledge and available resources to evaluate the internal and external factors affecting long-term business operations and select and develop individuals who could face future demands (Jindal & Shaikh, 2021; Tucker, 2020). As Izadi Shahnani et al. (2022) suggested, business leaders should draft several potential scenarios and devise developmental programs to prepare internal stakeholders for diverse contingencies. A holistic approach prepares individuals participating in the succession process for prospective duties (Ahmad et al., 2020; Siewert & Louderback, 2019). Business leaders should draw from insights accrued in the previous steps as they enable adopting a dynamic view on organizational development.

The fifth step of the seven-pointed star model involves appraising future individual potential. This step is a continuation of the prospective environment's evaluation. Business leaders employ this phase of the framework to consider how well-prepared individuals participating in the succession process are for facing future challenges (Chukwuma et al., 2021; Rothwell & Prescott, 2022). Moreover, they should account for people's openness to undergo personal and professional development (Abdellah, 2021; Jindal & Shaikh, 2021). Therefore, instead of searching for candidates possessing the abilities needed to face future demands, business leaders should establish opportunities for individuals willing to dedicate personal resources for gradual improvement (Ali et al., 2019). Ghazali et al. (2022) stressed that the fifth step of the framework requires business leaders to become future-oriented rather than fixated on

individuals' current or past performance. Business leaders should also attempt to establish an objective process or a series of processes to conduct the potential appraisal (Martin & O'Shea, 2021). As Jackson and Dunn-Jensen (2021) emphasized, it is essential to minimize the effect of biases on the assessment as it could be detrimental to business continuity. Business leaders should conduct a transparent and rigorous appraisal of human potential.

The sixth step of the framework requires business leaders to close the developmental gap. Succession planning and management necessitate continuous investment in human resources to meet organizational needs and sustain a competitive advantage (Ahmad et al., 2020; Bano et al., 2022; Desarno et al., 2021). Therefore, business leaders should devise and execute training programs for internal stakeholders, recognizing that business environments undergo changes, and such interventions should be regularly updated to ensure applicability (Jackson & Dunn-Jensen, 2021). Furthermore, organizations should not neglect talented individuals outside their boundaries as their contributions to business growth could be transformational (Abdellah, 2021). That could be one of the pathways to meeting succession needs that extends beyond promotion-from-within methods (Desarno et al., 2021). As Phillips (2021) emphasized, leadership development programs are vital for closing the developmental gap. Such endeavors allow business leaders to use evidence-based practices to harness critical competencies needed to succeed in complex and volatile business environments.

The final step of the seven-pointed star model concludes the process. It involves assessing the succession planning program (Abdellah, 2021). Tucker (2020) argued that

succession planning should be viewed as a perpetual process rather than an isolated event. Many organizations refrain from investing resources in succession planning, viewing the initiative as restricted to specific contexts or phases of business activity (Chang & Besel, 2021). However, Chukwuma et al. (2021) stressed that succession planning is a pathway to sustainable organizational performance. Therefore, business leaders should devise rigorous methods to appraise succession planning and management in their organizations objectively and unbiasedly (Seema & Ali, 2021). Rigorous approaches should serve as a foundation for enhancing the process for long-term organizational success and maintaining a commitment to succession planning and management.

The seven-pointed star model of succession planning has received extensive attention from business scholars and practitioners. The framework has been used in attempts to optimize the process' effectiveness (Desarno et al., 2021; Rothwell & Prescott, 2022). Therefore, many business leaders have used the framework to design and implement succession programs that facilitate management continuity and knowledge transfer (Keerio et al., 2022; Rajagani, 2019). That pertains to family and non-family organizational contexts (Abdellah, 2021; Ahmad et al., 2020; Kowo et al., 2021). Business scholars have investigated numerous succession processes in family firms in line with the seven-pointed star model (Magasi, 2022). The investigations took place in diverse cultural, economic, and social settings.

Empirical research on succession planning in family firms using the sevenpointed star model was conducted in Asian business environments. In their case study of the Indonesian family-owned company PT.BJE, Wahyuningsih and Ferijani (2021) employed the seven-pointed star model to understand the phases that resulted in the leadership transfer from the founder to his son-in-law. The researchers discovered that the succession process predominantly occurred following the framework. However, the business leaders neglected some essential steps to prepare, train, and appraise individuals adopting managerial positions post-transition. As the founder's children decided not to become the family firm's leaders, it became essential to consider more distant family members to sustain the organization's character. The case study demonstrated that some family businesses abide by the seven-pointed star model but do not maximize the efforts to formalize the process or align potential successors' capabilities with prospective responsibilities.

The seven-pointed star model was also employed in studies on African family businesses. In contrast with Wahyuningsih and Ferijani's (2021) findings, Magasi's (2022) empirical study conducted among Tanzanian family business leaders using the succession planning model demonstrated the significance of an alignment between individual factors and workplace duties. The results revealed that seeking to transfer organizational leadership to a family member does not affect the firm's continuity and survival. However, ensuring a competent successor with the knowledge, skills, and abilities needed to lead a family-owned business through the transition stage has farreaching implications for the firm's sustainability prospects. Magasi concluded that family business founders considering potential successors should evaluate the desire, commitment, opportunity cost, interests, industry nature, and experiences before selecting

a suitable candidate. The study uncovered the need for a holistic consideration of the succession planning process.

The succession planning model was used in other empirical attempts to comprehend succession planning in African family businesses. Abiri-Franklin and Olugasa (2022) examined succession planning in Nigerian family businesses from the perspective of female successors. The researchers employed the seven-pointed star model to understand whether family business founders employ effective strategies to assess and choose suitable successors with the skills needed to lead organizations in challenging environments. In some cultural contexts, family firm founders prefer primogeniture to an objective and unbiased appraisal of potential successors (Akhmedova et al., 2020; Kandade et al., 2021). The succession planning model equipped Abiri-Franklin and Olugasa (2022) with a framework for evaluating emerging family business leaders according to their preparedness for organizational management. The study findings showed that excluding female family members from succession planning can propel the unsustainability of family firms. Cultural and religious bias, patriarchal systems, and the absence of governance structures lead to the exclusion of women. Ghazali et al. (2022) noted that employing the seven-pointed star model could encourage business leaders to appraise female family members objectively in the succession planning process, as that would improve family firms' sustainability, productivity, and profitability. Thus, management researchers have identified how cultural and socioeconomic factors affect female family members' succession challenges.

The seven-pointed star model has received a rigorous appraisal from management scholars and practitioners. Such assessments have revealed the advantages of the framework's application across diverse professional settings (Abdellah, 2021; Izadi Shahnani et al., 2022; Pourmohammadshahini & Ranjbar, 2019). The conceptual framework enables business leaders to align the firms' current and prospective talent, facilitating the firms' approach to operational and strategic problems (Bano et al., 2022; Rothwell & Prescott, 2022). Moreover, business leaders can minimize the consequences of internal weaknesses and external threats by developing and enforcing a longitudinal succession plan that relies on internal company strengths and prospective external pressures (Armugam et al., 2019; Ghazali et al., 2022). Furthermore, the model's emphasis on talent management supports employees' personal and professional development during the succession process (Hous et al., 2018; Jindal & Shaikh, 2021). High-performing individuals can anticipate acquiring novel skills and abilities when their organizations implement the seven-pointed succession planning model (Abiri-Franklin & Olugasa, 2022; Magasi, 2022). Finally, Hosseini et al. (2018) noted that the framework's application promotes employee productivity and citizenship behaviors, enabling sustainable organizational performance without compromising stakeholder well-being. Therefore, using the seven-pointed star model could yield benefits for family business scholars and practitioners.

Nevertheless, the seven-pointed star model has weaknesses that undermine its use in family business scholarship. While Rothwell and Prescott (2022) argued that the framework has far-reaching implications for family business leaders pursuing an

intergenerational ownership and management transition, most empirical studies have been undertaken in other types of organizations (Abdellah, 2021; Hosseini et al., 2018; Hous et al., 2018). Therefore, the framework possesses limited empirical foundations for applications in family firms (Abiri-Franklin & Olugasa, 2022; Wahyuningsih & Ferijani, 2021). Nevertheless, Rothwell and Prescott indicated that family business research could benefit from the model's further empirical applications. Furthermore, the seven-pointed star model rests upon talent management, leadership continuity and development, and knowledge management (Candra Susanto & Henokh Parmenas, 2021). However, the framework does not entail immediate considerations of cultural and technological factors (Armugam et al., 2019). In increasingly globalized and digitized business environments, business leaders undertaking succession planning should account for diverse factors affecting modern organizations (Ahmad et al., 2020; Barton, 2019). Hence, Ali et al. (2019) called for management scholars to refine succession planning frameworks to account for changes in organizational life. Nonetheless, a rigorous assessment of conceptual frameworks is vital when conducting empirical research.

Alternative Conceptual Framework: Upper Echelons Theory

The upper echelons theory is an alternative conceptual framework for this study. Hambrick and Mason (1984) devised the upper echelons theory in the 1980s, drawing from Carnegie School theorists' research on the concept of bounded rationality (Abatecola & Cristofaro, 2018). According to the upper echelons theory, organizational leaders encounter complexity, ambiguity, and excessive stimuli in their occupational life, which prevent them from using technical rationality when making strategic decisions (Ali

et al., 2022; Bassyouny et al., 2020). Instead, organizational leaders rely on mental shortcuts, professional experience, and personal interpretations when making choices (Raziq et al., 2020). Thus, despite their efforts to think and behave rationally, organizational leaders inject their subjectivity into workplace decision-making, causing them to act in a boundedly rational fashion (Bassyouny et al., 2020; Popli et al., 2022). Therefore, Ali et al. (2022) argued that the upper echelons theory alters some deterministic views of businesses. The framework demonstrates how individual experiences and biases shape organizational behavior.

Family business founders and owners exert significant influence on their firms' strategic and operational performance. Thus, management scholars have extensively employed the upper echelons theory when researching succession planning in family-owned businesses (D'Allura, 2019; Zhao et al., 2020). LeCounte (2022) indicated that studies using other conceptual approaches, such as stewardship or game theories, often lack comprehensiveness and underestimate the emotional and behavioral implications affecting succession planning in family firms. Therefore, the upper echelons theory allows management scholars to address the family business founders' worldviews which influence the organizations they developed and nurtured (Zhao et al., 2020). The upper echelons theory addresses cognition, perception, and values that affect strategic change decisions for navigating family businesses through the power transition (LeCounte, 2022; Lu et al., 2022). Hence, Vandekerkhof et al. (2019) stressed that the founders' worldviews determine succession planning policies and their continuous monitoring and adequate implementation for business continuity. Moreover, the framework equips

researchers with a perspective on governance throughout the succession process as family business leaders' personalities, experiences, and belief systems shape the initiative's effectiveness (Carney et al., 2019; LeCounte, 2022). As D'Allura (2019) emphasized, acknowledging multiple factors through upper echelons theory's use allows scholars and practitioners to enhance the succession process in family businesses and improve organizations' long-term performance. Therefore, the upper echelons theory offers a holistic perspective on behaviors occurring in organizations.

Researchers have used the upper echelons theory in recent empirical studies on succession planning in family businesses. For instance, in their study of Chinese family businesses, Lu et al. (2022) discovered that the business founders' temporal focus is positively associated with succession planning. Moreover, family relationships bolster the link between the founders' past focus and succession planning and weaken the relationship between the founders' future focus and succession planning. Furthermore, the researchers found that past-focused family business founders are more likely to prepare for succession in ambiguous business settings than present-focused founders. Similarly, in their study of Nigerian family businesses, Ugwu and Enudu (2022) found that innovation investment, mentoring, and leadership succession planning positively influence the family firms' profitability, service quality, and survival. Furthermore, Aladejebi (2021) conducted a multiple case study of Nigerian family businesses undergoing succession planning during the pandemic using the upper echelons theory as the conceptual framework. The researcher found that management abilities, experience, negotiating skills, people management, understanding of the market, gender, and

religious bias are the key factors influencing the family business founders' decision to initiate and conduct succession planning. Finally, Zybura et al.'s (2021) investigation of family businesses in the final stages of the succession process revealed that an intergenerational leadership transition could boost the organizations' innovation capacity. In combination, the empirical studies demonstrate that the upper echelons theory can serve as a foundation for family business research, emphasizing the founders' role in the succession process.

Nevertheless, the upper echelons theory has some weaknesses reducing its usefulness in succession planning research. Neely et al. (2020) conducted a literature review of the theory's critiques, uncovering its shortcomings that require further scholarly activity. First, the upper echelons theory fails to capture mechanisms that mediate the association between executive orientation and organizational outcomes (Steinbach et al., 2019). Second, the framework does not adequately address the behavioral manifestations of executive orientation and how such behaviors affect the relationships, motivations, and actions of the stakeholders contributing to organizational performance (Simsek et al., 2018). Ultimately, Neely et al. (2020) argued that the upper echelons theory does not sufficiently consider the role of contextual factors in moderating the effect of executive characteristics on business results. Due to the upper echelons theory's weaknesses, Rothwell's succession planning model served as the current study's conceptual framework.

Family Business Succession and Its Barriers

Business scholars investigating succession planning in family firms often emphasize the need to understand the succession element of the phenomenon. Porfírio et al. (2020) indicated that family firms foster economic growth and development, and business scholars should advance family business theory to comprehend such organizations' uniqueness and specificities. Succession is a critical research area in family business studies, with scholars concentrating on leadership, power transitions, intergenerational conflicts, communication, and the presence of formalized plans outlining the rules for succession (Daspit et al., 2021; Fries et al., 2021; Hillen & Lavarda, 2019). Nonetheless, research on family business succession remains fragmented, preventing scholars from comprehensively understanding the process and its implications for various stakeholders (Yates et al., 2022). Thus, further succession studies are essential for enabling organizational continuity and success.

Rigorous empirical investigations into facets of family business succession require sound conceptual foundations. Porfírio et al. (2020) defined succession as a process during which new owners, from inside or outside the owner family, become business owners and leaders and furnish novel capital and resources that have implications for company processes and results, including innovation, entrepreneurial orientation, and growth. During the process, which may differ in duration, the founder progressively hands over power to the next generation of business leaders (Bell & Pham, 2020; Ejupi-Ibrahimi et al., 2020). Hence, succession in family businesses incorporates elements of the process, its progress and development, the effectiveness of the

intergenerational leadership transfer, and the process of clarifying the successor's will to take over the company (Porfírio et al., 2020; Teixeira et al., 2020). Succession considerations should also entail the factors and contexts that influence the succession process, such as next-generation leaders' choices and intrinsic motivation to manage the family firm (Bertschi-Michel et al., 2020; Yezza et al., 2021). Given succession's conceptual complexity, family business scholars should maintain a holistic, interdisciplinary outlook supplemented by evidence-based sources.

Nevertheless, there is no consensus on succession's theoretical foundations, and some researchers present divergent perspectives on the phenomenon's components. Cisneros et al. (2018) stressed that family business succession is a complex and long-term endeavor. Still, the scholars argued that other definitions fail to acknowledge the overlapping systems of family, business, and ownership underpinning the process. The interconnectedness further complicates leadership transfers and company control in family business settings (Freiling & Pöschl, 2020). The systems perspective on family business succession creates a need to determine the degree to which complex family relations, rivalries, and conflicts, as well as incumbent and successor attributes, successor selection, resistance to transfer leadership, personal goals and ambitions, and legal and financial aspects affect succession's realization and long-term family business sustainability (Caputo et al., 2018; Ejupi-Ibrahimi et al., 2020; Hillen & Lavarda, 2019). Moreover, alternative conceptualizations of family business succession depict cooperation for firm sustainability between business owners and successors, describing it as role adjustment (Bertschi-Michel et al., 2020). Such arrangements allow business

founders to remain engaged in organizational life by providing support, experience, and expertise and allowing the successor to restructure the company in line with the new leadership vision (Cisneros et al., 2018; Umans et al., 2020). Hence, alternative definitions of family firm succession underscore the process' sophistication and the need for agility to stay competitive.

The conceptual underpinnings of family business succession reveal potential areas hampering firm sustainability. Many scholars have noted that most family business leaders choose not to engage in organized succession planning, which often creates constraints when transferring ownership and management becomes imminent (Rumanko et al., 2021). Yet, barriers to succession planning can occur on environmental, organizational, and personal levels (Cater et al., 2019; Visser & van Scheers, 2018). Moreover, some scholars identified additional factors impeding succession: personal, relational, financial, contextual, and processual obstacles (Chukwuma-Nwuba, 2019). Those diverse perspectives reveal possible causes of long-term family business failure.

Personal barriers pertain to family business owners, potential successors, and family relationships. Many business owners display resistance toward a leadership transition, which can be driven by the attachment to the company, fear of letting go, or concerns about losing respect and status upon retirement (Chang et al., 2020; Nandi et al., 2019). Additionally, family business owners' identities can be closely tied to their organizations and transferring power can be detrimental to their self-esteem (Chukwuma-Nwuba, 2019). In contrast, potential successors could lack the ability or motivation to become business owners enabling long-term competitive advantage (Akhmedova et al.,

2020; Gagné et al., 2021). Potential successors could also possess alternative career choices or lack interest in family business management (Baù et al., 2020; Byrne et al., 2019; Tien et al., 2019). Individual factors are further exacerbated by relational difficulties. Potential relationship-driven barriers to effective succession include conflicts and rivalries among family members and lack of trust in potential successors by family members (Bertschi-Michel et al., 2020; Umans et al., 2021a). Therefore, personal factors can have far-reaching implications for the succession process.

Organizational barriers to effective succession processes in family businesses include internal stakeholders and resources. Management scholars have recognized the lack of successors' acceptance by non-family managers and employees, financial struggles slowing business founders' exit from the organization, inability to raise capital and resources to implement new leaders' visions, or changes to firm performance due to ownership and leadership changes (Chukwuma-Nwuba, 2019; Fries et al., 2021; King et al., 2022; Wang et al., 2019). Furthermore, company size, ownership and governance structures, and the nature of the business are significant factors affecting process effectiveness (Botella-Carrubi & González-Cruz, 2019; Dinh & Calabro, 2019; Duréndez et al., 2019). Some scholars additionally argued that small family businesses might lack governance foundations to facilitate an intergenerational leadership transfer (Kiwia et al., 2019). Hence, organizational barriers are significant contributors to succession process achievement.

Environmental barriers to succession processes in family firms encompass legal, cultural, and values-driven factors undermining the initiative's realization. Empirical

research has revealed that culture reflected in inheritance laws, family systems, and formal education, training, and development extensively affect the completion of family business succession (Anggadwita et al., 2020; Chukwuma-Nwuba, 2019). In some cultural contexts, family business owners remain motivated by primogeniture, excluding possible female successors from power transfer considerations (Chen & Wu, 2022; Kubíček & Machek, 2019). By ignoring individuals' skills and abilities in organizational leadership and using the potential successor's gender as the decisive factor, family business owners put their companies at risk of failure (McAdam et al., 2020). Moreover, values often underpin strategic decision-making in organizations, and the impact of local culture could prevent family business leaders from considering all available options for addressing succession dilemmas (Alvarado-Alvarez et al., 2020; Rovelli et al., 2021). Thus, when undertaking succession in family firms, business owners and leaders should remain mindful of environmental factors' implications for company survival and attempt to make unbiased decisions enabling performance and sustainability.

Factors Affecting Family Business Sustainability

While family businesses are significant contributors to national economies worldwide, they encounter unique challenges undermining their survival and intergenerational transitions. As Chahal and Sharma (2020) indicated, family firms' survival prospects decrease with each subsequent leadership transfer among family members. Empirical studies demonstrate that only 30% of family businesses transition to the second generation, 15% to the third generation, and 3% to the fourth generation

(Oudah et al., 2018). Given such low survival rates, it is crucial to consider factors beyond succession planning that influence family business sustainability.

Strategic planning fosters long-term family business sustainability and survival. The process involves devising an organizational strategy for developing internal and external operations to support profitable firm growth (Arcese et al., 2020). Empirical studies have revealed that family businesses engaging in strategic planning enhance their survival prospects by delineating company scope and longitudinal objectives (Oudah et al., 2018; Tien et al., 2019). Strategic planning allows family business leaders to assign resources and competencies to attain the necessary scope and objectives in shifting environments (Beech et al., 2019). However, strategic planning in family firms differs from strategic planning in non-family businesses as it needs to account for family aspects and needs (Oudah et al., 2018). Furthermore, Arcese et al. (2020) indicated that strategic planning for family businesses should begin with a family commitment to continue the business into the long-term future. Hence, strategic planning factors include a family commitment to continuity and family aspects and goals.

Management scholars researching family business survival strategies have also displayed considerable interest in corporate governance. Family businesses require robust governance for the family's and the organization's longevity (Tanjung, 2020). Corporate governance in family businesses varies from non-family business governance as the family has a longitudinal relationship with the business, reflects its cultural values and norms in business operations and the successive generations, and the stakeholders and business leaders have family relations (Filipović, 2021; Li, 2022). Hence, the company

and the family could benefit from organized governance to ensure their long-term interests (Oudah et al., 2018). Family business governance allows organizational leaders to shape decision-making, planning, and problem-solving structures to address the challenges related to separating family matters from business matters, effective decision-making, legacy, and leadership (Leopizzi et al., 2021; Tanjung, 2020). Thus, corporate governance aids family business leaders in making strategic decisions affecting the firm's survival and performance.

Many researchers have also investigated the role of family business values in facilitating family firms' continuity and survival. Family business values support firm longevity by shaping a shared vision and determining work ethics (Astrachan et al., 2020). Moreover, values enable formulating coherent goals for family and business life. As inconsistent goals often propel conflicts among stakeholders in family business contexts, values create a common ground between the organization and the family (Short & Payne, 2020). Thus, values facilitate strategic decision-making and reduce contradictions between family and business norms and expectations (Zapata-Cantu et al., 2022). The advantageous effects of family business values extend beyond firm owners and leaders (Short & Payne, 2020). While values become more embedded with each generation, value-driven employees are the foundation for company sustainability (Astrachan et al., 2020). As Oudah et al. (2018) suggested, quality, hard work, and honesty are the foundational business values allowing family firms to survive across generations. Thus, family business values contribute to firms' survival.

Family capital advances family firms' accomplishments and long-term sustainability. Family capital includes diverse resources that positively affect businesses and enhance individual and organizational performance (Herrero, 2018). According to Llanos-Contreras et al. (2021), family capital includes human, social, and financial resources owned by the managing family to attain a competitive advantage. Human capital entails family members' business-related knowledge, energy, experience, and ability (Oudah et al., 2018; Porfírio et al., 2020). Family business leaders acting with an appreciation for human capital distribute occupational responsibilities based on one's skills and abilities rather than connections (Llanos-Contreras et al., 2021). Social capital in family business contexts pertains to the relationships with stakeholders who facilitate organizational development and sustainability (Fendri & Nguyen, 2019). When used skillfully, human and social capital propel financial capital's growth (Oudah et al., 2018; Wu et al., 2020). In combination, the diverse facets of family capital allow family firms to reach and protect financial sustainability while preserving human and social resources to face market demands in the long term.

While many family business owners and leaders successfully mobilize strengths to enable organizational sustainability and survival, external support can also act as a catalyst for allowing firms' potential. Some family businesses use advisors' help to address issues such as devising the family's personal, financial, succession, and strategic plans, aligning family objectives with organizational goals, and conflict management (Strike et al., 2018). Extant studies have shown that family business advisors are valuable resources for family-owned enterprises. However, family business advisors must adopt

distinct approaches when considering family, business, and ownership due to complex emotions and possible personal and business conflicts (de Groote & Bertschi-Michel, 2021; Kammerlander, 2022). Moreover, family firms tend to be more resistant to professionalization than non-family companies, primarily when recruiting non-family managers or requesting external support (Bertschi-Michel et al., 2020). Yet, family firms can rely on advice from formal, informal, and family business board advisors (Oudah et al., 2018). Examples of formal advisors include lawyers, accountants, bankers, and family therapists (Oudah et al., 2018; van Helvert-Beugels et al., 2020). In contrast, informal advisors span trust catalysts and mentors (Kubíček et al., 2021). Family business board advisors are often professionals experienced in addressing organizational performance, strategy, conflicts, and succession (Ungerer & Mienie, 2018). Most importantly, an advisor should possess the skills and expertise needed to facilitate family firms' sustainability.

In combination, numerous factors facilitate family business continuity, sustainability, and survival. Therefore, family firm owners and leaders need to remain mindful of internal and external strengths that should be prioritized to stay competitive in challenging and ambiguous business environments (Kubíček et al., 2021; Oudah et al., 2018). With family businesses' survival rates decreasing with each intergenerational leadership transition, using survival-focused strategies becomes advantageous for organizations and national economies.

Family Business Founders' and Successors' Roles in Succession Planning

Family business founders and successors exert a significant influence on their firms' strategic and operational performance. In their organizational behavior, family business leaders rely on values and trust to care for the company, family, and future generations (Astrachan et al., 2020; Iaia et al., 2019). Therefore, founders' tenure as business leaders often forces them to face two conflicting paradigms - continuity and change (Erdogan et al., 2020). At some point, family business founders need to consider whether to conduct an intergenerational leadership transfer or sell the company (Gagné et al., 2021; Vardaman & Montague-Mfuni, 2021). If family business founders choose succession as the preferred solution, they initiate a transfer of values, knowledge, leadership, and eventually ownership (Rajagani, 2019; Tan et al., 2019; Tien et al., 2019). Family business founders and successors are the most critical stakeholders in the intergenerational leadership transfer (Lauto et al., 2020; Lušňáková et al., 2019). Their cooperation and engagement in transmitting consequent components of succession determine the process' effectiveness (Lee et al., 2019a; Rychta, 2022). Due to succession's far-reaching implications for organizational growth and survival, it is essential to consider the process from the founders' and successors' perspectives.

As family business founders possess unique ties with their organizations, management scholars have investigated their motives for initiating or postponing succession planning. Many researchers note that family business founders who decide to implement succession planning in their firms often perceive organizational survival and family harmony as key factors underpinning their readiness to transfer ownership and

leadership (Rumanko et al., 2021; Umans et al., 2021b). Nevertheless, successful family businesses are the effects of the founders' lifetime entrepreneurship which potentially explains why some incumbents struggle to surrender management of their firms easily (Azizi et al., 2021; Hanson & Keplinger, 2021; Marques & Silva, 2020). Therefore, founders' difficulty in letting go of their businesses has underpinned burgeoning literature on resistance to succession.

Management scholars have identified the antecedents of incumbents' resistance to succession planning. Chang et al. (2020) suggested that incumbents in good health and with personal identities linked to their firms might resist succession planning due to intrinsic barriers to change. Successors' unpreparedness or unavailability for business leadership and lack of interest in the family business could further elevate incumbents' resistance to succession planning (Husien et al., 2019; Nandi et al., 2019). Yet, when potential successors possess needed skills and abilities and exhibit interest in leading the family firm, incumbents' self-interests could compromise business sustainability (Mendez & Maciel, 2020; Vardaman & Montague-Mfuni, 2021). In such instances Husien et al. (2019) indicated that self-reflection, post-succession career planning, and developing the ability to disassociate from the family firm could be viable strategies for overcoming founders' barriers to succession planning. Ensuring family business continuity and safeguarding family interests should be incumbents' leading motives for succession planning.

When family business founders overcome barriers to succession planning and decide to conduct an intergenerational leadership transfer, their attitudes and behaviors

become pivotal for the process' effectiveness. The foundational role of the incumbent during the succession process is to select an appropriate candidate, train them, and eventually pass on organizational ownership and leadership (LeCounte, 2022; Yuan, 2019). If family business owners seek intra-family succession and have several offspring, they should evaluate individuals' leadership and technical skills before selecting a suitable successor (Rumanko et al., 2021; Rychta, 2022). Moreover, family business founders might consider shared leadership solutions to employ multiple individuals' abilities to organizational advantage (Fries et al., 2021). Yet, in some cultural contexts, incumbents use primogeniture to guide successors' selection process (Hamilton et al., 2021; Lu et al., 2021). Primogeniture can be detrimental to family firms' sustainability by restricting leadership opportunities for female and younger male successors (Eze et al., 2021). Potential talented and skilled successors could be excluded from succession considerations due to primogeniture (Mismetti et al., 2022). Hence, incumbents should seek to assess potential successors' skills and abilities in an unbiased manner.

Upon choosing successors, incumbents should direct their attention toward developmental activities and eventual leadership transfers. Many management scholars have emphasized the value of formal and informal entrepreneurship education in enhancing succession's effectiveness and promoting knowledge transfer between generations of family business leaders (Lušňáková et al., 2019; Rumanko et al., 2021). Thus, incumbents should create opportunities for successors to join the family firm and observe business operations and strategies from the inside (Hanson & Keplinger, 2021; Porfírio et al., 2020). Husien et al. (2019) suggested sharing power with successors to

groom them into their new position. Learning through practice exposes successors to organizational challenges and allows them to identify and test success-oriented strategies.

In addition to experiential learning, incumbents should evaluate the applicability of organized activities. Researchers have depicted investments in formalized leadership and technical development programs for successors as potentially valuable for successors' professional growth (Barrett & Moores, 2020; Rumanko et al., 2021). Mentoring is another systematic strategy for preparing successors for new career challenges (Madarasiné Szirmai & Németh, 2019). In addition to transferring knowledge among stakeholders, mentoring develops communication and trust among incumbents and successors (Chaudhary et al., 2021; Rychta, 2022). Afterward, incumbents should carve out time and space for successor reflection to conclude the educational phase before the formal ownership and leadership transfer (Bell & Pham, 2020; Mussolino et al., 2019). Reflection should be supplemented with frequent communication between stakeholders to foster relationship depth and trust (Chang et al., 2020; Husien et al., 2019; Somboonvechakarn et al., 2022). Incumbents should then step back and allow successors to lead the family firm, offering support and guidance when necessary (Bertschi-Michel et al., 2020; Cho et al., 2022; Ng et al., 2021). Incumbents' stepping back concludes the succession process from the family business founders' perspective.

Successors perform a pivotal role in family business continuity following the succession process. Nevertheless, most empirical studies focus on the founders' perspective (Buckman et al., 2020; LeCounte, 2022). Yet, extant literature reveals how successors participate in the succession process and shape effectiveness (Gagné et al.,

2021; Kandade et al., 2021). In particular, management scholars have identified diverse factors encouraging potential successors to engage in intergenerational leadership transfers in family businesses (Lauto et al., 2020; Schell et al., 2020). Chanchotiyan and Asavanant (2020) suggested that successors' knowledge, skills, experience, motivation to work for the family firm, and family relationships determine individuals' readiness to take part in the succession process. The interplay between factors further affects the process' success (Bell & Pham, 2020; Kiwia et al., 2019). Thus, considering successors' motivations is needed to understand succession planning in family firms comprehensively.

Different factors determine a potential successor's decision to become involved in an intergenerational leadership and ownership transfer in a family business. Potential successors' knowledge, skills, and experience affect their readiness to become family business leaders (Aladejebi, 2021; Kandade et al., 2021). Previous work experience in the family business and other companies and industry-specific knowledge and skills underpin successors' preparedness (Ameni et al., 2021; Chanchotiyan & Asavanant, 2020). Such experiences and skills allow successors to gain proficiency in business operations, strategizing, and management and acquire context-specific capabilities. Moreover, motivation to become family business leaders and owners is crucial to potential successors' interest in the leadership transfer (Baù et al., 2020; Gagné et al., 2021). Researchers have identified satisfaction with reward or cash compensation, personal interests or needs, and organizational commitment as foundational enablers of the succession initiative (Aladejebi, 2021; Toska et al., 2021). When potential successors

achieve an alignment between personal, professional, and family business goals while also being satisfied with the compensation, they are likely to engage in succession planning (Ameni et al., 2021). Furthermore, family relationships determine potential successors' willingness and readiness to participate in the succession process (Campopiano et al., 2020; Chanchotiyan & Asavanant, 2020). Honest relationships and harmony among family members are significant predictors of successors' intentions (Humphrey et al., 2021). Family members' trust in the successor also increases the likelihood of an intergenerational ownership transition (Chaudhary et al., 2021; Urban & Nonkwelo, 2020). Therefore, an array of antecedents underpins successors' readiness and intentions to lead.

When potential successors commit to engaging in an intergenerational leadership transfer in a family firm, they may approach the process in distinct ways. Porfírio et al. (2020) suggested that successors may behave proactively or reactively throughout the ownership and leadership transition. Proactive successors perceive succession as a developmental opportunity for themselves, their organizations, and their families (Porfírio et al., 2019). Therefore, they seek to efficiently use family business founders' experiences and knowledge to identify and implement novel pathways to organizational growth and sustainability (Porfírio et al., 2020; Selig, 2020). Proactive successors strive to legitimize their positions as new family business leaders by establishing virtuous communication with company stakeholders and revealing their visions for organizational change (Barrett & Moores, 2020; Gemu et al., 2022). Moreover, proactive successors display openness to mentorship, experiential learning, and employing evidence-based

strategies facilitating succession's effectiveness (Letonja & Duh, 2020; Porfírio et al., 2019; Rychta, 2022). In contrast, reactive successors perceive succession as the natural course of events for the company to stay within families' control or as the only option for the family to continue (Porfírio et al., 2020). In such instances, necessity might motivate successors to participate in the intergenerational transfer, which could hamper the initiative's long-term effects (Porfírio et al., 2019; Schell et al., 2020; Więcek-Janka et al., 2020; Wu et al., 2020). Nonetheless, despite divergent behavior from their proactive counterparts, reactive successors should still seek the legitimization of their new role to ensure business continuity (Achtenhagen et al., 2022; Ahrens et al., 2019; Porfírio et al., 2020). Thus, it remains essential to tailor the succession process to successors' motives behind the decision to become family business leaders.

Leadership and Succession Planning

Each ownership and management transfer challenges family firms' sustainability, revealing the vitality of effective leadership for company survival. Empirical research has shown that many family businesses underperform beyond the founder's generation (Vardaman & Montague-Mfuni, 2021). Therefore, effective family business leadership and leadership development have become important research areas in management scholarship as they facilitate firm sustainability across generations (Fries et al., 2021; Kandade et al., 2021). Studies represent scholarly investigations of the business and technical skills of successors, as well as the role of high-quality relationships in developing next-generation family members involved in organizational management

(Huynh, 2021). Leadership research equips practitioners with strategies for fostering family business survival and growth.

Leadership in family firms differs from that in other types of organizations.

Family business leaders often possess emotional links with the companies, exert significant influence on the organization and the stakeholders, and have long tenures (Fries et al., 2021; Kandade et al., 2021). Moreover, idiosyncratic leadership contexts sometimes drive family business owners and successors to adopt approaches such as paternalistic leadership behaviors (Baykal, 2019; Lau et al., 2019). Additionally, succession processes in family firms may result in sibling leadership teams' emergence, which requires openness to distributed management (Parada et al., 2019). Yet, studies on leadership styles and behaviors during family business succession planning remain limited and fragmented (Fries et al., 2021). Therefore, attempting to incorporate leadership in succession investigations should interest management scholars.

Studies on leadership styles enabling family business continuity across generations have uncovered approaches that support firm longevity. In particular, many scholars described transformational leadership as compatible with the demands of family firm CEOs (Giang & Dung, 2021). There is an extensive overlap between the approach's conceptual bases and leadership behaviors needed to conclude intergenerational ownership and management transfers in family firms (Fries et al., 2021). First, transformational leadership scholars depict charisma as a critical ability allowing individuals to articulate visions coherent with organizational values, which fosters employee performance and psychological well-being (Zhang et al., 2021). Therefore,

charismatic family firm leaders often exhibit steward leadership behaviors (Bormann et al., 2021). As succession planning requires devising a vision for change, charisma is a valuable ability for family business owners and successors (Fries et al., 2021). Second, intellectual stimulation underpinning transformational leadership bolsters succession planning by stimulating knowledge management, entrepreneurial mindsets, and safeguarding long-term employee motivation (Giang & Dung, 2021). Entrepreneurial leadership behavior establishes a foundation for implementing and cementing a successor's behavior (Tien et al., 2019), securing long-term sustainable organizational performance (Basly & Hammouda, 2020). Finally, inspirational motivation pertains to a leader's ability to promote enthusiasm, optimism, and cohesion among stakeholders, which provides psychological comfort during change associated with succession planning (Fries et al., 2021; Giang & Dung, 2021). Therefore, transformational leadership behaviors can be beneficial when conducting succession planning in family firms, making them a source of long-term competitiveness.

Diverse antecedents underpin the role of leadership in family business succession planning. Fries et al. (2021) identified business leaders' attributes, business complexity, and family complexity as critical factors shaping leadership in family firms. Business leaders' attributes pertain to their personality, gender, and family relationships affecting desirable behaviors' emergence (Kelleci et al., 2019; Martino et al., 2020). Depending on the phases of the succession process, family firm owners and successors may need to display steward, paternalistic, or transformational leadership behaviors (Fries et al., 2021; Giang & Dung, 2021; Kandade et al., 2021). Attributes determine how business leaders

can evoke such behaviors for organizational success (Martino et al., 2020). Business complexity pertains to family firms' board structure, organizational culture, and corporate governance practices (Fries et al., 2021). Centralization and unique values affect leadership during succession planning in family firms, influencing the interactions between key stakeholders during power transfers (Astrachan et al., 2020; Tien et al., 2019). Finally, family complexity refers to socioemotional wealth, family members' involvement in organizational management, and the degree of successor nurturing (Fries et al., 2021; Ng et al., 2021; Razzak & Jassem, 2019). Family complexity affects the use of transformational and participative leadership behaviors during the succession in process (Fries et al., 2021; Giang & Dung, 2021; Kandade et al., 2021). In combination, various antecedents impact leadership during family firm succession planning, determining the employment of specific behaviors for the process' effectiveness.

Family business leadership produces positive organizational outcomes, including during the succession process. While socioemotional wealth remains at the forefront of leadership research in family business contexts, firms must also generate adequate financial performance to ensure organizational development and longevity (Abiodun et al., 2019; Alonso-Dos-Santos & Llanos-Contreras, 2019). Effective leadership, especially transformational, supports firm longevity and succession completion, making it a desirable approach for family firm founders and managers conducting an intergenerational ownership transfer (Kamener et al., 2022). Furthermore, transformational leadership enables knowledge management in family firms (Pellegrini et al., 2020), vital for maintaining firm competitiveness when passing company ownership

and management across generations (Alonso et al., 2019). In contrast, autocratic and paternalistic leadership behaviors enhance family success by cementing members' control over the organization during succession planning (Fries et al., 2021). Yet, transformational leadership improves employee satisfaction during organizational change associated with succession in family businesses (Querbach et al., 2022). Transformational family business leaders use charisma and entrepreneurial orientation to formulate a compelling vision and rally employees around their agenda (Abiodun et al., 2019; Giang & Dung, 2021; Zhang et al., 2021). Hence, leadership is a critical success factor in family business succession planning.

Successor Mentoring for Family Business Continuity

Owning and managing a family business requires many sacrifices on the part of the founder, which is why family business owners often strive to pass their companies to family members. Keeping the business' ownership and leadership in the family is often the most desirable solution (Baù et al., 2020; Bika et al., 2019; Rychta, 2022). Hence, business owners perceive their children as natural heirs and continuators of family traditions and values (Kotlarz, 2019a; Tan et al., 2019; Young & Cater, 2019). Business owners adopt a unique approach to potential successors as they feel responsible for their education, development, and preparation for organizational leadership (Bertschi-Michel et al., 2021; Cater & Young, 2022; Woodfield & Husted, 2022). Therefore, the founder and family members who represent similar values and seek to maintain their family firm's continuity engage in mentoring activities to prepare the successors for challenges after the intergenerational leadership transfer.

The concept of mentoring comes from Greek mythology. In ancient times, a mentor was a person with the knowledge and skills needed to solve social problems (Stephen, 2019). Nowadays, the term mentor is used to describe a trusted teacher, master, guide, or advisor of the learners (Mullen & Klimaitis, 2021). A mentor should possess personality traits such as the ability to transfer practical knowledge, communicativeness, active listening, and professionalism (Haran & Jeyaraj, 2019; Rychta, 2022). Such personality traits support building authority and making mentors role models for learners (Eby & Robertson, 2020). From the organizational perspective, a mentor is an expert in a given field who transfers knowledge and facilitates a learner's personal development for the benefit of both the individual and the entire enterprise (Banerjee-Batist et al., 2019; Haran & Jeyaraj, 2019). Moreover, a mentor is a person who inspires learning and professional activity, helps in discovering and developing the mentee's potential, and effectively motivates learners to achieve occupational goals (Eby & Robertson, 2020; Mullen & Klimaitis, 2021). Hence, a mentor can contribute to personal and organizational growth across dimensions.

Mentoring in family business settings rests upon the acceptance and support the business founder provides to their successor to hone the emerging leader's skills and behaviors. Thus, mentoring facilitates the successor's professional development, which is vital when managing an organization and family wealth (Cater & Young, 2022; Tan et al., 2019). Nonetheless, trust-based relationships between family members are the foundation of a sustainable family business and are a prerequisite for using mentoring (Bika et al., 2019; de Groote & Bertschi-Michel, 2021; Hanson & Keplinger, 2021;

Rychta, 2022). Moreover, family business founders and successors should ensure that conflicts do not undermine intergenerational communication and relationships, as cooperation is crucial for transferring knowledge and developing the skills of emerging family firm leaders (Cater & Young, 2022; Woodfield & Husted, 2022). Therefore, some conditions need to be fulfilled for mentoring to provide value for the stakeholders and family firms.

Mentoring in family business settings is a mechanism for accelerating knowledge exchange between company founders and successors. In particular, succession planning creates a unique environment that facilitates communication and knowledge exchange (Kandade et al., 2021; Rychta, 2022). Moreover, mentoring during the succession process supports specifying learning goals (Bertschi-Michel et al., 2021; Bika et al., 2019; Young & Cater, 2019). Yet, mentoring for family firm sustainability can be ineffective due to poor communication between business founders and successors, a limited interest of successors in personal development, and delays in initiating the succession process (Rychta, 2022; Woodfield & Husted, 2022). On the contrary, bringing up a successor in a friendly and supportive atmosphere enabling the development of leadership skills and interests, creates a strategic advantage for family businesses, arousing the successor's interest in the organization (Bika et al., 2019; Cater & Young, 2022; Kandade et al., 2021). The business founder should also strive to be an authority figure and a role model for the successor (Hanson & Keplinger, 2021; Rychta, 2022). In that case, the latter is more likely to adopt positive workplace behaviors and become more interested in the intergenerational leadership transition (Bertschi-Michel et al., 2021; Woodfield &

Husted, 2022). Therefore, business founders should strategically use mentoring to maximize its benefits for their successors and the organization.

When skillfully used, mentoring during succession planning can be advantageous for family businesses and key stakeholders. Dhaenens et al. (2018) found that mentoring behaviors undertaken by a business owner towards the successor increase the involvement of the younger generation in the learning process and the adoption of new duties, which significantly elevates the successor's knowledge of family business management. Therefore, the business owner should openly share knowledge with the successor as they not only leave a valuable resource within the company and family but also establish opportunities for viewing existing knowledge in a novel manner (Rychta, 2022; Woodfield & Husted, 2022; Young & Cater, 2019). Moreover, Kandade et al. (2021) discovered that the relationships between generations and the resulting mentoring practices such as teaching, advising, explaining occupational tasks, active listening, exchanging views, and answering questions allow successors to comprehend the family business environment, management style, and organizational culture. Hence, successors acquire leadership skills through mentoring activities (Bertschi-Michel et al., 2021; Young & Cater, 2019). Yet, business founders, acting as mentors, can also derive value from the effort (Bika et al., 2019; Cater & Young, 2022). When actively participating in successor development, a business owner can experience satisfaction and contentment and develop a sense of security for the company, family, and future generations (Rychta, 2022; Tan et al., 2019). Hence, mentoring can be beneficial for many stakeholders involved in succession planning.

Effects of Succession Planning

Researchers have investigated the outcomes of succession planning in different types of organizations. In family firm contexts, stakeholders often seek to ensure business continuity, sustainability, and growth (Cater & Young, 2022; Wu et al., 2020). Therefore, most empirical studies on succession planning's outcomes in family businesses depict performance, continuity, and growth as key factors (LeCounte, 2022). In their research of Tanzanian family businesses, Kiwia et al. (2019) found that planned, founder-driven succession processes produce beneficial performance outcomes on individual and organizational levels. Similarly, Bokhari et al.'s (2020) research on Pakistani family-owned businesses revealed that succession planning predicts business sustainability and continuity. Additionally, Ali et al. (2019) found that succession planning enhances employee performance through career development and performance appraisal. Thus, multiple empirical works have supported the benefits of succession planning for organizations. Yet, considering other outcome factors could unveil a more comprehensive perspective on succession planning's value for family firms.

Beyond performance-oriented perspectives on succession planning's outcomes, business scholars have called for reviewing other factors underpinning the effectiveness of intergenerational leadership transfers. In a study of Japanese family enterprises, Chirapanda (2020) discovered that sustainability factors associated with successful succession processes include innovation, competitive advantage, leadership, team management, and establishing relationships with the local community. Moreover, Bell and Pham's (2020) investigation of Vietnamese family enterprises showed that

knowledge transfer from incumbents to successors affects post-succession business continuity and growth, making it a pivotal factor in determining the process' completion. Furthermore, as per Rothwell's (2015) seven-step succession planning model, talent management is a critical element of succession planning. Ensuring an alignment between human capital and organizations' operational and strategic objectives should be at the forefront of family business leaders' goals (Okoro & Iheanachor, 2020; Wang et al., 2019). Hence, empirical endeavors have revealed that succession planning positively influences various aspects of organizational life.

Family business researchers have also considered the effects of succession planning on the stakeholders involved in the process. From the incumbents' perspective, effective succession planning should result in comprehensive knowledge and skills transfer to the successor without compromising relationships and communication patterns between key stakeholders (Agbim, 2019; Lévesque & Subramanian, 2022; Ng et al., 2021). Moreover, sustained or enhanced performance following the intergenerational leadership transfer contributes to incumbents' perception of process effectiveness (Rychta, 2022). From the successors' viewpoint, perpetual professional development through formal and informal leadership and technical training should characterize successful intergenerational transitions (Martini & Dewi, 2020; Rumanko et al., 2021). Successors should feel prepared to use their newly acquired knowledge, skills, and abilities to lead family businesses through organizational change, instilling confidence in stakeholders about their visions' viability (Fries et al., 2021; Umans et al., 2021a). Therefore, follower approval and readiness to implement new family business leaders'

vision are factors underpinning succession planning's accomplishment. From the managing family's perspective, maintaining harmony among members, solidifying trust in the successor, and creating opportunities for members to employ their talents to organizational advantage mark the process' realization (Ferrari, 2019; Gagné et al., 2021). For non-family members, succession planning should culminate in chances for professional development, perceptions of psychological security, and an alignment with new leaders' vision of change (Arambhan & Seetharaman, 2022; Hiebl & Li, 2020; Lee et al., 2019b). Therefore, succession planning has far-reaching effects on many stakeholders, with possibilities for significant benefits.

Family Business Research in Poland

Polish management scholars have displayed extensive academic interest in family businesses, especially in the context of macroeconomic changes. Following the Polish political and economic transformation of 1989, many entrepreneurial individuals used the emergent opportunity to establish businesses and use the free market to their advantage (Majzel & Byczkowska, 2019). More than 3 decades later, there are close to 1.7 million family businesses in Poland which account for 40% of the country's GBP and supply 3 million jobs to the labor market (Biegajło, 2021). Hence, Doborzyński et al. (2019) indicated that 92% of Polish companies are family-owned. Yet, only 8.1% of Polish family businesses have potential successors inside the family (Biegajło, 2021). Therefore, succession planning has been at the forefront of Polish family firm research.

As family businesses significantly contribute to societal and economic development in Poland, many management scholars have investigated strategies for

enhancing such enterprises' development and minimizing barriers to company success. For instance, Worytkiewicz-Raś (2020) used primary data from the Polish Agency for Enterprise Development and the Family Business Institute to recognize that most family businesses in Poland have not yet faced the succession process and consequently lack the understanding of the succession planning process. Wysocka (2019) noted that firstgeneration business leaders own and manage 71% of Polish family firms, demonstrating how few family-owned businesses have undertaken succession initiatives. Thus, Polish family business leaders could benefit from educational initiatives focused on succession planning strategies for firm sustainability and long-term competitiveness (Domanowska, 2020; Rychta, 2022; Sabal, 2019). Furthermore, Polish empirical studies have demonstrated the paramount role of family values and their intergenerational transfers for family business survival (Kotlarz, 2019b). Drafting a so-called family constitution is a potential formalized strategy for solidifying family values and preparing a succession plan (Kotlarz, 2019a; Wysocka, 2019). Hence, extant literature reveals the enablers of succession planning in Polish family business settings.

Polish management researchers have also investigated barriers to effective intergenerational leadership transfers in family businesses. Doborzyński et al. (2019) identified numerous barriers to family business continuity. From the managing family's perspective, incumbents' nepotism and family involvement in organizational leadership could hamper the implementation of succession planning (Thier, 2020). From the incumbents' and successors' viewpoint, limited management abilities, reluctance to engage in professional development, and neglecting strategy in favor of operations have

been shown to undermine successful intergenerational transitions in Polish family firms (Rychta, 2022). Moreover, poor access to small business management training programs and the inability to recruit external specialists to support the succession process could compromise family business leaders' succession-focused efforts (Koładkiewicz, 2021; Kotlarz, 2019a). Finally, the external environment could be a barrier to succession planning in Polish family firms (Doborzyński et al., 2019). Complicated corporate, labor, and tax laws have prevented many family business leaders from engaging in formal succession planning (Kotlarz, 2019a; Prusiecka-Sobczak, 2020). Moreover, economic crises, relatively high inflation rates, compromised access to financial services, and rising labor costs have negatively affected Polish family firms and their succession prospects (Doborzyński et al., 2019). Therefore, various dimensions of barriers could weaken Polish family business leaders' willingness and ability to pursue succession planning.

Transition

In this study, I explored succession planning strategies used by Polish family business leaders to conduct leadership transition to the next generation. In Section 1, I laid the foundation for the study by demonstrating the role of family businesses in the global economy, the intricacies of the succession planning process, and its challenges for business survival and growth. That supported formulating the study's problem and purpose. Moreover, Section 1 included the introduction of Rothwell's (2015) succession planning model as the conceptual framework serving as the lens for viewing the research topic. Furthermore, Section 1 entailed the research question supporting the response to the problem. Contributions to business practice and implications for positive social

change were also considered. Finally, an exhaustive literature review of scholarly and professional literature allowed for positioning the study in a broader context and guiding prospective empirical inquiry.

In Section 2, I consider my role as an independent scholar contributing to applied business research. I discuss research methods and design, population and sampling, and practices for upholding the study's ethical standards. Moreover, the criteria for recruiting study participants are described in Section 2. The data collection and analysis processes are also presented. Upon completion, I define the procedures for improving the reliability and validity of the study.

In Section 3, I scrutinize the gathered qualitative data and report my study findings. I also discuss my results in the context of extant scholarly and professional literature and the conceptual framework. This section also contains the findings' influence on professional practice, especially family business management, and implications for positive social change. Finally, I formulate recommendations for further research on succession planning in family businesses to advance subject matter knowledge and alleviate challenges faced by business practitioners.

Section 2: The Project

In Section 1, I introduced the research problem of succession planning in Polish family businesses and laid a theoretically- and empirically-motivated foundation for the scholarly project. In Section 2, I evaluate my role as a qualitative researcher, explain the criteria I used for participant selection, consider the research method and design, and describe the population and sampling. Afterward, I discuss the data collection instrument and technique, the data organization technique, the data analysis, as well as the reliability and validity strategies employed in the study. Thus, in Section 2, I describe how I designed and implemented the study to produce valuable results, contribute to applied business research and professional practice, and support positive social change.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore succession planning strategies Polish family business leaders use for leadership transition to the next generation.

Role of the Researcher

Researchers perform a critical role in qualitative studies. Qualitative scholars serve as the primary data collection instruments (Yin, 2018). Their responsibilities include personally collaborating with the participants through interviews, maintaining an alignment between the study's components, gathering data, conducting data analyses to recognize patterns and themes, and demonstrating findings supported by extant literature (Busetto et al., 2020; Saunders et al., 2019). Moreover, qualitative researchers should concentrate on presenting findings in an accessible manner, acknowledging and

minimizing bias, reducing conflicts of interest, adhering to rules underpinning scholarly endeavors, and acting ethically toward individuals engaged in the study process (Hair et al., 2019; McGrath et al., 2019; Stenfors et al., 2020). Qualitative researchers should also display the study results as valid and reliable for other scholars and potential readers (Hayashi et al., 2019; Lester et al., 2020). Therefore, qualitative scholars assume diverse roles while conducting research contributing to academia and professional practice.

As a doctoral-level business researcher and practitioner, I have advanced my knowledge of family businesses through academic endeavors and career choices. My initial attempt to comprehend succession processes occurred at the undergraduate level when I completed a dissertation on Silesian family businesses. Moreover, I have spent my entire professional career serving as a third-generation family business leader in Poland. Therefore, I have had the opportunity to observe strategic changes in family businesses from scholarly and practitioner perspectives, which underpins the scholar-practitioner model's emphasis on transferable knowledge as described by Nguyen et al. (2019). Yet, to minimize potential conflicts of interest and biases, I participated in various events for Polish family firms to network with business leaders with whom I have limited or no professional or personal relationships. Therefore, despite academic-and work-related links to the research topic and area, I strived to minimize non-research relationships with the participants to bolster the study's potential value.

Researchers should remain vigilant of personal biases undermining the study results. As Fusch et al. (2018) noted, qualitative scholars bring their bias to the research and share it with others while attempting to mitigate its influence on the interpretations of

the participants' experiences, perspectives, and values. I implemented several practices to reduce personal biases' effect on data collection and analysis. As per Yin's (2018) recommendation, I screened candidates before the study to ensure their preparedness to provide valuable contributions to the research topic. Nevertheless, before conducting the interviews, I only established that the participants served as family business leaders who successfully implemented succession planning to complete an intergenerational ownership and management transfer at their organizations. While more information about the participants was available online, I purposefully avoided the resources until conducting data analysis to remain as neutral as possible.

Moreover, I planned to collect data from multiple sources to further minimize biases hampering the research process. I conducted data triangulation to interpret the participants' implicit and explicit meanings. Data triangulation includes using numerous external data collection methods on the same occurrences to improve several external analysis methods (Farquhar et al., 2020; Natow, 2020). Thus, data triangulation improves qualitative studies' validity, reliability, and legitimation (Moon, 2019). Moreover, triangulation supports data saturation (Fusch et al., 2018). Additionally, I used interview protocols and member checking to further reduce personal biases' impact on the research process. Interview protocols allow qualitative researchers to align the interview and research questions, facilitate an inquiry-driven conversation with the participants, collect feedback on interview protocols, and guide corrective actions (Jiménez & Orozco, 2021; Saddour, 2020). Member checking involves providing the study participants with interview transcripts and the researcher's interpretations to seek their verification and

bolster accuracy (FitzPatrick, 2019; Hamilton, 2020). In combination, member checking, data triangulation, and the interview protocol supported minimizing personal biases' effect on the qualitative inquiry process and adhering to research standards.

In addition to mitigating personal biases, scholars should address ethical concerns associated with the research process. Hence, I ensured that my study adhered to the guidelines found in the Belmont Report. The National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research published the Belmont Report in 1976 to formulate fundamental ethical principles and guidelines addressing ethical problems associated with pursuing studies with human subjects (Nagai et al., 2022). The Belmont Report describes researchers' respect toward the participants as critical (Tolchin et al., 2020; White, 2020). Thus, subjects may withdraw from the research process at any stage (Bazzano et al., 2021). My interview protocol contained explicit information for the participants about their freedom to end involvement in the interview at any time. Moreover, the Belmont Report underscored that scholarly activities should not harm the participants (Grady, 2019). Hence, the interview protocol safeguarded the participants' identity and physical and psychological well-being. The Belmont Report also accentuated the need to treat human subjects fairly (Tolchin et al., 2020; White, 2020). Thus, the interview protocol included identical interview questions for all the participants to create a maximally stable data collection environment and prevent divergent and possibly unfair treatment of the interviewees. Therefore, the Belmont Report's underpinnings affected the interview protocol's development, putting ethical concerns centerstage.

Participants

Researchers should carefully search for potential participants who can extensively contribute to studies. Eligibility criteria allow researchers to undertake effective participant selection, collect useful data, and improve the study findings' trustworthiness and value for other scholars (Capili, 2021; Saunders et al., 2019). Furthermore, eligibility criteria enable reducing potential bias compromising the results and recommendations for practitioners (Ngulube, 2021). I used the following criteria when recruiting participants for my doctoral study on succession planning strategies in Polish family firms: (a) be a business owner and leader of a family business per Roffia et al.'s (2021) conceptualization, (b) operate a business in the Republic of Poland, (c) possess knowledge of succession planning, and (d) have successfully devised and implemented succession planning in their organization to conduct an intergenerational leadership transfer. Hence, the eligibility criteria were closely aligned with the research question and facilitated participant search for the study.

Upon devising eligibility criteria, I focused on finding potential participants for the study. I identified potential participants during networking at events for Polish family businesses organized by Forbes and the Family Business Institute. I also used social media (i.e., Facebook and LinkedIn) to find potential participants for the study. Upon identifying a family firm, I emailed the business owner using the official contact information to verify if they fulfilled the eligibility criteria and would declare interest in engaging in research. To promote participation, I underscored the advantages of the study for business practitioners associated with comprehending succession planning in Polish

family firms. I subsequently contacted potential participants after 5 working days to verify their interest in participating in the study and address any questions associated with the research process. I then strived to develop a working relationship with the participants by providing exhaustive details on the study and emphasizing my commitment to ethical research using the informed consent form. Developing a working relationship with the participants builds trust and facilitates effective communication (Busetto et al., 2020; Hair et al., 2019; Pessoa et al., 2019). I used the informed consent form, the interview protocol, and digital communication channels. The strategies enabled effective and ethical collaboration on the study.

Furthermore, expressing gratitude for engaging in the study is essential for establishing a working relationship with the participants. As DeJonckheere and Vaughn (2019) noted, a working relationship with the participants improves the richness and trustworthiness of the scholarly output. After receiving the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval for participant recruitment, I prioritized protecting the participants' identity and privacy. Scholars' recognition of ethical behaviors supports honesty and trust levels among individuals engaged in the research process (Bannier et al., 2021; Moriña, 2021; Pessoa et al., 2019). Such factors foster mutual respect, prepare the participants for the research process, and improve confidence in the study results.

Research Method and Design

Scholars investigating applied business problems should make scrupulous research methods and design decisions to generate valuable results. Strijker et al. (2020) indicated that researchers select from qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods to advance their understanding of phenomena. I employed the qualitative approach for this study. Moreover, I used the multiple case study design to explore the succession planning strategies used by Polish family business leaders to conduct effective intergenerational leadership transfers. I discuss the rationale for my research method and design choices below.

Research Method

Scholars should be guided by their individual research philosophies when selecting a suitable research method. Therefore, I decided to pursue a qualitative study due to my fundamental belief in interpretivism. Interpretivists infer that access to reality is attainable through social constructions such as consciousness, language, shared meanings, and instruments (Elliott & Timulak, 2021; Hackley, 2019). Hence, some scholars have positioned interpretivist philosophy in opposition to positivism in the social sciences (Irshaidat, 2019). Consequently, interpretivist scholars have advocated using qualitative research to appreciate individual differences and explore meanings (Hair et al., 2019). Therefore, my qualitative study on succession planning strategies in Polish family businesses rested upon participant engagement to develop a richer understanding of the phenomenon and lead to meaningful conclusions advancing management research and practice. As per Tomaszewski et al.'s (2020) indication, I employed semistructured

interviews, archival documentation, and observations to develop a rich comprehension of the participants' lived experiences associated with succession planning in family business settings. Moreover, Yin (2018) noted that qualitative researchers use questioning techniques to capture a phenomenon's what, how, and why. Therefore, the qualitative approach facilitated the understanding of succession planning in Polish family firms comprehensively.

Before settling on the qualitative approach, I assessed its appropriateness against other possible research methods. I considered the qualitative method most appropriate, as it enables the scholar to exhaustively explore the understandings, perceptions, and idiosyncrasies underpinning a specific research problem (Saunders et al., 2019; Tomaszewski et al., 2020). Moreover, the qualitative method involves using open-ended questions for data collection (Bleiker et al., 2019), which facilitates gathering multifaceted information on succession planning in family businesses. In contrast, the quantitative method was unsuitable for the study, as Saunders et al. (2019) emphasized its usefulness when examining the correlations between independent and dependent variables. Moreover, I did not intend to test hypotheses or investigate cause and effect variables, which according to Park et al. (2020) are the foundational elements of quantitative inquiry. Furthermore, the mixed methods approach was inadequate for the study, as it involves using aspects of qualitative and quantitative approaches to develop an understanding of a research problem unattainable with a single method (Kinnebrew et al., 2021; Saunders et al., 2019). Yet, the study involved exploring succession planning strategies in Polish family businesses without testing hypotheses or examining

correlations between variables. Therefore, the qualitative method was most suitable for the study.

Research Design

Selecting a research design equips scholars with methods and techniques to conduct a study. Qualitative scholars often adopt inductive research approaches to shift from focused observations about unique phenomena to holistic generalizations and theories (Lanka et al., 2021). Moreover, qualitative scholars can choose from several research designs, including narrative, ethnographic, phenomenological, and case studies (Renjith et al., 2021; Saunders et al., 2019; Tomaszewski et al., 2020). I chose the multiple case study research design for this qualitative research on succession planning strategies in Polish family businesses. Yin (2018) defined a case study as an empirical method for comprehensively exploring an existing phenomenon in its real-world setting, mainly when the boundaries between the phenomenon and the circumstances may not be apparent. My decision to pursue a multiple case study was motivated by the research design's applicability to the study and its potentially beneficial role in devising valuable results. Case studies enable qualitative scholars to investigate technically varied contexts comprising numerous variables of interest, build upon extant theoretical foundations when developing and conducting a study, and use multiple sources of evidence that later need to converge in a triangulating manner (Fathi et al., 2020; Reisoğlu & Çebi, 2020). Therefore, the multiple case study design was most suitable for exploring succession planning in Polish family business contexts.

Beyond selecting the case study research design, scholars should decide whether to employ single or multiple case studies to advance a phenomenon's understanding. Yin (2018) suggested that such decisions should be context-driven. In multiple case studies, the scholar explores several cases to comprehend the discrepancies and similarities between them (Hancock et al., 2021; Rashid et al., 2019). The multiple case study research design also allows scholars to analyze data within each situation and across situations (Fàbregues & Fetters, 2019). Therefore, multiple case studies contribute to the literature by depicting contrasts and similarities among cases (Goodrick, 2020; Hancock et al., 2021). Moreover, multiple case studies tend to generate more reliable findings by grounding results on more diversified evidence (Saunders et al., 2019). Thus, I decided to employ the multiple case study research design to produce robust and valuable data and comprehend how different family businesses in Poland approach succession planning for organizational sustainability and growth.

Yet, scholars should also evaluate why alternative research designs are inappropriate for specific academic endeavors. Ethnographic research designs involve investigating collective behavioral patterns, beliefs, and assumptions of cultural groups (Asenahabi, 2019; Beckett & Kobayashi, 2020). Thus, the ethnographic design was not suitable for the study as it focused on business leaders' succession planning strategies rather than comprehending how people make sense of social interactions. In contrast, phenomenological designs are used to understand and depict the universal essence of phenomena (Stilwell & Harman, 2021). Hence, as the study's goal was not to understand how individuals make sense of experiences but to uncover succession planning strategies,

I did not select the phenomenological design. Researchers use narrative designs to investigate individual or group life stories (Asenahabi, 2019). The study did not involve collecting accounts of how individuals describe and interpret experiences. Thus, I did not select the narrative research design. In sum, narrative, ethnographic, and phenomenological designs were not suited for the study as they enable understanding people's lived experiences, life stories, or behavioral patterns instead of strategies employed by organizational leaders to plan effective ownership and management succession in family business settings. Therefore, I decided on the multiple case study design due to its alignment with my research goals.

Furthermore, I chose to pursue a multiple case study to enable data saturation. Sebele-Mpofu (2021) noted that many novice scholars fail to reach data saturation, negatively influencing research quality and content validity. While researchers do not agree on a universal definition of data saturation, many agree that the lack of new data, themes, coding, and the ability to replicate the study indicate its attainment (Sebele-Mpofu, 2020). To reach data saturation, I implemented several strategies proposed by Fusch and Ness (2015). First, I maximized the number of interviews to collect as much data as possible. Second, I conducted semistructured interviews to ensure that the participants responded to many identical questions. Third, I searched for diverse participants to prevent data overshadowing. Finally, I avoided approaching gatekeepers to retain access to key informants at research sites. Moreover, I conducted member checking, which per Saunders et al. (2019), enhances data accuracy through participants' comments on the interview transcripts and researcher interpretations. Therefore, the

strategies enabled data saturation when exploring succession planning strategies in Polish family firms.

Population and Sampling

To boost the reliability and validity of a qualitative study, researchers should carefully consider the population in which the phenomenon occurs and derive an adequate sample from that population. As investigating the research problem in the entire population is often practically impossible, scholars attempt to select a representative sample (Pandey & Pandey, 2021). Recruiting a representative sample from all possible cases allows researchers to reduce the resources and time needed to undertake a study (Saunders et al., 2019). As Kabir et al. (2021) indicated, choosing an appropriate sampling method is essential for reaching data saturation and formulating meaningful results. Thus, researchers should underscore the role of population and sampling in their studies.

Before selecting the sampling method for this study, I evaluated the criteria for recruiting the participants. The subjects needed to fulfill specific eligibility criteria to qualify for participation. I employed the following eligibility criteria when selecting participants for the study on succession planning strategies in Polish family firms: (a) be a business owner and leader of a family business per Roffia et al.'s (2021) conceptualization, (b) operate a business in the Republic of Poland, (c) possess knowledge of succession planning, and (d) have successfully devised and implemented succession planning in their organization to conduct an intergenerational leadership transfer. As only 29% of Poland's 1.7 million family businesses are not owned and

managed by the first generation (Biegajło, 2021; Wysocka, 2019), the whole population of family business owners who experienced the succession process should not exceed 500,000 individuals. Nevertheless, Worytkiewicz-Raś (2020) noted that many family business leaders do not plan the succession process, which should further reduce the population of individuals satisfying the eligibility criteria to less than 250,000 nationwide. Nonetheless, researching all individuals in the population remained impossible for practical reasons.

I used the purposive sampling method when approaching possible participants from the population meeting the eligibility criteria. Scholars undertaking purposive sampling, a non-random method, deliberately and purposefully choose the sample they deem most useful in addressing the research question (Saunders et al., 2019; Staller, 2021). The selection process requires evaluating foundational variables or qualities of possible participants that influence their input to the study (Farrugia, 2019; Hennink et al., 2020). Such variables could be basic demographics such as age, gender, or socioeconomic status but could entail more sophisticated elements such as specific attitudes or beliefs (Farrugia, 2019). Purposive sampling enables researchers to approach potential participants who are particularly informative, select cases in specialized populations, and recognize specific types of information-rich cases for in-depth investigation (Campbell et al., 2020; Mweshi & Sakyi, 2020; Staller, 2021). Moreover, purposive sampling could be adequate when the researcher possesses limited resources (Bakkalbasioglu, 2020; Saunders et al., 2019). Therefore, I used purposive sampling in my study on succession planning strategies in Polish family businesses to recruit

participants from a specialized population of organizational leaders with the knowledge and experience of succession planning. I used my professional knowledge of family businesses in Poland to select possible cases with significant contributions to family entrepreneurship practice across generations. Afterward, upon receiving the participants' informed consent to engage in the research process, I rented a conference room at a local hotel where I conducted interviews with family business leaders.

For this multiple case study on succession planning strategies in Polish family firms, I used purposive sampling to reach a sample of three family business leaders from three distinct Polish family firms who successfully designed and implemented succession plans to undertake an intergenerational leadership transfer. I chose to focus on three participants for academic and practical reasons. As Yin (2018) noted, qualitative scholars should explore two or more cases when conducting multiple case study research to collect rich data, reach data saturation, and formulate meaningful results. Nonetheless, Schoch (2019) argued that qualitative researchers should not attempt to investigate more than three to four distinct cases to ensure gaining an in-depth understanding of the phenomenon and exploring rich data. Thus, I decided to select three cases to maximize the depth rather than breadth of data and develop a nuanced understanding of the phenomenon.

The sampling method also has implications for data saturation. Despite being a non-random method, purposive sampling requires using the researchers' expertise to select participants with a unique and extensive understanding of the phenomenon (Mweshi & Sakyi, 2020; Saunders et al., 2019). Therefore, rich data collected from the

participants could bolster data saturation (Aguboshim, 2021). Moreover, conducting multiple case studies allows researchers to draw from various data sources (Schoch, 2019). I used data collected during the interviews with family business leaders, researcher notes, and organizational documents to explore the phenomenon. In qualitative studies, triangulation should enable data saturation (Aguboshim, 2021; Fusch et al., 2018). Moreover, I engaged in member checking to ensure that my interpretations of the participants' interview responses aligned with their thought processes and intentions. Qualitative scholars have used member checking to enhance data saturation (Busetto et al., 2020). Thus, I relied on diverse strategies to support data saturation in my qualitative study on succession planning strategies in Polish family businesses.

Ethical Research

Scholars are morally obligated to behave ethically toward all study participants across all stages of the research process. As ethical challenges emerge during each phase of a scholarly endeavor, it is the researchers' responsibility to appropriately and to acceptably align with broader social norms of behavior and uphold professional values (Anabo et al., 2019; Saunders et al., 2019). Thus, before initiating the data collection process, I applied for the Walden University IRB's approval to conduct the study and the associated approval number. My Walden University IRB approval number was 02-07-23-1029342. Institutional review boards, also known as research ethics boards, perform a foundational role in scholarly projects by protecting study participants, using societal resources with equity and fairness, and supporting researchers in the ethical conduct of their studies (Cumyn et al., 2019; Quickfall, 2022). Hence, it was paramount to design a

coherent study and obtain the Walden University IRB's approval before interacting with the participants for research purposes.

Studies might pose various risks to the participants depending on the scientific discipline. Nonetheless, research in the social and behavioral sciences often does not pose risks to the participants beyond those experienced in daily life (Durdella, 2022). However, the Belmont Report underscores the researcher's ethical obligation to reveal any possible risks and associated benefits before seeking the participants' approval to engage in the scholarly endeavor (Nagai et al., 2022; Pritchard, 2021). Thus, I used the informed consent process to notify the potential participants comprehensively about the study's purpose and features. Anabo et al. (2019) emphasized that, as per the *Belmont Report*, the participants should be well-advised about the scholarly project they are considering engaging in to possess sufficient details to make an informed decision. Thus, disclosing exhaustive details about the study to the possible participants was pivotal in the research process.

The significance of the informed consent process is far-reaching. Hence, I asked the participants to accept the informed consent form to receive their voluntary approval to participate in the study. The informed consent process enables the participants to understand their rights during the scholarly endeavor, particularly regarding voluntary participation and withdrawal at any stage (Josephson & Smale, 2021; Yusof et al., 2022). I provided the participants with the informed consent form, which contained information about their right to withdraw from the study without any penalties. I notified the participants that they could communicate their withdrawal decision verbally or in writing.

Moreover, I informed the participants through the informed consent form about safely storing study data for at least 5 years before completely destroying it to protect confidentiality. Nosek et al. (2022) emphasized the importance of adequate data storage to protect the participants, especially in contemporary digital environments. Therefore, protecting the participants underpinned the research process.

Furthermore, I protected the names of the individuals and organizations participating in the study. Throughout the research process, I did not disclose the names of the individuals and organizations engaging in this scholarly endeavor, and I did not use them in the document. I used pseudonyms in lieu of the participants' and organizations' names. Surmiak (2020) noted that researchers prioritize participants' confidentiality to prevent their exposure to harm associated with the research process. Moreover, I decided not to offer any incentives for the participants to partake in the study. Instead, I only stressed the value of their contributions to advancing applied business research and enhancing professional practice. I also shared the study findings with the participants. While Abdelazeem et al. (2022) suggested that incentives might improve the consent rate and reduce recruitment failure, I decided to refrain from them to foster transparency in the research process. Thus, I reviewed the informed consent form with each participant and responded to any questions related to participation and the research process. Upon attaining the participants' understanding of their role in the study, I asked them to respond to the email containing the informed consent form with the phrase "I consent." I ensured an alignment with ethical and professional standards throughout data collection, analysis, and findings dissemination.

Data Collection Instruments

I was the primary data collection instrument in this study on succession planning strategies in Polish family businesses. In qualitative investigations, the researcher acts as the primary data collection instrument or a medium through which the study is conducted (McGrath et al., 2019; Roberts, 2020). Qualitative scholars perform an essential function in generating and interpreting data and presenting findings (Yoon & Uliassi, 2022). Therefore, qualitative researchers should be reflexive, conscious, and aware of how they might affect the scholarly process (McGrath et al., 2019). Rather than performing a passive role, qualitative researchers actively engage in the process and respond to the study participants (Roberts, 2020). Hence, qualitative researchers need to mobilize their competencies, abilities, and experiences to avoid biasing data and develop an in-depth understanding of the phenomenon under scrutiny (McGrath et al., 2019; Yoon & Uliassi, 2022). Thus, I have refined my qualitative research skills and abilities to contribute to the research process virtuously.

Furthermore, I conducted in-person semistructured interviews, reviewed organizational documents, and took extensive researcher notes to gather data for the study. I used the semistructured interviews to collect rich qualitative data from Polish family business leaders about succession planning strategies employed to conduct successful intergenerational leadership transfers. Semistructured interviews are undertaken conversationally and contain closed- and open-ended questions, often supplemented by follow-up questions (Bearman, 2019; DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). Thus, the interview revolves around the topics on the agenda instead of adhering

exclusively to the standardized questions to uncover unexpected aspects of the research problem (Ruslin et al., 2022). As Bearman (2019) suggested, effective semistructured interviews can generate rich and thick descriptions of phenomena. In the process of preparing for data collection, I had developed the interview protocol (Appendix) and the interview questions to guide the interview, ensured coherence with ethical and professional standards, and provided an appropriate environment for family business leaders to discuss their succession planning strategies. DeJonckheere and Vaughn (2019) noted that adequate preparation for semistructured interviews supports trust and rapport development between interviewers and interviewees. Moreover, I reviewed organizational documents and took extensive researcher notes to corroborate data collected through interviews with family business leaders. Qualitative researchers seek corroboration to minimize faulty observations, biased analysis, and inaccurate conclusions (Gadwal, 2022). Therefore, I conducted in-person semistructured interviews with Polish family business leaders, reviewed organizational documents, and took extensive researcher notes during the data collection process.

Qualitative researchers should implement strategies to enhance the reliability and validity of the data collection process. In this study, I used the interview protocol, data triangulation, member checking, and practice interviews with fellow doctoral researchers to bolster the data collection process quality. Yeong et al. (2018) indicated that well-developed interview protocols improve the data collection process' reliability and validity by allowing scholars to gather data comprehensively, consistently, and systematically. Furthermore, data triangulation involves collecting data from diverse sources to

interrogate various ways of comprehending a phenomenon, create a richer perspective on the research problem, and compensate for weaknesses in study designs (Vivek & Nanthagopan, 2021). Furthermore, many scholars noted that qualitative researchers should consider using member checking to increase the investigations' trustworthiness by verifying if the collected data reflects the participants' perspectives on a phenomenon (Motulsky, 2021). Additionally, practice interviews allow researchers to refine the data collection instruments, emphasizing participant understanding and the recording process (Saunders et al., 2019). For this study, I conducted practice interviews with fellow doctoral researchers to enhance the data collection process before its initiation. Thus, I used several evidence-based strategies to improve the data collection process' reliability and validity.

Data Collection Technique

Semistructured interviews were the primary data collection technique in this study on succession planning strategies in Polish family businesses. DeJonckheere and Vaughn (2019) indicated that a significant advantage of semistructured interviews is that they allow qualitative researchers to gather insights from key informants who possess an extensive understanding of the phenomenon under scrutiny. Moreover, semistructured interviews can elicit narratives that can be highly meaningful, as they incline the interviewees to respond to questions in a storytelling manner (Mahat-Shamir et al., 2021). Nonetheless, semistructured interviews have some disadvantages as a data collection technique. Semistructured interviews might be time-consuming for novice researchers and might not directly lead to themes and outcomes (Andrew et al., 2020). Thus, novice

researchers should develop skills related to undertaking semistructured interviews to benefit from this data collection technique.

Using semistructured interviews to collect qualitative data from Polish family business leaders necessitated conscious planning before, during, and after the interview. After receiving Walden University's IRB approval, I undertook practice interviews with fellow doctoral researchers to refine the data collection process and ensure that the study participants could provide meaningful responses to the interview questions. Saunders et al. (2019) noted that practice interviews allow researchers to conduct a preliminary assessment of the questions' validity and the potential reliability of the data. Initially, I used purposive sampling to select and recruit participants who met the eligibility criteria. As Bakkalbasioglu (2020) indicated, purposive sampling allows researchers to reach potential participants who can provide meaningful and extensive contributions to specific research topics. Thus, recruiting Polish family business leaders with extensive professional experience in succession planning allowed the collection of rich data. I informed potential participants about their voluntary engagement and the possibility of withdrawing from the research process at any stage without consequences. I also emphasized the value of the participant's contributions to family business research and practice and indicated not using any incentives. Conscientious and mindful researchers should communicate clearly with study participants to provide extensive information about the research process, build rapport and trust, and improve interview effectiveness (Eeckhout et al., 2022; Xu et al., 2020). After receiving a written response about participation to the informed consent form, I invited the participants to the interview that took place in a rented conference room at a hotel near the business leaders' offices. I asked the business leaders to dedicate approximately an hour to the interview process. The steps served as preparation for the interview.

I used the interview protocol (Appendix) to guide the interviews with Polish family business leaders. Roberts (2020) argued that interview protocols are valuable for novice researchers as they support aligning investigations' key components, ensuring adherence to ethical standards, and minimizing mistakes' impact on the quality of collected data. Initially, I thanked the participants for partaking in my study. I also reminded them about their voluntary participation and the ability to withdraw from the study at any time. I also addressed their questions and briefly introduced the research question. Then, I asked the participants for their permission to record the interviews. Afterward, I began asking the interview questions. I also asked follow-up questions when the interviewee provided a response that further enhanced the understanding of succession planning strategies in Polish family firms. Follow-up questions enrich semistructured interviews by allowing researchers to consider and understand potentially novel aspects of the phenomenon under scrutiny while ensuring that the questions are well understood by the participants (McGrath et al., 2019). While interviewing the participants, I watched for their body language, remained mindful of the need to gather rich data, took notes, and attempted to minimize personal biases' effect on the data collection process. Gunawan et al. (2022) indicated that non-verbal aspects of the interview process could have significant implications for the subsequent data analysis. Hence, immersing oneself in the interview supports gathering rich data.

Furthermore, upon collecting responses to all interview questions, I thanked the participants for their time, responded to any emergent questions, and asked to schedule a follow-up session to conduct member checking. As Candela (2019) suggested, member checking creates a reflective opportunity for the participants, enabling qualitative scholars to attain an accurate depiction of participant voices by allowing participants to verify the accuracy and interpretations of data. Moreover, I used the follow-up meeting with the participants as a chance to conduct data triangulation. During the follow-up meetings, I viewed and scanned organizational documents related to succession planning. The participants presented documents containing information about family business management and succession planning that they previously shared with a Polish business school delivering postgraduate family business programs. The documents were used to develop case studies for postgraduate students at the business school. The documents included information about processes and milestones related to succession planning, as well as some educational resources. The participants also shared transcripts of the lectures they delivered for educational purposes. Beyond organizational documents, I accessed publically available data published by the Polish Ministry of Justice containing financial details. Accessing additional data during follow-up meetings might be more appropriate due to the relationship between the researcher and study participants (Roulston, 2021). Thus, the follow-up meetings enabled member checking and data triangulation.

Data Organization Technique

Data organization is a critical phase of the qualitative research process. Lester et al. (2020) stressed that qualitative studies generate considerable data output, which necessitates preparing and organizing data for subsequent analysis. Furthermore, diligent data collection, organization, storage, and analysis underpins ethical and professional standards in research (Saunders et al., 2019; Temple, 2019). I collected primary data for this study through in-person semistructured interviews with Polish family business leaders with knowledge and experience related to succession planning for organizational survival and continuity. Furthermore, I reviewed organizational documents and took extensive researcher notes pertaining to succession processes in participating companies. Therefore, I took great care to manage data in line with the best scholarly practices.

In-person semistructured interviews were the primary data sources in this study on succession planning strategies in Polish family businesses. After receiving the participants' permission, I recorded each interview on a password-protected audio device. Subsequently, I manually transcribed the interviews using Microsoft Office Word. Moreover, upon receiving the participants' permission, I scanned organizational documents on succession planning for further exploration. Additionally, I took extensive researcher notes throughout the entire investigation. To organize the data, I created a database containing all files related to this research study on a password-protected computer. Given the diverse data sources, as per Yin's (2018) suggestion, I prepared a master list of all audio files and documents to manage research data adequately. Furthermore, I developed a research journal that included comprehensive information

about each source, including significant findings, comments, and storage location. Bassot (2021) argued that research journals enable novice researchers to externalize thoughts, keep track of the research process, provide records for future revisits, remain accountable, and question assumptions. Therefore, I employed master lists and research logs to organize primary and secondary data collected for research purposes.

Furthermore, scholars should also organize data for security reasons. Researchers should manage data consciously to protect the study participants from harm and safeguard their confidentiality (Gray, 2021; Lobe et al., 2020). I removed all personal identifiers from the data to protect the study participants' confidentiality. Additionally, I stored all data on a password-protected computer that only I can access. Any hard copies of data will be stored in a password-protected and fireproof vault. I will treat all data as confidential and store it for 5 years. Afterward, I will destroy all data by permanently deleting all data stored on the computer, shredding hard copies of data, and deleting all emails exchanged with the study participants. Hence, the chosen data organization techniques included a significant participant safety component.

Data Analysis

I used methodological triangulation to analyze the collected data. Triangulation involves employing several data sources or methods to understand a phenomenon comprehensively (Dzwigol, 2020; Noble & Heale, 2019). Moreover, qualitative researchers employ triangulation as a research strategy to verify validity by converging information from various sources (Koneru et al., 2020; Purwandari et al., 2022). In his seminal work, Denzin (1978) identified four types of triangulation: (a) methodological

triangulation, (b) investigator triangulation, (c) theory triangulation, and (d) data triangulation. As Fusch et al. (2018) noted, data triangulation allows qualitative researchers to improve social research's objectivity, truth, and validity. I employed methodological triangulation in this study, which per Nwanna-Nzewunwa et al. (2019), entails using multiple data collection methods about the same phenomenon. Hence, I analyzed data from semistructured interviews with member checking follow-up interviews, organizational documents presented by business leaders during follow-up interviews, and researcher notes taken throughout the process. As Aguboshim (2021) noted, methodological triangulation is an effective strategy for achieving data saturation in qualitative investigations, alongside member checking. Thus, methodological triangulation, supplemented by member checking, was most appropriate for the chosen research design.

Qualitative researchers can benefit from using frameworks for data analysis. I decided to rely on Yin's (2018) five-step approach to ensure a logical and sequential data analysis process. Yin's five phases for analyzing data include: (a) compiling data, (b) disassembling data, (c) reassembling data into themes, (d) interpreting the data, and (e) concluding the data. Thus, I began the data analysis process by compiling the data. I manually transcribed the interviews in Microsoft Office Word. Afterward, I shared the interview transcripts with my preliminary interpretations with the participants for member checking purposes. During follow-up meetings, I refined the transcripts and interpretations per the participants' guidance and scanned organizational documents.

Then, I created a digital database on a password-protected computer that included

interview transcripts after member checking, organizational documents, and researcher notes. I simultaneously prepared a master list containing all files and began developing a research journal comprising information and evolving interpretations of each file. I used Microsoft Office Excel to create the master list and the research journal. I then uploaded the files into NVivo. The last activity concluded the compiling phase.

The subsequent phase of the data analysis process involved disassembling the data. Castleberry and Nolen (2018) indicated that disassembling the data requires separating the data and establishing meaningful groupings through coding. Busetto et al. (2020) described coding as a process whereby researchers make raw data sortable. Hence, I assessed and took apart the data through manual coding. I devised initial codes by evaluating the data and attaching labels to the data, while remaining mindful of subject matter literature and the conceptual framework. Thematic coding is planned coherently with amassed data and pertains to the phenomenon under scrutiny and the framework for inquiry (Peel, 2020). Once I finished determining and applying the codes manually, I used NVivo to aid the process. Saunders et al. (2019) asserted that computer assisted qualitative data analysis software, such as NVivo, can be a superior procedure for analyzing qualitative data as its systematic use helps attain continuity, transparency, and methodological rigor. Thus, I used NVivo to expedite the coding process as the software served as a different lens for analyzing the data and identifying patterns stemming from the data. Yet, Yin (2018) emphasized that the data analysis process should primarily rest upon the scholar's research capabilities. Therefore, I relied on my qualitative research abilities during the disassembling phase.

The next phase of the data analysis process involved reassembling the data. Yin (2018) noted that reassembling the data includes putting the codes in context to develop themes. During this phase, I bundled the codes iteratively until I identified themes and significant patterns. Per Castleberry and Nolen (2018), themes are patterns in the codes, incorporating various elements of related codes to reveal a bigger picture of the scrutinized problem. I used that definition to differentiate between codes and themes. While reassembling the data, I employed Microsoft Office Excel to cluster similar codes, generate higher-order codes, and eventually identify the themes. When analyzing data, Williams and Moser (2019) stressed the significance of scrutinizing qualitative data in a way that allows themes to emerge and meanings to be construed. I relied on tables to notice patterns and themes by reducing qualitative data and evaluating the relationships between codes. The approach enabled reassembling of the data in a structured manner.

The fourth phase of the data analysis process involved interpreting the data. Castleberry and Nolen (2018) stressed that interpreting the data requires making analytical conclusions from the data presented as codes and themes. According to Yin (2018), interpreting should be complete, fair, representative of the data, credible, and ought to add to extant studies. During this phase, I ascribed meanings to the themes and codes. Thus, I engaged with the reassembled data and devised a narrative depicting the reassembled data. I interpreted the data in an iterative manner, revisiting interpretations with subsequent evaluations of the codes and themes. While interpreting the data, I extensively drew from organizational documents and the researcher notes to enhance the process. In line with Castleberry and Nolen's (2018) recommendation, I created thematic

maps containing themes, codes, and their relationships. The maps included descriptions of themes and patterns I recognized in the coded data. I decided to develop thematic maps to observe the evolution of my understanding throughout the analysis process.

The final step of the data analysis process includes conclusions. During this step, qualitative researchers rely on the previous phases to respond to the research question and address the purpose of the study (Castleberry & Nolen, 2018). Yin (2018) indicated that the scholars should use the final phase of data analysis to make active contributions to subject matter scholarship while also precisely describing the research process to allow fellow researchers to replicate the study. To aid the conclusions of my study, I included direct quotes from the study participants, adhered to academic guidelines when presenting the results, and prepared tables to depict the results. Moreover, I holistically drew from the conceptual framework, the literature review, and the findings to formulate conclusions useful for family business researchers and practitioners. Hence, the final phase of Yin's five-step approach entailed concluding data while accounting for extant literature, peer-reviewed studies published after proposal approval, and Rothwell's (2015) seven-step model for succession planning.

Reliability and Validity

Reliability

Qualitative researchers who seek to make meaningful contributions to their disciplines must display adequate rigor to allow readers to have confidence in their conclusions. Reliability represents the degree to which outcomes are reproducible, for instance, from one test to another or between two investigations of human behavior

(McDonald et al., 2019; Vu, 2021). Thus, reliability in qualitative research pertains to replicating findings while minimizing bias and errors (Yin, 2018). Moreover, in qualitative research, dependability functions as a parallel quality criterion (Saunders et al., 2019). As conceptualized by Dyar (2022), dependability represents the degree to which researchers could replicate a given study in similar conditions. Dependable qualitative investigations include sufficient information allowing other researchers to repeat the same procedural steps, albeit conceivably arriving at different conclusions (Stenfors et al., 2020). Therefore, throughout the research process, I took extensive notes and journaled on each phase of data collection. Additionally, I used reflexive journaling to detail any modifications in protocol throughout the data collection and analysis phases. However, in this study on succession planning strategies in Polish family businesses, I also employed specific strategies to bolster dependability.

I used practice interviews, member checking, and the interview protocol to improve the study's dependability. Practice interviews allow qualitative researchers to refine data collection plans related to data content and procedures (Yin, 2018). Gani et al. (2020) suggested that novice researchers can particularly benefit from practice interviews to prepare for and improve the data collection process, thereby enhancing its reliability. Hence, I undertook practice interviews with fellow doctoral researchers to ensure that the study participants could comprehend the process and contribute to the research. Moreover, I purposefully incorporated member checking in the interview protocol (Appendix). Member checking is a research strategy for deepening, repeating, and adjusting data gathering and analysis together with study participants (Candela, 2019;

Caretta & Pérez, 2019). Stahl and King (2020) noted that member checking allows qualitative researchers to address dependability concerns during qualitative data collection. Thus, during the interviews with Polish family business leaders, I asked for follow-up meetings to evaluate transcripts and interpretations and make potential amendments to improve accuracy. Therefore, practice interviews, member checking, and the interview protocol underpinned my efforts to safeguard the study's reliability.

Validity

Validity is a marker of rigor in qualitative studies and is vital in social sciences research. Validity in qualitative research, a concept contested by many scholars, pertains to the process of determining the accuracy of the results from the perspective of the investigator, the participants, and the consumers of research (Rose & Johnson, 2020). Therefore, researchers have extensively used the markers of credibility, transferability, and confirmability in qualitative investigations (Schmidt & Brown, 2022; Stahl & King, 2020). I implemented numerous strategies to improve the credibility, transferability, and confirmability of this qualitative study on succession planning in Polish family businesses.

I enhanced credibility through member checking, participant validation, and triangulation. In qualitative studies, credibility pertains to the degree to which the research results and conclusions can be believable (Johnson et al., 2020; Nassaji, 2020). Thus, credibility indicates the results' truthfulness and the degree to which they mirror the reality of the phenomenon under scrutiny (Saunders et al., 2019). Qualitative researchers seeking credibility need to comprehend the study participants, context, and

processes accurately and comprehensively to devise exhaustive interpretations (Amin et al., 2020). Potential strategies to enhance credibility include member checking, participant validation, and triangulation (Nassaji, 2020; Stahl & King, 2020; Yadav, 2022). Therefore, I employed member checking, participant validation, and triangulation to ensure the study's credibility. Using the strategies enabled me to reach a more accurate and comprehensive understanding of the phenomenon under scrutiny, thus boosting the validity of the results.

I improved transferability by rigorously following the chosen research design's data collection and analysis techniques, using the interview protocol, and seeking data saturation. Transferability involves the degree to which the investigators' interpretations or conclusions are transferable to other comparable settings (Johnson et al., 2020; Saunders et al., 2019). As replicability is often challenging in qualitative studies, scholars should provide thorough and rich descriptions of the research activities and assumptions to make the transfer possible in case readers wish to attempt it (Nassaji, 2020; Stahl & King, 2020). Therefore, I provided detailed descriptions of the research process in this section of the doctoral study and presented the interview protocol (Appendix) to give the readers a comprehensive overview of this scholarly endeavor. Moreover, Johnson et al. (2020) argued that data saturation is a significant marker of rigor in qualitative investigations. Thus, I made methodological decisions enabling saturation across all phases of the research process, particularly choices related to participant recruitment, data collection, and analysis. In combination, adhering to the chosen research design's data

collection and analysis techniques, seeking data saturation, and using the interview protocol fostered the study's transferability.

Furthermore, I used reflexive journaling and the interview protocol to bolster the study's confirmability. Stahl and King (2020) described confirmability as qualitative researchers' attempts to ensure that their findings reflect the data collected from the participants rather than their interpretations or bias. Nassaji (2020) proposed recording and rationalizing all the steps taken and choices made regarding data coding and analysis to bolster confirmability. Therefore, I used reflexive journaling to record the research process from my perspective. Moreover, interviews allowing the study participants to provide open-ended responses enhance credibility (Johnson et al., 2020). Thus, I employed an interview protocol (Appendix) that enabled the study participants to provide open-ended responses to interview questions. Hence, reflexive journaling and the interview protocol served as strategies to increase the study's confirmability.

Researchers should also consider practices to foster data saturation when evaluating strategies to enhance validity. Johnson et al. (2020) noted that data saturation is an essential strategy that scholars use to improve the rigor and trustworthiness of qualitative investigations. Nevertheless, many novice researchers struggle with data saturation, adversely affecting their studies' quality and validity (Sebele-Mpofu, 2021). Data saturation occurs with the lack of new data, themes, coding, and the ability to replicate the research process (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Sebele-Mpofu, 2020). I used several strategies to enhance data saturation. First, per Fusch and Ness's (2015) suggestion, I maximized the number of potential interviews to gather as much data as possible.

Second, I conducted member checking. After manually transcribing the interviews and formulating preliminary interpretations, I conducted member checking follow-up interviews with the participants to refine the collected data per business leaders' guidance. Scholars have associated member checking with data saturation (Schoch, 2019). Third, I employed data triangulation to corroborate findings. Aguboshim (2021) indicated that data triangulation supports data saturation. I used methodological triangulation that included data from semistructured interviews with business leaders, organizational documents presented by the participants during member checking follow-up interviews, and researcher notes. I realized that I reached data saturation once, per Sebele-Mpofu (2020), I ceased identifying new data, themes, and coding. Therefore, I used data triangulation, member checking, and maximizing the number of interviews to enhance data saturation in the study.

Transition and Summary

In Section 2 of this doctoral study, I discussed the methodology used to undertake qualitative research on succession planning strategies in Polish family businesses. I outlined the purpose of the study, my role as a researcher, and the type of research I conducted. I described the participants, population and sampling approach, as well as the research methods, designs, and elements of an ethical investigation. Upon completion, I presented the data collection processes that entailed collection instruments, techniques, organization, and analysis. For each methodology-related decision presented in Section 2, I used scholarly or seminal works to explain and support the choices or procedures.

In Section 3, I summarize the findings discovered from the collected data and discuss coded and emerging themes stemming from the research process. Furthermore, I consider and evaluate the study's implications, limitations, and potential generalizability. Ultimately, I recognize the investigation's possible influence on social change that might occur due to the study and formulate recommendations for action and further research. Finally, I reflect on the study and describe the conclusions.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore succession planning strategies Polish family business leaders use for the leadership transition to the next generation. I conducted in-depth semistructured interviews with three business leaders of three different family firms in Poland who have successfully executed succession planning to facilitate leadership transition to the next generation. Additionally, I viewed organizational documents related to succession planning and took extensive researcher notes to develop a comprehensive understanding of the phenomenon. The four themes that emerged from the scrutinized data were (a) systematic succession, (b) grooming the successor, (c) communication with non-family stakeholders, and (d) longterm sustainability. Therefore, the findings showed that Polish family firm leaders committed to long-term business continuity and growth conducted succession in a systematic and organized manner. Moreover, the participants used diverse successor development and stakeholder communication strategies to maximize process effectiveness. Additionally, the family business leaders used various metrics to assess the effectiveness of succession planning in their organizations. In sum, the findings contributed to applied business research, professional practice, and social change by revealing the succession planning strategies used by Polish family business leaders to conduct intergenerational leadership transitions.

Presentation of the Findings

Through this qualitative multiple case study, I sought to answer the following research question: What succession planning strategies do Polish family business leaders use to conduct leadership transition to the next generation? To address the research question, I interviewed three business leaders of three family firms in Poland who successfully implemented succession planning to conduct an intergenerational leadership transfer. I audio-recorded each interview and produced a transcript based on the recording. Afterward, I scheduled follow-up interviews to discuss the transcripts and interpretations and to view organizational documents related to succession planning for methodological triangulation. Throughout the research process, I took extensive notes to aid data analysis.

The participants were assigned pseudonyms (P1, P2, and P3) to protect their identities. Moreover, I replaced any names the participants used in their interview responses with XXX. I analyzed the collected data relying on Yin's (2018) five-step approach with the support of NVivo software. The following themes emerged: (a) systematic succession, (b) grooming the successor, (c) communication with non-family stakeholders, and (d) long-term sustainability. The themes aligned with the conceptual framework, Rothwell's (2015) seven-step model for succession planning, and numerous peer-reviewed articles from the literature review. Table 1 contains a summary of the participants and the frequency with which the themes emerged during the interviews with Polish family business leaders.

Table 1Themes and Number of References by Participant

Theme	Number of references	Participant
Systematic succession	31	P1, P2, and P3
Grooming the successor	28	P1, P2, and P3
Communication	19	P1, P2, and P3
Sustainability	14	P1, P2, and P3
Total	92	

Theme 1: Systematic Succession

Theme 1 from the study participants' responses was systematic succession. All three business leaders recognized their commitment to systematic succession as a strategy to conduct an intergenerational leadership transfer at Polish family firms. Three subthemes emerged related to systematic succession: successor identification, goal-setting and timelines, and financial and legal considerations. Table 2 contains a summary of the frequency with which the participants indicated systematic succession as a strategy for intergenerational leadership transfers at Polish family firms.

Table 2Participants' References to Systematic Succession

Participant	Number of	%
	references	
P1	11	35.48
P2	12	38.71
P3	8	25.81
Total	31	

Successor Identification

All three participants identified successor identification as an initial strategy organizational leaders should implement when planning succession at Polish family businesses. P1 indicated:

I have two adult sons who have worked at the company since high school. When I became serious about succession and writing a plan, my first and biggest worry was to pick one of them to be my successor. That wasn't easy because both give 100% at work. A company can't have two leaders, and I don't want fights for power. I looked at their performance for a long time and picked the one that manages people better. It wasn't easy, but I made a fair decision.

Therefore, P1 discussed the challenges associated with selecting a suitable successor, especially when family business owners have more than one child. Similarly, P2 emphasized the significance of identifying a successor in the early phases of succession planning:

Choosing a successor to control the business after my departure was the biggest issue when I began working on succession. We are not immortal, so I needed the best person to keep the business running later. My son and niece are managers in the firm. Maybe it's natural to pass the business to my son, but my niece is more active and interested. It was a long process, and I made her the new leader in 2020, before COVID.

P3 also noted that successor identification was a challenge to address at the outset of succession planning at their family business. Nevertheless, P3's circumstances differed from those described by P1 and P2. P3 stated:

Compared to my friends who have family businesses, I am lucky to have one child. Decision was simple. I always wanted my daughter to replace me. I have employees who work for me from the beginning, so they help her in the new role.

The subtheme of successor identification further appeared in the organizational documents shown by all participants during the follow-up interviews. Organizational documents presented by P1 and P2 contained criteria used by the family business leaders to select the most appropriate successor. P1 and P2 used management, technical, and soft skills to guide their successor-related decisions. In contrast, P3's documents solely listed successor identification as a phase in the succession process but lacked criteria for making the successor's choice. Thus, successor identification was a subtheme that emerged during the interviews and in the organizational documents.

Goal-Setting and Timelines

All three participants recognized the need for setting goals and devising timelines when planning succession at Polish family businesses. P1 noted:

Succession is a process. It doesn't happen overnight. Talking to other entrepreneurs who finished succession and business professors, I learned how important it is to be strategic with this process. That's why I spent a lot of time preparing a careful plan with goals and dates. My intention was to prepare my son

for his new role, give him the necessary training, and prepare employees and clients for the company without me every day. I wanted to stay on top of it.

P2 also acknowledged the vitality of devising a succession plan with temporal considerations. P2 stated, "Milestones and time are what make succession happen." P3 further stressed how critical goal-setting is for effective succession planning by indicating:

Preparing the plan was the tough part. When you have a family business, there's not much time for planning. But how can I be sure about her success if I don't plan properly? I knew this was important. I prepared what I call a succession roadmap. It has all steps she needed to take to be ready for the role. I gave her as much time as she needed. After all, the firm was at play.

Besides interview responses, all participants presented organizational documents detailing goals underpinning the succession processes in their businesses. P1's and P3's documents included goals and objectives which had to be attained to ensure the successors, managers, employees, and entire organizations could perform during the intergenerational leadership transition. Furthermore, P1's documents specified approximate duration for each activity to support the process' timely completion. In contrast with P1's and P2's documents, P3 supplemented goals and timelines with context-specific quizzes to verify if the successor acquired the foundational knowledge associated with each goal. Therefore, the interview responses and organizational documents revealed that family business leaders perceive goal-setting and timelines as critical components of succession planning.

Financial and Legal Considerations

All participants considered the legal and financial aspects of succession planning in Polish family businesses. The participants suggested that integrating legal and financial considerations into their succession plans was essential for ensuring the process' sustainability. P2 stated:

This firm is the most important asset in my family. Two generations worked for it. Succession, just like any change, can be risky. I worked with financial and legal advisors to protect the firm for future generations. I want it to create safety for our family and make us proud.

Furthermore, P3 discussed close cooperation with legal and financial experts in the process of developing the succession plan at the family business. P3 noted:

Polish law is hard to navigate. It changes all the time, and it's hard to keep track. During our succession, we had to figure everything out by ourselves. Thankfully we work with a law firm, and they helped us get through succession. I can't imagine doing it without their help. They focus on businesses like ours, so they helped us make the best economic decisions.

Organizational documents presented by all participants revealed the extent to which financial and legal considerations influenced succession planning in the family businesses under scrutiny. Some elements of P1's, P2's, and P3's documents briefly described the reasons and goals for cooperating with external advisors who possess strategies for safeguarding family's wealth during the intergenerational leadership transfer while supporting firms' longevity in turbulent business environments. Furthermore, P2's

documents contained the business leader's interview responses detailing their thought process on potential legal solutions to maximize the succession process' benefits. Hence, all participants' succession planning entailed aligning the strategies with legal and financial objectives.

Relevance of the Findings to the Conceptual Framework and Literature

Theme 1, systematic succession, aligned with the conceptual framework and extant literature. The conceptual framework for this study was Rothwell's (2015) sevenstep model for succession planning. The conceptual framework depicts succession as an intentional and systematic endeavor by business leaders to promote management continuity in critical areas, retain knowledge and intellectual capital, and foster professional development (Ghazali et al., 2022). Moreover, the seven-step model for succession planning consists of seven steps occurring cyclically to aid the leadership transfer (Ahmad et al., 2020). Theme 1 was congruent with the conceptual framework as the findings revealed the participants' emphasis on systematic succession processes. Furthermore, the subthemes of successor identification, goal-setting and timelines, and financial and legal considerations aligned with the first two steps of Rothwell's succession planning model. Determining the scope of succession planning and devising a strategic plan are the first steps in the model (Jackson & Allen, 2022). The findings showed that the participants committed to succession in their firms, selected successors, and created specific plans. Thus, the results aligned with the framework.

Theme 1 and the associated subthemes reflected contemporary literature and effective business practice. Bell and Pham (2020) indicated that succession is a process

that varies in duration, during which the founder progressively transfers power to the next generation of organizational leaders. The results revealed that the participants perceived succession as a process that requires meticulous preparation and planning. Moreover, Rumanko et al. (2021) emphasized that business leaders who refrain from succession planning expose themselves to potential risks, including compromised organizational sustainability and growth. The findings indicated that the participants understood the consequences of not engaging in succession planning for their firms during the intergenerational leadership transitions. Moreover, Doborzyński et al. (2019) suggested that the Polish entrepreneurial context creates unique legal and economic constraints for family business leaders, undermining succession efforts. All participants identified legal and financial aspects as factors affecting succession planning. Additionally, Simkhada's (2023) cutting-edge research on succession planning in Nepalese settings demonstrated that human resource planning and succession planning have advantageous effects on organizational performance. The current study results were coherent, as they showed that family business owners engaged in systematic succession with a focus on successor identification. Finally, per scholarly literature on effective business practice, strategic planning improves organizational performance, especially when strategic planning is measured as formal strategic planning (George et al., 2019). The study results showed that systematic and strategic efforts underpin succession in many Polish family firms. Theme 1 aligned with extant literature and effective business practice.

Theme 2: Grooming the Successor

Theme 2 from the study participants' responses was grooming the successor. All three business leaders identified successor grooming as a succession planning strategy used during intergenerational leadership transfers at Polish family businesses. Three subthemes appeared related to systematic succession: formal education, on-the-job training, and mentoring. Table 3 contains a summary of the frequency with which the study participants indicated grooming the successor as a succession planning strategy for intergenerational leadership transitions at Polish family businesses.

Table 3Participants' References to Grooming the Successor

Participant	Number of	%
	references	
P1	12	42.86
P2	9	32.14
P3	7	25.00
Total	28	

Formal Education

All three participants identified formal education as a vital strategy business leaders should use when grooming the successors to become new business owners and leaders at Polish family firms. P1 indicated:

I can't stress it enough - nothing trumps learning. It's the only thing they can't take away from you. I always tell my sons to never stop learning, and it resonates with them. Both of them studied management in London. XXX then got his MBA in Switzerland, and XXX did his master's in finance and accounting in Denmark.

They came back completely different, full of new ideas. We have partners everywhere in Europe. International experience is what we need here. Now after succession, I see a real difference, and education abroad has a lot to do with it.

Furthermore, P2 discussed the value of formal education in the context of succession planning in Polish family businesses. P2 stated:

Our family believes in the value of education. My father was a sociology professor, so me and my sister grew up with science at home. The same with my son and niece. They keep learning until now, even when they work full-time at the company. They studied international business and psychology. After almost a decade at the company, they started family business studies together. We have such studies here, and they teach young entrepreneurs how to manage employees and companies. I am satisfied they graduated just before succession because they can use new skills immediately.

Similarly to other study participants, P3 indicated, "I told him – finish university before you work for me. You have time, there's no rush. You will work enough before you retire. Studies will make you better at what you do." Moreover, in contrast with other participants' documents, P3's documents related to succession planning encompassed details on short courses delivered by higher education institutions that the successor completed during the succession process. The courses allowed the successor to acquire managerial and soft skills. Hence, the subtheme of formal education had significant implications for successor development during succession at Polish family businesses.

On-The-Job Training

All three participants recognized on-the-job training as a valuable strategy organizational leaders should employ when preparing the successors to become new owners and leaders at Polish family businesses. P1 stated:

To be a good leader, you need different skills. You can't just focus on what you enjoy. It's important to be ready for all kinds of problems and situations. I told my sons they had to work in all departments to get to know all employees and understand their problems. They worked in the warehouse, accounting, sales, and so on. They did most basic jobs and very demanding ones. The good thing is they can now see all processes in the company and improve them. In fact, practice is no less important than education.

In contrast to P1, P2 underscored the human aspect of on-the-job training, discussing the value of acquiring practice-focused skills by observing top performers or experienced employees. Thus, P2 signaled:

Running a business has never been more difficult, at least I can't remember. In my opinion, leadership development is all about learning best behaviors from role models. We have almost 80 employees. Part of my plan included working closely with top-performing managers. XXX learned from different managers for close to a year. She worked with them operationally and strategically, traveled to meetings with business partners, and learned how to manage people. This was the best way to get knowledge about the business and management.

Nevertheless, P3 displayed the most unique approach to on-the-job training. Instead of relying entirely on internal resources, P3 organized training for the successor at diverse organizations with various specializations. Therefore, P3 stated:

University is great but you can't be a great manager without years of practice. My daughter needed a crash course in managing a firm. How did I do it? She learned from the leaders. Our company is strong in procurement, so she learned buying here. My best friend has a logistics company, so she learned all about transport over summer in this company. Same with accounting, HR, sales, and so on.

Organizational documents presented by the participants further revealed their strategies for on-the-job training for successors. In the case of P1 and P2, the documents contained brief information on the departments overlooking on-the-job training. P3's documents contained information on the practical skills the successor had to acquire, along with indications of whether on-the-job training occurred inside or outside the organization. Therefore, on-the-job training was a significant subtheme in grooming the successor theme.

Mentoring

All three participants recognized mentoring as an effective strategy business leaders should use when grooming the successors to become new owners and leaders at Polish family firms. P1 indicated:

The most rewarding moments during succession happened when I spent time with my sons. I have years of experience under my belt. Sharing my knowledge and experience with my sons makes me confident they can use it when necessary.

Some people will say it's best to learn from mistakes. I don't see it this way. Take my tried and tested business knowledge and use it in our company.

The other participants also recognized mentoring as a critical component of successor development. P2 stated, "I carve out at least 2 hours each week to sit down with XXX and XXX and teach them a lesson about business. My father taught me many valuable lessons about our society the same way." Additionally, P3 noted, "Families are at the heart of family businesses, so I had to teach my daughter how to be a good businesswoman that doesn't forget the role family plays in life." Therefore, P3 discussed how successors should become mindful of the unique contexts they exist in. Moreover, organizational documents presented by all participants contained references to phases during which the founders worked one-on-one with the successors to mentor them and prepare them for new workplace responsibilities. Hence, mentoring was an essential strategy the participants used during the intergenerational leadership transitions at their organizations.

Relevance of the Findings to the Conceptual Framework and Literature

Theme 2, grooming the successor, aligned with the conceptual framework and extant literature. Rothwell's (2015) seven-step model for succession planning was the study's conceptual framework. Theme 2 and the associated subthemes reflected several steps of the conceptual framework. The model's third step involves identifying talent gaps by evaluating skills needed for effective organizational leadership (Jackson & Allen, 2022; Rothwell & Prescott, 2022). The findings revealed that the participants recognized essential skills needed to succeed as family business leaders before initiating successor

development. During the fourth step, organizational leaders rely on their strategic foresight to evaluate the competencies required to thrive in evolving markets and promote company sustainability (Abdellah, 2021; Chobakhloo et al., 2022). The results showed that the participants acknowledged the contemporary business environment's complexity and sought to prepare their successors for upcoming challenges through targeted training and mentoring. The fifth step necessitates considering a person's long-term potential by evaluating their openness to personal and professional development (Abdellah, 2021; Jindal & Shaikh, 2021). The findings revealed that the participants emphasized sustainability in their behaviors and used a combination of formal education, on-the-job training, and mentoring to encourage perpetual learning and holistically develop their successors. Thus, the results were congruent with the conceptual framework's underpinnings.

Theme 2 and the associated subthemes aligned with recent literature and effective business practice. Business researchers have stressed the role of formal and informal management education in improving succession's effectiveness and facilitating knowledge exchange between stakeholders involved in intergenerational leadership transfers in family firms (Lušňáková et al., 2019; Rumanko et al., 2021). The findings revealed that the participants recognized the importance of creating opportunities for university-level business education and on-the-job training for their successors.

Moreover, scholars indicated that family business leaders should allow their successors to observe business operations and strategic endeavors inside the organization (Hanson & Keplinger, 2021; Porfírio et al., 2020). The findings showed that on-the-job training was

a pivotal strategy business leaders employed to acquaint their successors with the organizations and business environments. Learning through practice prepares the successors for workplace responsibilities and problems, enabling them to verify successoriented strategies (Husien et al., 2019). Additionally, Wu et al.'s (2023) cutting-edge research on the strategies for successful entrepreneurship demonstrated that occupational experiences shape entrepreneurial entry. The current study findings showed that the successors were exposed to formal and informal educational schemes. Therefore, the findings on formal education and on-the-job training were coherent with current, cutting-edge peer-reviewed literature.

The findings on mentoring were coherent with the scholarly literature.

Madarasiné Szirmai and Németh (2019) emphasized that mentoring is a valuable strategy for developing successors for new responsibilities as family business leaders. Mentoring supports knowledge exchange between incumbents and successors, strengthens intergenerational communication, and creates trust among family business leaders (Chaudhary et al., 2021; Rychta, 2022). The results revealed that all participants engaged in mentoring to offer lessons on effective business practice in family business settings.

Business practice researchers have noted that investments in holistic leadership and technical development are valuable for the successors' personal and professional development (Barrett & Moores, 2020; Rumanko et al., 2021). Hence, the findings associated with Theme 2 reflected academic literature on family firm management and effective business practice.

Theme 3: Communication With Non-Family Stakeholders

Theme 3 that emerged from the study participants' responses was communication with non-family stakeholders. All three business leaders described communication with non-family stakeholders as a vital strategy to implement during intergenerational leadership transfers at Polish family businesses. Two subthemes emerged related to communication with non-family stakeholders: communication with employees, and communication with business partners. Table 4 contains a summary of the frequency with which the study participants indicated communication with non-family stakeholders as a succession planning strategy for intergenerational leadership transitions at Polish family businesses.

Table 4Participants' References to Communication With Non-Family Stakeholders

Participant	Number of	%
	references	
P1	7	36.84
P2	4	21.05
P3	8	42.11
Total	19	

Communication With Employees

All three participants identified communication with employees as a strategy leaders should use when planning succession at Polish family firms. P1 indicated:

Explaining to employees what's in succession for them takes work. With succession comes a major change in leadership. When people are used to you being their boss for years, they can resist accepting and following your child

whom they have known since he was a kid. To prevent that, I kept explaining people how his creativity and new ideas can take us to the next level. I did it methodically until people saw in him what I see.

P1's interview responses revealed that the business leader intended to strengthen the successor's positive image to encourage followership from employees. As the successor had been known to many employees since their childhood, P1 intended to transform employees' perception of the new leader through systematic communication. Moreover, P2 and P3 expressed similar concerns pertaining to boosting successor acceptance through communication with employees and managers. P2 stated, "I brought XXX to every important company meeting to show everyone that they need to treat her seriously. I let her decide on important issues in front of others to communicate her position." In contrast, P3 signaled:

Every year, I organize teambuilding trips for employees from across the country to get to know each other better and discuss company strategy for the year. In the year of succession, a whole day was about XXX and her plans for the company. Our staff asked her questions and she answered confidently. That was a clear signal for everyone to respect her.

Organizational documents presented by the participants contained additional details on how communication with employees was used as a succession planning strategy. P1 presented a transcript of a speech they gave at an event for organizational leaders, during which they discussed succession in family businesses. The transcript included P1's references to building a strong successor image through effective internal

communication. Furthermore, P3 presented an itinerary of the company teambuilding trip, which depicted time dedicated to acquainting employees with the successor. Thus, communication with employees was a vital succession planning strategy the participants used at their firms.

Communication With Business Partners

Two participants, P1 and P3, recognized communication with business partners as a strategy leaders should employ during succession at Polish family firms. P1 noted:

It was a long process to convince our suppliers and customers to accept a new decision-maker. I am the kind of person who needs to know about everything happening in the firm and make the final decision. That's why I needed to methodically show our partners that XXX is my chosen successor and he will be their new contact person for key issues. I use email a lot, so I started copying

XXX into important exchanges and giving him the freedom to have the final say. Thus, P1 argued that displaying the successor's decision-making competencies through digital communication channels was an effective strategy for preparing business partners for an intergenerational leadership transfer. Similarly, P3 signaled, "To build the position of my daughter, I told the clients – I am stepping back, talk to her now; she is prepared and can help." Moreover, documents presented by P1 and P3 depicted communication with business partners as a strategy used during succession planning. For instance, P1 presented a transcript of a speech they gave at an event for organizational leaders where they discussed the need for sharing decision-making with the successors as a strategy for

communicating succession to business partners. Thus, communication with business partners was a critical element Polish family business leaders used during succession.

Relevance of the Findings to the Conceptual Framework and Literature

Theme 3, communication with non-family stakeholders, aligned with the conceptual framework and the scholarly literature. Rothwell's (2015) seven-step model for succession planning was the study's conceptual framework. Theme 3 and the associated subthemes were congruent with the sixth step of the conceptual framework. As Ahmad et al. (2020) noted, the sixth step of the seven-step model for succession planning involves closing the developmental gap. During that phase of the succession process, business leaders attempt to minimize the discrepancies between human potential and prospective job requirements (Abdellah, 2021; Rothwell & Prescott, 2022). The study results revealed that the participants acknowledged the need for employees and business partners to accept the successor as a new business leader. Recognition of the successor's potential was essential for fulfilling job requirements. Therefore, the theme and the associated subthemes were coherent with the conceptual framework.

Theme 3 reflected contemporary scholarly literature on family business management. After concluding developmental activities for the successors, incumbents should articulate their transfer of leadership responsibilities and assume the role of advisors (Bertschi-Michel et al., 2020; Cho et al., 2022; Ng et al., 2021). The findings showed that the participants used communication strategies to solidify the leadership and ownership transfer and its recognition by employees and business partners. Furthermore, family business researchers have argued that regular communication between

stakeholders enhances relationship depth and trust (Chang et al., 2020; Husien et al., 2019; Somboonvechakarn et al., 2022). The findings revealed the incumbents' intention to develop non-family stakeholders' trust in the successor through clear communication of a leadership and decision-making transition. Thus, the findings reflected contemporary literature on family business management.

Moreover, the results were coherent with cutting-edge investigations and effective business practice literature. Per effective business practice literature, succession planning across organizational settings requires an emphasis on mutual reliance, sincere communication between stakeholders, and pursuing company goals and objectives (Singh & Kataria, 2021). The study participants indicated that sincere communication with non-family stakeholders during the transition phase supported attaining the goals of business continuity and growth by strengthening the successors' position. Additionally, Sacco and Conz (2023) cutting-edge research on corporate heritage communication revealed that business leaders should emphasize heritage for authenticity, market leadership, and continuity in their interactions with stakeholders. The findings showed that the participants communicated succession's underpinnings to non-family stakeholders to foster business continuity, retain the market position, and present the successor's contributions to the organization. Hence, the findings aligned with cutting-edge studies on family business management and effective business practice.

Theme 4: Long-Term Sustainability

Theme 4 that emerged from the study participants' responses was long-term sustainability. All three business leaders depicted appraising the long-term sustainability

of the process as an important strategy to implement during and after intergenerational leadership transfers at Polish family businesses. Table 5 contains a summary of the frequency with which the study participants indicated assessing long-term sustainability as a succession planning strategy to implement during and after intergenerational leadership and ownership transfers at Polish family businesses.

 Table 5

 Participants' References to Long-Term Sustainability

Participant	Number of	%
	references	
P1	6	42.86
P2	3	21.43
P3	5	35.71
Total	14	

While the participants extensively described diverse phases of the succession process, they also shared their perspectives on assessing the endeavor's sustainability and their role following a formal leadership and ownership transfer. P1 stated:

I decided on succession to keep the business in the family. With perseverance, we made it happen. Years later, my sons run the business alone and only sporadically ask me for advice. The business is more profitable than ever thanks to new products and clients in other Central European markets. XXX and XXX successfully put new ideas to life, so I don't see big risks on the horizon. The future looks bright for the business.

Similarly to P1, P3 described their role in the family business after succession and organizational performance as critical metrics of process success. Moreover, P3 referred

to their successor's preparedness to operate in challenging business environments as a predictor of long-term success. P3 indicated:

My daughter is now an independent business owner. She doesn't need me anymore. I never expected to say it, but it feels great. I finally get to travel with my wife and enjoy retirement. I still visit the company a few times each month to catch up on what's happening. But the business thrives, even in tough times. XXX shows a lot of resilience, and it's a good sign for the future.

Furthermore, P2 formulated their prognosis for the organization's continuity and growth based on successor development. P2 signaled, "Taking succession seriously was well worth the effort. All the training and guidance XXX received helps keep the firm healthy." Moreover, I verified the organizations' financial statements freely available to the public in the Polish Ministry of Justice's online database. The financial statements revealed that the family businesses improved or sustained their performance following succession. Despite the coronavirus pandemic and the 2022 Russian invasion of Ukraine, the family firms achieved organizational performance matching or exceeding presuccession results. Therefore, the results showed that the long-term sustainability of the Polish family businesses was maintained following the intergenerational leadership transfer, at least partially due to succession planning's development and implementation.

Relevance of the Findings to the Conceptual Framework and Literature

Theme 4, long-term sustainability, aligned with the conceptual framework and the scholarly literature. Rothwell's (2015) seven-step model for succession planning was the study's conceptual framework. Theme 4 aligned with the final step of the conceptual

framework. Jackson and Allen (2022) noted that the seventh step of Rothwell's succession planning model involves reviewing the effectiveness of the implemented leadership development strategies in the context of extant business environments. Thus, the final step of the framework allows leaders to assess succession planning's effectiveness (Abdellah, 2021). The findings showed that the participants identified the need for assessing process success by scrutinizing organizational performance and leadership outcomes. Therefore, the results were coherent with the final step of the conceptual framework.

Furthermore, the findings reflected recent scholarly literature on family businesses and effective business practices. Seema and Ali (2021) argued that organizational leaders should develop systems to objectively assess succession planning and human capital in their firms. The findings showed that the participants used various metrics, including organizational performance across years, to appraise succession planning in their family firms. Moreover, Husien et al. (2019) stressed that self-reflection, post-succession career planning, and disassociating from the family business could allow business founders to overcome succession resistance. The participants argued that they could let go of their organizations and pursue novel activities in their lives. Additionally, Marques et al.'s (2023) cutting-edge research on succession planning revealed that achieving holistic successor development, especially related to socioemotional wealth, underpins the process' long-term sustainability. The current study findings showed that successor development enabled new family business leaders to manage their organizations independently, aligning with the most recent investigations. Finally, per

effective business practice scholarship, Chukwuma et al. (2021) noted that succession planning enables sustainable organizational performance. The findings demonstrated that the participants identified succession planning as a pathway to business continuity and growth in turbulent business environments. Hence, the study results were congruent with recent scholarly investigations on succession planning in family firms and effective business practices.

Applications to Professional Practice

Family businesses are the backbone of many economies and societies worldwide, but they face unique challenges affecting their survival and growth. Miroshnychenko et al. (2021) noted that family businesses account for over two-thirds of enterprises worldwide, generate 70–90% of the global GDP, and create 50–80% of jobs in most countries. However, only 30% of family firms survive beyond the first generation, while less than 15% reach the third generation and only 3% the fourth generation (Porfírio et al., 2020). The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the succession planning strategies that Polish family business leaders use for the leadership transition to the next generation. The study findings indicated that succession planning is essential for family business survival, continuity, and development, especially in contemporary business environments. This study's conclusions include valuable insights into succession planning strategies in family businesses, particularly in the Polish context. Hence, insights from the family business leaders who participated in the study viewed through the scholarly lens could prove advantageous for practitioners searching for effective succession planning strategies to implement in Polish family firms.

The first application to business practice involved recognizing the advantages of succession planning for family firms' sustainability. The study findings demonstrated that family business owners who employ succession planning at their organizations attain beneficial outcomes related to business performance, human capital development and productivity, and the potential to navigate challenging business environments. Extant scholarly literature depicts similar implications of succession planning for organizational performance. For instance, Bokhari et al.'s (2020) investigation of Pakistani family firms showed that planned succession fosters positive performance outcomes on individual and organizational levels. In contrast, family business owners who refrain from succession planning put their firms at risk (Kiwia et al., 2019). Hence, practitioners seeking to employ the study findings in applied settings should acknowledge that succession planning enables long-term sustainability in family firm contexts.

The second application to business practice pertained to identifying the need for employing unbiased approaches to successor identification. The results showed that family business owners should use objective criteria for assessing potential successors' managerial, technical, and soft skills before selecting new leaders for their organizations. When family business owners have several children, they should consider potential successors' leadership and technical skills prior to choosing a suitable successor (Rumanko et al., 2021; Rychta, 2022). The findings also indicated that family business owners should consider family members beyond their children as possible successors.

Eze et al. (2021) noted that prioritizing certain individuals could be detrimental to family firms' sustainability. Potential talented and skilled successors could not receive

leadership opportunities due to a biased candidate selection process (Mismetti et al., 2022). Hence, practitioners intending to apply the study findings in organizational settings should use objective and unbiased successor selection criteria.

The third application to business practice involved recognizing that family business leaders should carefully prepare strategies for grooming their successors. The study findings indicated that business owners employed diverse approaches to developing their successors into firm owners and leaders, including formal education, on-the-job training, and mentoring. The participants sought to train their successors holistically, devising learning goals and assessing progress in time. Business scholars indicated that formal and informal management education could be advantageous for family business successors while also enhancing knowledge exchange between generations of family business leaders (Lušňáková et al., 2019; Rumanko et al., 2021). Therefore, family business leaders seeking to use the study results in applied contexts should meticulously design and implement successor development strategies to maximize effectiveness.

The fifth application to business practice was encouraging business leaders to consider non-family stakeholders' role in the succession process to optimize the endeavor's success in their organizations. The study results revealed that Polish family business leaders benefitted from financial and legal advisors' support to navigate the challenges of succession. Doborzyński et al. (2019) indicated that the Polish economic and legal landscape could be problematic to navigate. Subject matter experts can support family business owners in making the most appropriate decisions. Similarly, the results showed that incumbents should skillfully communicate the intergenerational leadership

change to employees and business partners. Singh and Kataria (2021) argued that honest communication elevates trust, which is critical during succession planning. Thus, family firm leaders aiming to apply the findings to business practice need to consider non-family stakeholders' roles when planning succession.

Implications for Social Change

Family businesses drive national entrepreneurship and social advancement in many countries. However, family firms' positive impact on economic and social growth can be undermined by their decreasing survival with each intergenerational ownership and leadership transfer, aggravated by the lack of succession planning (Obianuju et al., 2021). Therefore, the study results could contribute to social change by equipping family business leaders with succession planning strategies that enhance organizational survival and growth. Ge and Micelotta (2019) noted that family businesses are well-equipped to undertake corporate social responsibility initiatives through proactive social engagement. Furthermore, Lumpkin and Bacq (2022) suggested that family firms often display a readiness to tackle societal problems and ills with advantageous outcomes for the neighborhoods, cities, and regions where they operate through civic wealth creation. Thus, the study findings could empower family businesses to strengthen their economic potential and allocate more resources to positive social change initiatives.

In addition to employing succession planning strategies to enhance family business survival and social impact, organizational leaders could use their firms' heritage to model civic behaviors. Ge and Micelotta (2019) argued that family business leaders could engage in philanthropic activities, using their economic potential to propel such

initiatives. The study findings revealed that family business owners often perceive mentoring as a strategy for transferring knowledge and values across generations. Thus, family business leaders could instill social and environmental sensitivity in their successors, preparing them to generate economic returns without neglecting their organizations' broader impact. Hence, the study results could encourage family business leaders to become more mindful about transferring philanthropic values during systematic succession initiatives.

Recommendations for Action

In this qualitative multiple case study, I explored the succession planning strategies that Polish family business leaders use to conduct intergenerational leadership transfers in their organizations. The study results might equip family business owners and managers with effective succession planning strategies to employ in applied settings to bolster firm survival, continuity, and growth. As previous studies on family businesses demonstrated, implementing succession planning during intergenerational leadership transfers can improve process effectiveness and stakeholder experiences (Ali et al., 2019; Bokhari et al., 2020; Kiwia et al., 2019). I encourage family business researchers, practitioners, students, and policymakers to pay attention to the study results, as the conclusions can be used in family firm contexts to produce positive organizational outcomes. The diverse stakeholders could use the study findings to make evidence-based decisions on succession planning in family businesses.

I devised four recommendations for action based on the conclusions from this study. The recommendations for action reflect themes that emerged during the research

process, namely: (a) systematic succession, (b) grooming the successor, (c) communication with non-family stakeholders, and (d) long-term sustainability. First, incumbent family business owners and leaders should recognize the risks associated with inadequate succession planning and undertake efforts to systematically prepare for an intergenerational leadership transfer in advance. Second, family business scholars and practitioners should identify the need for holistic formal and informal education, preparing potential successors for workplace responsibilities and demands. Educators and practitioners should collaborate on developing university- and workplace-based development programs for family business successors. Third, incumbent family business owners and leaders should acknowledge the value of collaboration with advisors during the succession process, especially when addressing legal, financial, or communication challenges. Fourth, incumbents and successors should cooperate on developing metrics for assessing succession's effectiveness that satisfy the stakeholders' expectations. In combination, the recommendations for action should improve succession planning in family business contexts.

I will employ a comprehensive approach to disseminating the findings to maximize the recommendations' implementation in applied settings. I will share the results with the study participants actively engaged in the research process. Moreover, I will distribute the conclusions among family business researchers and practitioners in Poland to provide them with succession planning strategies suitable for the Polish business environment. Furthermore, I will attempt to publish the study findings in a peer-reviewed scholarly journal and present the findings at conferences attracting management

researchers, practitioners, and policymakers. Finally, I will share the findings with Polish governmental agencies responsible for the country's economic development. Thus, approaching diverse actors should enable the distribution of the study results to scholars, practitioners, and policymakers who are active in the area of family business management.

Recommendations for Further Research

Family businesses worldwide continue to face succession as a potential obstacle to their continuity and growth. Thus, researching succession planning in family businesses will remain relevant for scholars and practitioners in the coming years. The problem will remain pronounced in Poland, where 71% of family firms are owned and managed by first-generation business leaders and have not undergone succession (Wysocka, 2019). Therefore, further research should advance the scholarly understanding of the phenomenon and lead to conclusions that can be applied in business settings. Thus, I formulated recommendations for further research driven by the study's weaknesses and novel opportunities for scholarly investigations.

Applied business researchers intending to explore succession planning in family firms in the future should strive to minimize several weaknesses' that impacted this study. First, the study was limited to succession planning in Polish family firms. Thus, future studies could include family businesses from other Central European countries to understand how organizations operating in other post-communist economies perceive succession planning. Second, the data collection process included conducting semistructured interviews with incumbent family business leaders, viewing

organizational documents, and taking researcher notes. Future studies could entail interviews with more organizational stakeholders, possibly successors, and using a broader collection of documents related to the phenomenon under scrutiny. Third, the findings were potentially distorted by confidential information that the business leaders decided not to disclose. Future studies should include a more extended preparation phase to build more participant trust in the scholar and the research process. Hence, addressing the study's weaknesses could improve future research on succession planning in family firms.

Moreover, the study findings and extant literature allowed me to identify further research opportunities. The results revealed that many family business leaders grapple with succession's legal and financial aspects. As Doborzyński et al. (2019) suggested, many family business leaders struggle to make sense of the legal, financial, fiscal, economic, and social factors affecting their organizations' development. Thus, future studies should put a greater emphasis on understanding how family business leaders incorporate legal and financial elements into succession-related decisions. Additionally, the findings revealed that many family business leaders engage in appraising succession's effectiveness beyond the immediate effects of formal leadership and ownership transfer. Thus, future studies could focus more closely on the post-succession phase and its implications for long-term organizational performance, family relationships, human resource management, and communication. Applied business researchers could also investigate how diverse successor development programs influence new family business leaders' preparedness for workplace responsibilities and contribute to long-term process

effectiveness. In combination, the study findings could guide further research into succession planning in family businesses across cultural contexts.

Reflections

When I began my doctorate at Walden University, I was thrilled about embarking on this demanding yet fulfilling journey. I have always dreamed of becoming a scholar who contributes to knowledge development and social change. However, I quickly realized that doctoral research is more about incremental progress toward one's ultimate goal than grand discoveries. Yet, in a fundamentally positive way, the doctoral journey was the most humbling experience in my life. While I did not expect to come to such a realization, I will miss the daily grind, excitement intertwined with frustration, and the feeling of contentment after reaching the milestones along the doctoral journey. My thoughts during the final weeks of the doctoral program became filled with worries about the future. Finding an equally rewarding activity may be difficult.

As I reflect on the doctoral study process, I recognize its transformational effect on my perceptions of modern organizations and societies. I attribute the capstone stage of the doctoral journey to shaping my academic identity. With invaluable support from the faculty at Walden University, I started viewing the world through a fine-tuned lens, mindful of biases and preconceived ideas distorting one's perceptions of reality. In particular, I have managed to suppress the confirmation and negativity biases that clouded my thoughts for as long as I can remember. Thus, I approached the data collection and analysis stages of the doctoral study with clarity, openness, and

mindfulness, which allowed me to hear the participants. The doctoral process was the foundation of my holistic self-improvement and maturation as a social change agent.

Conclusion

Ultimately, the purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the succession planning strategies that Polish family business leaders use for the leadership transition to the next generation. I collected data through semistructured interviews with three business leaders who successfully implemented succession planning in their family firms in Poland. I also viewed organizational documents and used research notes. Four themes emerged after analyzing the collected data, namely: (a) systematic succession, (b) grooming the successor, (c) communication with non-family stakeholders, and (d) longterm sustainability. The findings revealed that family business leaders who prepare and implement succession planning enhance their firms' survival, continuity, and growth. Moreover, the results demonstrated that incumbent family business leaders should create formal and informal development opportunities for their successors. Additionally, family business leaders should not neglect interactions with non-family stakeholders, as their support for succession planning and chosen successors is pivotal for process effectiveness. Given the Doctor of Business Administration program's focus on positive social change, the current study could enable community thriving by enhancing family business survival and growth. As business environments become increasingly complex and volatile, family business leaders who implement succession planning prepare their firms to face organizational change, remain competitive in the long term, and grow.

References

- Abatecola, G., & Cristofaro, M. (2018). Hambrick and Mason's "Upper Echelons

 Theory": Evolution and open avenues. *Journal of Management History*, 26(1),

 116–136. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMH-02-2018-0016
- Abdelazeem, B., Abbas, K. S., Amin, M. A., El-Shahat, N. A., Malik, B., Kalantary, A., & Eltobgy, M. (2022). The effectiveness of incentives for research participation:

 A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *PloS One*, 17(4), Article e0267534. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0267534
- Abdellah, H. R. A. (2021). Managerial succession planning for school principals.

 International Journal of Research in Educational Sciences., 4(3), 201–228.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.29009/ijres.4.3.5
- Abiodun, O. A., Agbaeze, E. K., Adeleke, B. S., Ghasi, N. C., & Ude, A. O. (2019). Do leadership roles affect survivability of family businesses in developing economies? *International Journal of Entrepreneurship*, 23(2), 1–10.
- Abiri-Franklin, S., & Olugasa, O. (2022). Succession planning and women inclusion in family businesses. *Business Perspective Review*, *4*(1), 41–50. https://doi.org/10.38157/bpr.v4i1.424
- Achtenhagen, L., Haag, K., Hultén, K., & Lundgren, J. (2022). Torn between individual aspirations and the family legacy–individual career development in family firms.

 *Career Development International, 27(2), 201–221. https://doi.org/10.1108/CDI-06-2020-0156

Agbim, K. C. (2019). Determining the contributory factors to successful succession and post-succession performance of family-owned SMEs in South Eastern Nigeria.

International Entrepreneurship Review, 5(2), 53–73.

https://doi.org/10.15678/IER.2019.0502.04

Aguboshim, F. C. (2021). Adequacy of sample size in a qualitative case study and the dilemma of data saturation: A narrative review. *World Journal of Advanced Research and Reviews*, 10(3), 180–187.

https://doi.org/10.30574/wjarr.2021.10.3.0277

- Ahmad, A. R., Ming, T. Z., & Sapry, H. R. M. (2020). Effective strategy for succession planning in higher education institutions. *Journal of Education and e-Learning Research*, 7(2), 203–208. https://doi.org/10.20448/journal.509.2020.72.203.208
- Ahrens, J. P., Calabrò, A., Huybrechts, J., & Woywode, M. (2019). The enigma of the family successor–firm performance relationship: A methodological reflection and reconciliation attempt. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, 43(3), 437–474. https://doi.org/10.1177/1042258718816290
- Akhmedova, A., Cavallotti, R., Marimon, F., & Campopiano, G. (2020). Daughters' careers in family business: Motivation types and family-specific barriers. *Journal of Family Business Strategy*, 11(3), Article 100307.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfbs.2019.100307
- Aladejebi, O. (2021). Succession planning: A key to sustainable family business. *Journal of Business and Social Science* Review, 2(7), 26–38.

 https://doi.org/10.48150/jbssr.v2no7.2021.a3

- Ali, R., Rehman, R. U., Suleman, S., & Ntim, C. G. (2022). CEO attributes, investment decisions, and firm performance: New insights from upper echelons theory.

 *Managerial and Decision Economics, 43(2), 398–417.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/mde.3389
- Ali, Z., Mahmood, B., & Mehreen, A. (2019). Linking succession planning to employee performance: The mediating roles of career development and performance appraisal. *Australian Journal of Career Development*, 28(2), 112–121. https://doi.org/10.1177/1038416219830419
- Alonso, A. D., Kok, S., & O'Shea, M. (2019). The family business, adversity and change:

 A dynamic capabilities and knowledge-based approach. *Journal of General Management*, 44(2), 96–109. https://doi.org/10.1177/0306307018810585
- Alonso-Dos-Santos, M., & Llanos-Contreras, O. (2019). Family business performance in a post-disaster scenario: The influence of socioemotional wealth importance and entrepreneurial orientation. *Journal of Business Research*, 101, 492–498.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.12.057
- Al Suwaidi, M., Jabeen, F., Stachowicz-Stanusch, A., & Webb, M. (2020). Determinants linked to executive succession planning in public sector organizations. *Vision*, 24(3), 284–299. https://doi.org/10.1177/0972262920932405
- Alvarado-Alvarez, C., Armadans, I., & Parada, M. J. (2020). Tracing the roots of constructive conflict management in family firms. *Negotiation and Conflict Management Research*, *13*(2), 105–126. https://doi.org/10.1111/ncmr.12164

- Ameni, A. B. I. D., Hamrouni, A. D., & Hadj, M. K. B. (2021). The effect of planning managerial and ownership transfers on successful succession in family-owned business: A Tunisian case. *Journal of Contemporary Issues in Business and Government*, 27(1), 1805–1827. https://cibgp.com/article_8400.html
- Amin, M. E. K., Nørgaard, L. S., Cavaco, A. M., Witry, M. J., Hillman, L., Cernasev, A., & Desselle, S. P. (2020). Establishing trustworthiness and authenticity in qualitative pharmacy research. *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy*, 16(10), 1472–1482. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sapharm.2020.02.005
- Anabo, I. F., Elexpuru-Albizuri, I., & Villardón-Gallego, L. (2019). Revisiting the Belmont Report's ethical principles in internet-mediated research: Perspectives from disciplinary associations in the social sciences. *Ethics and Information Technology*, 21(2), 137–149. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10676-018-9495-z
- Andrew, D. P., Pedersen, P. M., & McEvoy, C. D. (2020). Research methods and design in sport management (2nd ed.). Human Kinetics.
- Andrews, M. (2021). Quality indicators in narrative research. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 18(3), 353–368. https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2020.1769241
- Anggadwita, G., Profityo, W. B., Alamanda, D. T., & Permatasari, A. (2020). Cultural values and their implications to family business succession: A case study of small Chinese-owned family businesses in Bandung, Indonesia. *Journal of Family Business Management*, 11(4), 281–292. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFBM-03-2019-0017

- Arambhan, P. A., & Seetharaman, A. (2022). Perceptions of succession planning in family-owned businesses. *Journal of the International Council for Small Business*, 3(4), 337–349. https://doi.org/10.1080/26437015.2022.2098079
- Arcese, G., Valeri, M., Poponi, S., & Elmo, G. C. (2020). Innovative drivers for family business models in tourism. *Journal of Family Business Management*, 11(4), 402–422. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFBM-05-2020-0043
- Armstrong, C. S., & Kepler, J. D. (2018). Theory, research design assumptions, and causal inferences. *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 66(2-3), 366–373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacceco.2018.08.012
- Armugam, B., Arshad, M. M., Ismail, I. A., & Hamzah, S. R. (2019). Investigating the link between transformational leadership style on succession planning program in national secondary schools in Seremban District, Malaysia. *International Journal of Academic Research in Progressive Education and Development*, 8(4), 201–241. http://dx.doi.org/10.6007/IJARPED/v8-i4/6489
- Arregle, J. L., Chirico, F., Kano, L., Kundu, S. K., Majocchi, A., & Schulze, W. S. (2021). Family firm internationalization: Past research and an agenda for the future. *Journal of International Business Studies*, *52*(6), 1159–1198. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41267-021-00425-2
- Asenahabi, B. M. (2019). Basics of research design: A guide to selecting appropriate research design. *International Journal of Contemporary Applied Researches*, 6(5), 76–89. http://www.ijcar.net/previous-issues/vol-6-no-5-may-2019/

- Astrachan, J. H., Binz Astrachan, C., Campopiano, G., & Baù, M. (2020). Values, spirituality and religion: Family business and the roots of sustainable ethical behavior. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 163(4), 637–645.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-019-04392-5
- Azizi, M., Bidgoli, M. S., & Taheri, A. (2021). The effect of ownership and management structure on family businesses performance. *Cogent Business & Management*, 8(1), Article 1872888. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311975.2021.1872888
- Bakkalbasioglu, E. (2020). How to access elites when textbook methods fail: Challenges of purposive sampling and advantages of using interviewees as "fixers."

 **Qualitative Report*, 25(3), 688–699. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2020.3976
- Banerjee-Batist, R., Reio, T. G., Jr., & Rocco, T. S. (2019). Mentoring functions and outcomes: An integrative literature review of sociocultural factors and individual differences. *Human Resource Development Review*, *18*(1), 114–162. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534484318810267
- Bannier, E., Barker, G., Borghesani, V., Broeckx, N., Clement, P., Emblem, K. E., & Zhu, H. (2021). The open brain consent: Informing research participants and obtaining consent to share brain imaging data. *Human Brain Mapping*, 42(7), 1945–1951. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.25351
- Bano, Y., Omar, S. S., & Ismail, F. (2022). Succession planning best practices for organizations: A systematic literature review approach. *International Journal of*

- Global Optimization and Its Application, 1(1), 39–48. https://doi.org/10.56225/ijgoia.v1i1.12
- Barrett, M. A., & Moores, K. (2020). The what and how of family business paradox: Literature-inspired distillations and directions. *International Small Business Journal*, *38*(3), 154–183. https://doi.org/10.1177/0266242619892149
- Barton, A. (2019). Preparing for leadership turnover in Christian higher education: Best practices in succession planning. *Christian Higher Education*, *18*(1), 37–53. https://doi.org/10.1080/15363759.2018.1554353
- Basly, S., & Hammouda, A. (2020). Family businesses and digital entrepreneurship adoption: A conceptual model. *Journal of Entrepreneurship*, 29(2), 326–364. https://doi.org/10.1177/0971355720930573
- Bassot, B. (2021). The research journal. A reflective tool for your first independent research project. Policy Press.
- Bassyouny, H., Abdelfattah, T., & Tao, L. (2020). Beyond narrative disclosure tone: The upper echelons theory perspective. *International Review of Financial Analysis*, 70, Article 101499. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.irfa.2020.101499
- Batool, E., Usmani, S., & Rizvi, S. A. A. (2022). Succession planning practices and employee retention: Mediating role of career attitudes. *City University Research Journal*, 12(2), 208–220. https://gjmasuok.com/index.php/gjmas/article/view/81
- Baù, M., Pittino, D., Sieger, P., & Eddleston, K. A. (2020). Careers in family business:

 New avenues for careers and family business research in the 21st century. *Journal*

- of Family Business Strategy, 11(3), Article 100379. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfbs.2020.100379
- Baykal, E. (2019). Turkish type leadership: Sabri Ulker example. *The Journal of Social Science*, *3*(6), 425–438. https://doi.org/10.30520/tjsosci.590000
- Bazzano, L. A., Durant, J., & Brantley, P. R. (2021). A modern history of informed consent and the role of key information. *Ochsner Journal*, 21(1), 81–85. https://doi.org/10.31486/toj.19.0105
- Bearman, M. (2019). Eliciting rich data: A practical approach to writing semi-structured interview schedules. *Focus on Health Professional Education: A Multi-disciplinary Journal*, 20(3), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3316/informit.002757698372666
- Beckett, G. H., & Kobayashi, M. (2020). A meta-study of an ethnographic research in a multicultural and multilingual community: Negotiations, resources, and dilemmas. *American Journal of Qualitative Research*, 4(1), 85–106.

 https://doi.org/10.29333/ajqr/8267
- Beech, N., Devins, D., Gold, J., & Beech, S. (2019). In the family way: An exploration of family business resilience. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, 28(1), 66–82. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOA-02-2019-1674
- Bell, R., & Pham, T. T. (2020). Modelling the knowledge transfer process between founder and successor in Vietnamese family businesses succession. *Journal of Family Business Management*, 11(4), 479–495. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFBM-03-2020-0024

- Bertschi-Michel, A., Kammerlander, N., & Strike, V. M. (2020). Unearthing and alleviating emotions in family business successions. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, 44(1), 81–108. https://doi.org/10.1177/1042258719834016
- Bertschi-Michel, A., Sieger, P., & Kammerlander, N. (2021). Succession in family-owned SMEs: The impact of advisors. *Small Business Economics*, *56*(4), 1531–1551. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-019-00266-2
- Biegajło, M. (2021). The profile of search funds as investors for family businesses in the face of succession crisis in Poland. *Studia i Prace Kolegium Zarządzania i Finansów*, 182, 9–30. https://econjournals.sgh.waw.pl/SiP/article/view/2847
- Bika, Z., Rosa, P., & Karakas, F. (2019). Multilayered socialization processes in transgenerational family firms. *Family Business Review*, *32*(3), 233–258. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894486519827435
- Bleiker, J., Morgan-Trimmer, S., Knapp, K., & Hopkins, S. (2019). Navigating the maze:

 Qualitative research methodologies and their philosophical foundations.

 Radiography, 25, S4–S8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radi.2019.06.008
- Bokhari, I. H., Muhammad, A. B., & Zakaria, N. (2020). Succession planning, strategic flexibility as predictors of business sustainability in family-owned SMEs:

 Moderating role of organization improvisation. *Pakistan Journal of Commerce and Social Sciences*, *14*(1), 368–387.

 https://www.econstor.eu/bitstream/10419/216875/1/4391.pdf
- Bormann, K. C., Backs, S., & Hoon, C. (2021). What makes nonfamily employees act as good stewards? Emotions and the moderating roles of stewardship culture and

- gender roles in family firms. *Family Business Review*, *34*(3), 251–269. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894486520968826
- Botella-Carrubi, M. D., & González-Cruz, T. F. (2019). Context as a provider of key resources for succession: A case study of sustainable family firms. *Sustainability*, 11(7), Article 1873. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11071873
- Buckman, J., Jones, P., & Buame, S. (2020). Passing on the baton: A succession planning framework for family-owned businesses in Ghana. *Journal of Entrepreneurship in Emerging Economies*, 12(2), 259–278. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEEE-11-2018-0124
- Busetto, L., Wick, W., & Gumbinger, C. (2020). How to use and assess qualitative research methods. *Neurological Research and Practice*, 2(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s42466-020-00059-z
- Byrne, J., Fattoum, S., & Thébaud, S. (2019). A suitable boy? Gendered roles and hierarchies in family business succession. *European Management Review*, 16(3), 579–596. https://doi.org/10.1111/emre.12298
- Cakar, K., & Aykol, Ş. (2021). Case study as a research method in hospitality and tourism research: A systematic literature review (1974–2020). *Cornell Hospitality Quarterly*, 62(1), 21–31. https://doi.org/10.1177/1938965520971281
- Campbell, S., Greenwood, M., Prior, S., Shearer, T., Walkem, K., Young, S., Bywaters, D., & Walker, K. (2020). Purposive sampling: complex or simple? Research case examples. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 25(8), 652–661. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744987120927206

- Campopiano, G., Calabrò, A., & Basco, R. (2020). The "most wanted": The role of family strategic resources and family involvement in CEO succession intention.

 Family Business Review, 33(3), 284–309.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0894486520927289
- Candela, A. G. (2019). Exploring the function of member checking. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(3), 619–628. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2019.3726
- Candra Susanto, P., & Henokh Parmenas, N. (2021). Model development of succession planning in subsidiary companies engaged in the insurance industry. *Journal of Economics, Management, Entrepreneurship, and Business*, 1(1), 43–57. https://doi.org/10.52909/jemeb.v1i1.16
- Capili, B. (2021). Selection of the study participants. *American Journal of Nursing*, 121(1), 64–67. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.NAJ.0000731688.58731.05
- Caputo, A., Marzi, G., Pellegrini, M. M., & Rialti, R. (2018). Conflict management in family businesses: A bibliometric analysis and systematic literature review.

 *International Journal of Conflict Management, 29(4), 519–542.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCMA-02-2018-0027
- Caretta, M. A., & Pérez, M. A. (2019). When participants do not agree: Member checking and challenges to epistemic authority in participatory research. *Field Methods*, *31*(4), 359–374. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X19866578
- Carney, M., Zhao, J., & Zhu, L. (2019). Lean innovation: Family firm succession and patenting strategy in a dynamic institutional landscape. *Journal of Family*

- Business Strategy, 10(4), Article 100247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfbs.2018.03.002
- Castleberry, A., & Nolen, A. (2018). Thematic analysis of qualitative research data: Is it as easy as it sounds? *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 10, 807–815. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.03.019
- Cater, J. J., & Young, M. (2022). Successfully preparing daughters as successors in family firms. *Journal of Developmental Entrepreneurship*, 27(3), Article 2250017. https://doi.org/10.1142/S1084946722500170
- Cater, J. J., Young, M., & Alderson, K. (2019). Contributions and constraints to continuity in Mexican-American family firms. *Journal of Family Business Management*, 9(2), 175–200. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFBM-08-2018-0022
- Chahal, H., & Sharma, A. K. (2020). Family business in India: Performance, challenges and improvement measures. *Journal of New Business Ventures*, 1(1), 9–30. https://doi.org/10.1177/2632962X20960824
- Chanchotiyan, N., & Asavanant, K. (2020). The factors of family business successor readiness and how their impact on the business transition from successors' perspectives. *Journal of Administrative and Business Studies*, 6(5), 197–204. https://doi.org/10.20474/jabs-6.5.4
- Chang, A. A., Mubarik, M. S., & Naghavi, N. (2020). Passing on the legacy: Exploring the dynamics of succession in family businesses in Pakistan. *Journal of Family Business Management*, 11(2), 161–184. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFBM-10-2019-0065

- Chang, C. Y., & Besel, K. (2021). Cultivating next generation of healthcare leaders in Havana: Barriers and recommendation for succession planning. *International Journal of Healthcare Management*, *14*(4), 1062–1070.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/20479700.2020.1731174
- Chaudhary, S., Dhir, A., Ferraris, A., & Bertoldi, B. (2021). Trust and reputation in family businesses: A systematic literature review of past achievements and future promises. *Journal of Business Research*, *137*, 143–161.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2021.07.052
- Chen, X., & Wu, Z. (2022). Intergenerational succession mode and selection mechanism of female successors in Chinese family businesses. *International Journal of Research in Business and Social Science*, 11(5), 76–87.

 https://doi.org/10.20525/ijrbs.v11i5.1876
- Chirapanda, S. (2020). Identification of success factors for sustainability in family businesses: Case study method and exploratory research in Japan. *Journal of Family Business Management*, 10(1), 58–75. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFBM-05-2019-0030
- Cho, N., Lee, Y., Kim, J. H., & Yu, G. (2022). Success factor priorities for the succession of family firms. *Contemporary Management Research*, *18*(1), 67–91. https://doi.org/10.7903/cmr.21939
- Chobakhloo, M., Hassan Moradi, N., & Ahmadi, G. (2022). Identifying the components of succession with emphasis on education and examining their status in Tejarat

- Bank. *Iranian Journal of Educational Society*, *15*(1), 235–246. https://doi.or/10.22034/IJES.2022.545676.1226
- Chukwuma, I. O., Abua, B. O., & Ojonugwa, J. (2021). Succession planning; A discourse to refining organizational posterity. *South Asian Research Journal of Business and Management*, *3*(6), 176–184.

 https://doi.org/10.36346/sarjbm.2021.v03i06.006
- Chukwuma-Nwuba, E. O. (2019). Barriers to succession planning in family businesses in professional practice. *Journal of Humanities and Social Science*, 11(6), 1–16.

 https://www.africanscholarpublications.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/HAJHSS_1-16.pdf
- Cisneros, L., Ibanescu, M., Keen, C., Lobato-Calleros, O., & Niebla-Zatarain, J. (2018).

 Bibliometric study of family business succession between 1939 and 2017:

 Mapping and analyzing authors' networks. *Scientometrics*, 117(2), 919–951.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11192-018-2889-1
- Cumyn, A., Ouellet, K., Côté, A. M., Francoeur, C., & St-Onge, C. (2019). Role of researchers in the ethical conduct of research: A discourse analysis from different stakeholder perspectives. *Ethics & Behavior*, 29(8), 621–636.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10508422.2018.1539671
- D'Allura, G. M. (2019). The leading role of the top management team in understanding family firms: Past research and future directions. *Journal of Family Business*Strategy, 10(2), 87–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfbs.2018.12.001

- Daspit, J. J., Chrisman, J. J., Ashton, T., & Evangelopoulos, N. (2021). Family firm heterogeneity: A definition, common themes, scholarly progress, and directions forward. *Family Business Review*, *34*(3), 296–322. https://doi.org/10.1177/08944865211008350
- de Groote, J. K., & Bertschi-Michel, A. (2021). From intention to trust to behavioral trust: Trust building in family business advising. *Family Business Review*, *34*(2), 132–153. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894486520938891
- DeJonckheere, M., & Vaughn, L. M. (2019). Semistructured interviewing in primary care research: A balance of relationship and rigour. *Family Medicine and Community Health*, 7(2), Article e000057. https://doi.org/10.1136/fmch-2018-000057
- Denzin, N. K. (1978). The research act: A theoretical introduction to sociological methods (2nd ed.). McGraw Hill.
- Desarno, J., Perez, M., Rivas, R., Sandate, I., Reed, C., & Fonseca, I. (2021). Succession planning within the health care organization: Human resources management and human capital management considerations. *Nurse Leader*, *19*(4), 411–415. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mnl.2020.08.010
- Dhaenens, A. J., Marler, L. E., Vardaman, J. M., & Chrisman, J. J. (2018). Mentoring in family businesses: Toward an understanding of commitment outcomes. *Human Resource Management Review*, 28(1), 46–55.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2017.05.005
- Dinh, T. Q., & Calabro, A. (2019). Asian family firms through corporate governance and institutions: A systematic review of the literature and agenda for future research.

- International Journal of Management Reviews, 21(1), 50–75. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijmr.12176
- Doborzyński, J., Dułak, E., Kaliszewski, F., Kuna, D., & Macedońska, D. (2019).

 Barriers to the development of family businesses in Poland. *Przedsiębiorstwo we Współczesnej Gospodarce: Teoria i Praktyka*, 2(29), 59–71.

 https://doi.org/10.19253/reme.2019.02.004
- Domanowska, J. (2020). Factors hampering intra-family succession in the company as a barrier to the development of family businesses. *Przedsiębiorczość i Zarządzanie*, 21(4), 105–115. https://www.ceeol.com/search/article-detail?id=1019018
- Durdella, N. (2022). Conducting research with human participants: An IRB guide for students and faculty. SAGE Publications.
- Duréndez, A., Madrid-Guijarro, A., & Hernández-Cánovas, G. (2019). Do family firms' specific governance mechanisms moderate the cost of debt? *Australian Accounting Review*, 29(1), 49–63. https://doi.org/10.1111/auar.12217
- Dyar, K. L. (2022). Qualitative inquiry in nursing: Creating rigor. *Nursing Forum*, 57(1), 187–200. https://doi.org/10.1111/nuf.12661
- Dzwigol, H. (2020). Methodological and empirical platform of triangulation in strategic management. *Academy of Strategic Management Journal*, 19(4), 1–8.
- Eby, L. T., & Robertson, M. M. (2020). The psychology of workplace mentoring relationships. *Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior*, 7, 75–100. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-012119-044924

- Eeckhout, D., Aelbrecht, K., & Van Der Straeten, C. (2022). Informed consent: Research staff's perspectives and practical recommendations to improve research staff-participant communication. *Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1177/15562646221146043
- Ejupi-Ibrahimi, A., Ramadani, V., & Ejupi, D. (2020). Family businesses in North

 Macedonia: Evidence on the second generation motivation and entrepreneurial

 mindset. *Journal of Family Business Management*, 11(3), 286–299.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/JFBM-06-2020-0047
- Elliott, R., & Timulak, L. (2021). Essentials of descriptive-interpretive qualitative research: A generic approach. American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/0000224-000
- Emile, S. H. (2021). Interactive platform for peer review: A proposal to improve the current peer review system. *World Journal of Clinical Cases*, 9(6), 1247–1250. https://doi.org/10.12998/wjcc.v9.i6.1247
- Erdogan, I., Rondi, E., & De Massis, A. (2020). Managing the tradition and innovation paradox in family firms: A family imprinting perspective. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, 44(1), 20–54. https://doi.org/10.1177/1042258719839712
- Eze, N. L., Nordqvist, M., Samara, G., & Parada, M. J. (2021). Different strokes for different folks: The roles of religion and tradition for transgenerational entrepreneurship in family businesses. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, 45(4), 792–837. https://doi.org/10.1177/1042258720964428

- Fàbregues, S., & Fetters, M. D. (2019). Fundamentals of case study research in family medicine and community health. *Family Medicine and Community Health*, 7(2). Article e000074. https://doi.org/10.1136/fmch-2018-000074
- Farquhar, J., Michels, N., & Robson, J. (2020). Triangulation in industrial qualitative case study research: Widening the scope. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 87, 160–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2020.02.001
- Farrugia, B. (2019). WASP (write a scientific paper): Sampling in qualitative research.

 Early Human Development, 133, 69–71.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2019.03.016
- Fathi, R., Thom, D., Koch, S., Ertl, T., & Fiedrich, F. (2020). VOST: A case study in voluntary digital participation for collaborative emergency management. *Information Processing & Management*, 57(4), Article 102174.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ipm.2019.102174
- Fendri, C., & Nguyen, P. (2019). Secrets of succession: How one family business reached the ninth generation. *Journal of Business Strategy*, 40(5), 12–20. https://doi.org/10.1108/JBS-08-2018-0130
- Ferrari, F. (2019). In the mother's shadow: Exploring power dynamics in family business succession. *Gender in Management: An International Journal*, *34*(2), 121–139. https://doi.org/10.1108/GM-07-2017-0091
- Filipović, M. B. (2021). Corporate governance of family businesses in Croatia. *Central European Journal of Comparative Law*, 2(1), 9–27.

 https://doi.org/10.47078/2021.1.9-27

- FitzPatrick, B. (2019). Validity in qualitative health education research. *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 11(2), 211–217.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.11.014
- Freiling, J., & Pöschl, A. (2020). Family-external business succession: The case of management buy-ins. *Journal of Small Business & Entrepreneurship*, 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1080/08276331.2020.1771812
- Fries, A., Kammerlander, N., & Leitterstorf, M. (2021). Leadership styles and leadership behaviors in family firms: A systematic literature review. *Journal of Family Business Strategy*, *12*(1), Article 100374.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfbs.2020.100374
- Fusch, P., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2018). Denzin's paradigm shift: Revisiting triangulation in qualitative research. *Journal of Social Change*, 10(1), 19–32. https://doi.org/10.5590/JOSC.2018.10.1.02
- Fusch, P., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(9), 1408–1416. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2015.2281
- Gadwal, A. A. (2022). Qualitative research for social sciences. Lulu Publication.
- Gagné, M., Marwick, C., Brun de Pontet, S., & Wrosch, C. (2021). Family business succession: What's motivation got to do with it? *Family Business Review*, 34(2), 154–167. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894486519894759
- Gani, A., Imtiaz, N., Rathakrishnan, M., & Krishnasamy, H. N. (2020). A pilot test for establishing validity and reliability of qualitative interview in the blended learning

- English proficiency course. *Journal of Critical Reviews*, 7(05), 140–143. http://dx.doi.org/10.31838/jcr.07.05.23
- Ge, J., & Micelotta, E. (2019). When does the family matter? Institutional pressures and corporate philanthropy in China. *Organization Studies*, 40(6), 833–857. https://doi.org/10.1177/0170840619836709
- Gemu, A. A., Bugaje, I. B., Adamu, A. A., & Sahnuoon, L. (2022). Leadership succession and privately-owned family businesses: Literature review.

 *International Journal of Intellectual Discourse, 5(2), 112–124.

 https://ijidjournal.org/index.php/ijid/article/view/237
- George, B., Walker, R. M., & Monster, J. (2019). Does strategic planning improve organizational performance? A meta-analysis. *Public Administration Review*, 79(6), 810–819. https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.13104
- Ghazali, M. T., Ghani, M. A., & Rahman, S. A. A. (2022). Measuring the success metric for effective succession planning: The conceptual perspective. *International Journal of Human Resource Studies*, 12(1), 42–55.
 https://doi.org/10.5296/ijhrs.v12i1.19371
- Giang, H. T. T., & Dung, L. T. (2021). Transformational leadership and non-family employee intrapreneurial behaviour in family-owned firms: The mediating role of adaptive culture and psychological empowerment. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 42(8), 1185–1205. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-03-2021-0116
- Goodrick, D. (2020). Comparative case studies. SAGE.

- Grady, C. (2019). Bioethics in the oversight of clinical research: institutional review boards and data and safety monitoring boards. *Kennedy Institute of Ethics Journal*, 29(1), 33–49. https://doi.org/10.1353/ken.2019.0009
- Gray, D. E. (2021). Doing research in the real world. SAGE Publications.
- Gunawan, J., Marzilli, C., & Aungsuroch, Y. (2022). Online ,chatting' interviews: An acceptable method for qualitative data collection. *Belitung Nursing Journal*, 8(4), 277–279. https://doi.org/10.33546/bnj.2252
- Hackley, C. (2019). Qualitative research in marketing and management: Doing interpretive research projects. Routledge.
- Hair, J. F., Page, M., & Brunsveld, N. (2019). Essentials of business research methods.

 Routledge.
- Hambrick, D. C., & Mason, P. A. (1984). Upper echelons: The organization as a reflection of its top managers. *Academy of Management Review*, 9(2), 193–206. https://doi.org/10.2307/258434
- Hamilton, J. B. (2020). Rigor in qualitative methods: An evaluation of strategies among underrepresented rural communities. *Qualitative Health Research*, 30(2), 196–204. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732319860267
- Hamilton, L. A., Ruel, S., & Thomas, J. (2021). Prim 'a' geniture: Gender bias and daughter successors of entrepreneurial family businesses. Feminist Encounters: A Journal of Critical Studies in Culture and Politics, 5(2), Article 29.
 https://doi.org/10.20897/femenc/11166

- Hanafizadeh, P., & Shaikh, A. A. (2021). Developing doctoral students'/researchers' understanding of the journal peer-review process. *The International Journal of Management Education*, 19(2), Article 100500.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijme.2021.100500
- Hancock, D. R., Algozzine, B., & Lim, J. H. (2021). *Doing case study research: A practical guide for beginning researchers*. Teachers College Press.
- Hanson, S. K., & Keplinger, K. (2021). The balance that sustains benedictines: Family entrepreneurship across generations. *Entrepreneurship & Regional Development*, 33(5), 442–456. https://doi.org/10.1080/08985626.2020.1727092
- Haran, V. V., & Jeyaraj, A. (2019). Organizational e-mentoring and learning: An exploratory study. *Information Resources Management Journal*, 32(1), 58–72. https://doi.org/10.4018/IRMJ.2019010104
- Hayashi, P., Jr., Abib, G., & Hoppen, N. (2019). Validity in qualitative research: A processual approach. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(1), 98–112. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2019.3443
- Hennink, M., Hutter, I., & Bailey, A. (2020). Qualitative research methods. Sage.
- Herrero, I. (2018). How familial is family social capital? Analyzing bonding social capital in family and nonfamily firms. *Family Business Review*, *31*(4), 441–459. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894486518784475
- Hidayati, A., Hermawan, A., & Soehadi, A. W. (2020). Intra-family succession insights:

 The presence of millennial cohort successors. *Journal of Family Business Management*, 11(1), 107–135. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFBM-07-2019-0052

- Hiebl, M. R., & Li, Z. (2020). Non-family managers in family firms: Review, integrative framework and future research agenda. *Review of Managerial Science*, *14*(4), 763–807. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11846-018-0308-x
- Hillen, C., & Lavarda, C. E. F. (2019). Budget and life cycle in family business in succession process. *Revista Contabilidade & Finanças*, 31, 212–227. https://doi.org/10.1590/1808-057x201909600
- Hosseini, S. H., Barzoki, A. S., & Isfahani, A. N. (2018). Analysis of the effects of succession planning implementation on organisational performance. *International Journal of Productivity and Quality Management*, 25(2), 198–211. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJPQM.2018.094762
- Hous, M. D. D., Allameh, S. M., & Safari, A. (2018). A comprehensive model for implementing succession management system: A grounded theory approach. *International Journal of Business Excellence*, 16(3), 362–383. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJBEX.2018.095637
- Humphrey, R. H., Massis, A. D., Picone, P. M., Tang, Y., & Piccolo, R. F. (2021). The psychological foundations of management in family firms: Emotions, memories, and experiences. *Family Business Review*, 34(2), 122–131.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/08944865211012139
- Husien, S., Kirana, K. C., & Hermuningsih, S. (2019). Falling down the kingdom:
 Culture and tradition on family business succession. *Review of Behavioral Aspect*in Organizations and Society, 1(1), 95–108.
 https://doi.org/10.32770/rbaos.vol195-108

- Huynh, G. T. T. (2021). The effect of transformational leadership on nonfamily international intrapreneurship behavior in family firms: The mediating role of psychological empowerment. *Journal of Asian Business and Economic Studies*, 28(3), 204–225. https://doi.org/10.1108/JABES-04-2021-0047
- Iaia, L., Vrontis, D., Maizza, A., Fait, M., Scorrano, P., & Cavallo, F. (2019). Family businesses, corporate social responsibility, and websites: The strategies of Italian wine firms in talking to stakeholders. *British Food Journal*, 121(7), 1442–1466.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/BFJ-07-2018-0445
- Ifekwem, N. E., Olabosinde, S. T., & Amuah, O. O. (2021). Sibling rivalry and succession planning in family business in Nigeria. *The Pacific Journal of Science and Technology*, 22(2), 130–136.
- Irshaidat, R. (2019). Interpretivism vs. positivism in political marketing research. *Journal of Political Marketing*, 21(2), 126–160. https://doi.org/10.1080/15377857.2019.1624286
- Izadi Shahnani, F., Shahlaee, J., & Honari, H. (2022). The approach of senior managers of sport in implementing the system of succession planning and management.

 Journal of Sport Management, 14(1), 30–46.

 https://doi.org/10.22059/jsm.2019.255272.2060
- Jackson, B. A., & Allen, S. (2022). Succession planning for senior leaders: Is it always a good idea? *International Journal of Educational Management*, *36*(5), 800–811. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJEM-12-2020-0576

- Jackson, N. C., & Dunn-Jensen, L. M. (2021). Leadership succession planning for today's digital transformation economy: Key factors to build for competency and innovation. *Business Horizons*, 64(2), 273–284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2020.11.008
- Jiménez, T. R., & Orozco, M. (2021). Prompts, not questions: Four techniques for crafting better interview protocols. *Qualitative Sociology*, 44(4), 507–528. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11133-021-09483-2
- Jindal, P., & Shaikh, M. (2021). Talent retention: A mediator of the relationship between talent management strategies and succession planning. *Asian Academy of Management Journal*, 26(2), 117–142. https://doi.org/10.21315/aamj2021.26.2.6
- Johnson, J. L., Adkins, D., & Chauvin, S. (2020). A review of the quality indicators of rigor in qualitative research. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 84(1), Article 7120. https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe7120
- Josephson, A., & Smale, M. (2021). What do you mean by "informed consent"? Ethics in economic development research. *Applied Economic Perspectives and Policy*, 43(4), 1305–1329. https://doi.org/10.1002/aepp.13112
- Kabir, A., Ekanem, E. U. U., & Jinadu, O. M. (2021). Case study approach to conducting and designing qualitative investigation for business researchers. *American Journal of Multidisciplinary Research in Africa*, 1(1), 1–12.

 https://www.mprijournals.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/ABISO%20ET%20AL.pdf

- Kamener, D., Rashid, N. A., Husin, N. A., & Irda, I. (2022). Technology adoption in mediating the effect of leadership succession on family business sustainability in West Sumatra. *KnE Social Sciences*, 7(6), 213–225. https://doi.org/10.18502/kss.v7i6.10624
- Kammerlander, N. (2022). Family business and business family questions in the 21st century: Who develops SEW, how do family members create value, and who belongs to the family? *Journal of Family Business Strategy*, *13*(2), Article 100470. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfbs.2021.100470
- Kandade, K., Samara, G., Parada, M. J., & Dawson, A. (2021). From family successors to successful business leaders: A qualitative study of how high-quality relationships develop in family businesses. *Journal of Family Business Strategy*, *12*(2), Article 100334. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfbs.2019.100334
- Keerio, N., Ahmad, A. R., & Abbas, Z. (2022). Integrated model of organisational culture and succession planning in the context of higher education institutions: A brief review. *International Journal of Services and Operations Management*, 42(2), 281–293. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJSOM.2022.123352
- Kelleci, R., Lambrechts, F., Voordeckers, W., & Huybrechts, J. (2019). CEO personality:

 A different perspective on the nonfamily versus family CEO debate. *Family Business Review*, 32(1), 31–57. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894486518811222
- King, D. R., Meglio, O., Gomez-Mejia, L., Bauer, F., & De Massis, A. (2022). Family business restructuring: A review and research agenda. *Journal of Management Studies*, 59(1), 197–235. https://doi.org/10.1111/joms.12717

- Kinnebrew, E., Shoffner, E., Farah-Pérez, A., Mills-Novoa, M., & Siegel, K. (2021).

 Approaches to interdisciplinary mixed methods research in land-change science and environmental management. *Conservation Biology*, *35*(1), 130–141.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.13642
- Kiwia, R. H., Bengesi, K. M., & Ndyetabula, D. W. (2019). Succession planning and performance of family-owned small and medium enterprises in Arusha City—

 Tanzania. *Journal of Family Business Management*, 10(3), 213–230.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/JFBM-03-2019-0018
- Koładkiewicz, I. (2021). Potential exit strategies: The perspective of entrepreneurs from family businesses and non-family businesses. *Przegląd Organizacji*, 8, 3–10. https://doi.org/10.33141/po.2021.8.01
- Koneru, G., Rao, N. S., Swapna, B., & Sai, T. S. R. (2020). Using qualitative research methods to identify problems faced by adolescent girls in rural Andhra Pradesh. *International Journal of Community Medicine and Public Health*, 7(10), 3968–3975. http://dx.doi.org/10.18203/2394-6040.ijcmph20204362
- Kotlarz, D. (2019a). Managing the succession process in a family business: Case study of the Kotlarz family plant production company. *Zeszyty Naukowe Politechniki*Częstochowskiej, 36, 67–82. https://doi.org/10.17512/znpcz.2019.4.06
- Kotlarz, M. (2019b). A comparison of family business and social enterprise organizational cultures. Zeszyty Naukowe Politechniki Częstochowskiej, 36, 83– 99. https://doi.org/10.17512/znpcz.2019.4.07

- Kowo, S. A., Akinrinola, O. O., & Akinbola, O. A. (2021). Management succession and entrepreneurship business sustenance. *RUDN Journal of Public Administration*, 8(3), 256–276. https://doi.org/10.22363/2312-8313-2021-8-3-256-276
- Kubíček, A., Dofkova, L., & Machek, O. (2021). Advice-seeking process in family businesses: a qualitative study. *Journal of Family Business Management*, 11(1), 19–31. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFBM-07-2019-0048
- Kubíček, A., & Machek, O. (2019). Gender-related factors in family business succession:

 A systematic literature review. *Review of Managerial Science*, *13*(5), 963–1002.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11846-018-0278-z
- Lanka, E., Lanka, S., Rostron, A., & Singh, P. (2021). Why we need qualitative research in management studies. *Revista de Administração Contemporânea*, 25(2), Article e200297. https://doi.org/10.1590/1982-7849rac2021200297.en
- Lau, W. K., Pham, L. N., & Nguyen, L. D. (2019). Remapping the construct of paternalistic leadership. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 40(7), 764–776. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-01-2019-0028
- Lauto, G., Pittino, D., & Visintin, F. (2020). Satisfaction of entrepreneurs: A comparison between founders and family business successors. *Journal of Small Business*Management, 58(3), 474–510. https://doi.org/10.1080/00472778.2019.1660937
- LeCounte, J. F. (2022). Founder-CEOs: Succession planning for the success, growth, and legacy of family firms. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 60(3), 616–633. https://doi.org/10.1080/00472778.2020.1725814

- Lee, J. S., Zhao, G., & Lu, F. (2019a). The effect of value congruence between founder and successor on successor's willingness: The mediating role of the founder–successor relationship. *Family Business Review*, 32(3), 259–276. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894486519840248
- Lee, K., Makri, M., & Scandura, T. (2019b). The effect of psychological ownership on corporate entrepreneurship: Comparisons between family and nonfamily top management team members. *Family Business Review*, 32(1), 10–30. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894486518785847
- Leopizzi, R., Pizzi, S., & D'Addario, F. (2021). The relationship among family business, corporate governance, and firm performance: An empirical assessment in the tourism sector. *Administrative Sciences*, 11(1), Article 8.

 https://doi.org/10.3390/admsci11010008
- Lester, J. N., Cho, Y., & Lochmiller, C. R. (2020). Learning to do qualitative data analysis: A starting point. *Human Resource Development Review*, *19*(1), 94–106. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534484320903890
- Letonja, M., & Duh, M. (2020). Family businesses' culture and innovativeness of successors. *Journal of Innovative Business and Management*, 12(2), 57–69. https://doi.org/10.32015/JIBM.2020.12.2.6.57-69
- Lévesque, M., & Subramanian, A. M. (2022). Family firm succession through the lens of technology intelligence. *Journal of Family Business Strategy*, 13(2), Article 100485. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfbs.2022.100485

- Li, Y. (2022). The influence of family governance on the value of Chinese family businesses: Signal transmission effect of financial performance. *Economies*, 10(3), Article 63. https://doi.org/10.3390/economies10030063
- Llanos-Contreras, O., Baier-Fuentes, H., & González-Serrano, M. H. (2021). Direct and indirect effects of SEWi, family human capital and social capital on organizational social capital in small family firms. *International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal*, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11365-020-00725-3
- Lo, F. Y., Rey-Martí, A., & Botella-Carrubi, D. (2020). Research methods in business:

 Quantitative and qualitative comparative analysis. *Journal of Business Research*,

 115, 221–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.05.003
- Lobe, B., Morgan, D., & Hoffman, K. A. (2020). Qualitative data collection in an era of social distancing. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 19, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406920937875
- Lu, F., Kwan, H. K., & Ma, B. (2022). Carry the past into the future: The effects of CEO temporal focus on succession planning in family firms. *Asia Pacific Journal of Management*, 39(2), 763–804. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10490-020-09748-4
- Lu, F., Kwan, H. K., & Zhu, Z. (2021). The effects of family firm CEO traditionality on successor choice: The moderating role of socioemotional wealth. *Family Business Review*, *34*(2), 213-234. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894486520967832
- Lumpkin, G. T., & Bacq, S. (2022). Family business, community embeddedness, and civic wealth creation. *Journal of Family Business Strategy*, *13*(2), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfbs.2021.100469

- Lušňáková, Z., Juríčková, Z., Šajbidorová, M., & Lenčéšová, S. (2019). Succession as a sustainability factor of family business in Slovakia. *Equilibrium. Quarterly Journal of Economics and Economic Policy*, 14(3), 503–520. https://doi.org/10.24136/eq.2019.024
- Madarasiné Szirmai, A., & Németh, K. (2019). Coaching and mentoring at family businesses in process of transition. *Prosperitas*, 6(1), 76–101.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.31570/Prosp_2019_01_4
- Magasi, C. (2022). Investigation of successor selection determinants and their effect on family business survival. *African Journal of Applied Research*, 7(2), 57–70. https://doi.org/10.26437/ajar.10.2021.05
- Mahat-Shamir, M., Neimeyer, R. A., & Pitcho-Prelorentzos, S. (2021). Designing indepth semi-structured interviews for revealing meaning reconstruction after loss.

 Death Studies, 45(2), 83–90. https://doi.org/10.1080/07481187.2019.1617388
- Mahto, R. V., Cavazos, D. E., Calabrò, A., & Vanevenhoven, J. P. (2021). CEO succession game in family firms: Owners vs. advisors. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/00472778.2021.1934851
- Majzel, A., & Byczkowska, M. (2019). The position of the family business in the economy. *Zeszyty Naukowe Polskiego Towarzystwa Ekonomicznego w Zielonej Górze*, 10, 117–128. https://doi.org/10.26366/PTE.ZG.2019.153
- Mariotti, S., Marzano, R., & Piscitello, L. (2021). The role of family firms' generational heterogeneity in the entry mode choice in foreign markets. *Journal of Business Research*, *132*, 800–812. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.10.064

- Marques, A. P., & Silva, L. A. (2020). Portuguese and Brazilian family business: In between urgency and delay perceptions in the succession process. *European Journal of Social Sciences*, 3(2), 43–54. https://doi.org/10.26417/ejss.v3i2.p43-54
- Marques, I. C. P., Leitão, J., Ferreira, J., & Cavalcanti, A. (2023). The socioemotional wealth of leaders in family firm succession and corporate governance processes: a systematic literature review. *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behavior & Research*, 29(1), 268–295. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJEBR-01-2022-0092
- Martin, C. M., & O'Shea, K. (2021). Succession planning for organizational stability.

 *Nursing Management, 52(4), 12–20.

 https://doi.org/10.1097/01.NUMA.0000737612.48252.0a
- Martini, L. K. B., & Dewi, I. G. A. M. (2020). The effect of successor characteristics on succession planning. *Jurnal Aplikasi Manajemen*, 18(1), 113–121. http://dx.doi.org/10.21776/ub.jam.2020.018.01.11
- Martino, P., Rigolini, A., & D'Onza, G. (2020). The relationships between CEO characteristics and strategic risk-taking in family firms. *Journal of Risk Research*, 23(1), 95–116. https://doi.org/10.1080/13669877.2018.1517380
- McAdam, M., Clinton, E., & Dibrell, C. (2020). Navigation of the paradoxical landscape of the family business. *International Small Business Journal*, *38*(3), 139–153. https://doi.org/10.1177/0266242619898610
- McDonald, N., Schoenebeck, S., & Forte, A. (2019). Reliability and inter-rater reliability in qualitative research: Norms and guidelines for CSCW and HCI practice.

- Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction, 3, 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1145/3359174
- McGrath, C., Palmgren, P. J., & Liljedahl, M. (2019). Twelve tips for conducting qualitative research interviews. *Medical Teacher*, 41(9), 1002–1006. https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2018.1497149
- Mendez, O. J. M., & Maciel, A. S. (2020). Dark side of the family business: An exploratory perspective. *Journal of Family Business Management*, 11(4), 386–401. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFBM-07-2020-0065
- Miroshnychenko, I., De Massis, A., Miller, D., & Barontini, R. (2021). Family business growth around the world. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, 45(4), 682–708. https://doi.org/10.1177/1042258720913028
- Mismetti, M., Rondi, E., & Bettinelli, C. (2022). Family business system dynamics in the aftermath of in-law entry: A reflection on emotions and strategic change. *Long Range Planning*, Article 102250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lrp.2022.102250
- Molina-Azorin, J. F., & Fetters, M. D. (2019). Building a better world through mixed methods research. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, *13*(3), 275–281. https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689819855864
- Moon, M. D. (2019). Triangulation: A method to increase validity, reliability, and legitimation in clinical research. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, 45(1), 103–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jen.2018.11.004

- Moriña, A. (2021). When people matter: The ethics of qualitative research in the health and social sciences. *Health & Social Care in the Community*, 29(5), 1559–1565. https://doi.org/10.1111/hsc.13221
- Motulsky, S. L. (2021). Is member checking the gold standard of quality in qualitative research? *Qualitative Psychology*, 8(3), 389–406.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000215
- Mullen, C. A., & Klimaitis, C. C. (2021). Defining mentoring: A literature review of issues, types, and applications. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1483(1), 19–35. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.14176
- Mussolino, D., Cicellin, M., Iacono, M. P., Consiglio, S., & Martinez, M. (2019).
 Daughters' self-positioning in family business succession: A narrative inquiry.
 Journal of Family Business Strategy, 10(2), 72–86.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfbs.2019.01.003
- Mweshi, G. K., & Sakyi, K. (2020). Application of sampling methods for the research design. *Archives of Business Research*, 8(11), 180–193. https://doi.org/10.14738/abr.811.9042
- Nagai, H., Nakazawa, E., & Akabayashi, A. (2022). The creation of the Belmont Report and its effect on ethical principles: A historical study. *Monash Bioethics Review*, 40(2), 157–170. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40592-022-00165-5
- Najam ul Hassan, S., & Siddiqui, D. A. (2020). Impact of effective succession planning practices on employee retention: Exploring the mediating roles. *International*

Journal of Human Resource Studies, 10(2), 21–55.

http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3556924

Nandi, R., Singh, G., & Talib, P. (2019). Succession in family business: Sharing the cognitive map. *Paradigm*, 23(1), 53–69.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0971890719836525

- Nassaji, H. (2020). Good qualitative research. *Language Teaching Research*, 24(4), 427–431. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362168820941288
- Natow, R. S. (2020). The use of triangulation in qualitative studies employing elite interviews. *Qualitative Research*, 20(2), 160–173. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794119830077
- Nazer, J. R., & Llorca-Jaña, M. (2022). Succession in large nineteenth-century Chilean family businesses. *Business History*, *64*(3), 511–536. https://doi.org/10.1080/00076791.2020.1717471
- Neely, B. H., Jr., Lovelace, J. B., Cowen, A. P., & Hiller, N. J. (2020). Metacritiques of upper echelons theory: Verdicts and recommendations for future research.
 Journal of Management, 46(6), 1029–1062.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206320908640
- Ng, H. C., Tan, J. D., Sugiarto, S., Widjaja, A. W., & Pramono, R. (2021). Too big to fail: Succession challenge in large family businesses. *The Journal of Asian Finance, Economics and Business*, 8(1), 199–206.

 https://doi.org/10.13106/jafeb.2021.vol8.no1.199

- Ngulube, P. (2021). Handbook of research on mixed methods research in information science. IGI Global.
- Nguyen, D. J., Mathuews, K., Herron, A., Troyer, R., Graman, Z., Goode, W. A., & Moss, M. (2019). Learning to become a scholar-practitioner through research experiences. *Journal of Student Affairs Research and Practice*, *56*(4), 365–378. https://doi.org/10.1080/19496591.2019.1611591
- Niemimaa, M., Järveläinen, J., Heikkilä, M., & Heikkilä, J. (2019). Business continuity of business models: Evaluating the resilience of business models for contingencies. *International Journal of Information Management*, 49, 208–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2019.04.010
- Noble, H., & Heale, R. (2019). Triangulation in research, with examples. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, 22(3), 67–68. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/ebnurs-2019-103145
- Nosek, B. A., Banaji, M. R., & Greenwald, A. G. (2022). E-research: Ethics, security, design, and control in psychological research on the Internet. *Journal of Social Issues*, 58(1), 161–176. https://doi.org/10.1111/1540-4560.00254
- Nwanna-Nzewunwa, O. C., Ajiko, M. M., Motwani, G., Kabagenyi, F., Carvalho, M., Feldhaus, I., Kirya, F., Epodoi, J., Dicker, R., & Juillard, C. (2019). Identifying information gaps in a surgical capacity assessment tool for developing countries:
 A methodological triangulation approach. World Journal of Surgery, 43(5), 1185–1192. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00268-019-04911-5

- Obianuju, A. A., Ibrahim, U. A., & Zubairu, U. M. (2021). Succession planning as a critical management imperative: A systematic review. *Modern Management Review*, 26(4), 69–92. https://doi.org/10.7862/rz.2021.mmr.26
- Okoro, C., & Iheanachor, N. (2020). Talent management and succession planning in traditional Igbo businesses. *Indigenous African Enterprise*, 26, 73–89. https://doi.org/10.1108/S1877-636120200000026006
- Olubiyi, O., Lawal, A. T., & Adeoye, O. O. (2022). Succession planning and family business continuity: Perspectives from Lagos State, Nigeria. *Organization and Human Capital Development*, 1(1), 40–52.

 https://doi.org/10.31098/orcadev.v1i1.865
- Omotunde, O. I., & Alegbeleye, G. O. (2021). Talent management practices and job performance of librarians in university libraries in Nigeria. *The Journal of Academic Librarianship*, 47(2), Article 102319.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acalib.2021.102319
- Oudah, M., Jabeen, F., & Dixon, C. (2018). Determinants linked to family business sustainability in the UAE: An AHP approach. *Sustainability*, *10*(1), Article 246. https://doi.org/10.3390/su10010246
- Pandey, P., & Pandey, M. M. (2021). Research methodology tools and techniques. Bridge Center.
- Parada, M. J., Samara, G., Dawson, A., & Bonet, E. (2019). Prosperity over time and across generations: The role of values and virtues in family businesses. *Journal of*

Organizational Change Management, *33*(4), 639–654. https://doi.org/10.1108/JOCM-11-2018-0341

- Park, Y. S., Konge, L., & Artino, A. R. (2020). The positivism paradigm of research.

 **Academic Medicine*, 95(5), 690–694.

 https://doi.org/10.1097/ACM.00000000000003093
- Paul, J., & Criado, A. R. (2020). The art of writing literature review: What do we know and what do we need to know? *International Business Review*, 29(4), Article 101717. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibusrev.2020.101717
- Paul, J., Lim, W. M., O'Cass, A., Hao, A. W., & Bresciani, S. (2021). Scientific procedures and rationales for systematic literature reviews (SPAR-4-SLR). *International Journal of Consumer Studies*, 45(4), 1–16.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/ijcs.12695
- Peel, K. L. (2020). A beginner's guide to applied educational research using thematic analysis. *Practical Assessment, Research, and Evaluation*, 25(1), Article 2. https://doi.org/10.7275/ryr5-k983
- Pellegrini, M. M., Ciampi, F., Marzi, G., & Orlando, B. (2020). The relationship between knowledge management and leadership: Mapping the field and providing future research avenues. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 24(6), 1445–1492. https://doi.org/10.1108/JKM-01-2020-0034
- Pessoa, A. S. G., Harper, E., Santos, I. S., & Gracino, M. C. D. S. (2019). Using reflexive interviewing to foster deep understanding of research participants' perspectives.

- International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 18, Article 1609406918825026. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918825026
- Phillips, L. K. (2021). Succession planning in nursing education. *Nursing Outlook*, 69(1), 32–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.outlook.2020.08.004
- Popli, M., Ahsan, F. M., & Mukherjee, D. (2022). Upper echelons and firm internationalization: A critical review and future directions. *Journal of Business Research*, 152, 505–521. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2022.07.048
- Porfírio, J. A., Carrilho, T., Hassid, J., & Rodrigues, R. (2019). Family business succession in different national contexts: A Fuzzy-Set QCA approach.

 Sustainability, 11(22), Article 6309. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11226309
- Porfírio, J. A., Felício, J. A., & Carrilho, T. (2020). Family business succession: Analysis of the drivers of success based on entrepreneurship theory. *Journal of Business Research*, 115, 250–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.11.054
- Pourmohammadshahini, K., & Ranjbar, M. (2019). Identifying decision-making styles and components of succession planning capabilities and examine their relationship. *Petroleum Business Review*, *3*(4), 55–62.

 https://doi.org/10.22050/pbr.2019.118620
- Powell, T. C. (2020). Can quantitative research solve social problems? Pragmatism and the ethics of social research. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *167*(1), 41–48. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-019-04196-7
- Pritchard, I. A. (2021). Framework for the ethical conduct of research: The ethical principles of the Belmont Report. In S. Panicker & B. Stanley (Eds.), *Handbook*

- of research ethics in psychological science (pp. 3–21). American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/0000258-001
- Prusiecka-Sobczak, P. (2020). Securing assets in case of death. *Budownictwo i Prawo*, 23(4), 37–39. https://yadda.icm.edu.pl/yadda/element/bwmeta1.element.baztech-06f266fc-8320-4275-a744-0a99ad4d396c
- Purwandari, G. A., Sari, E. D. P., & Puspitasari, I. (2022). Students' perception on the implementation of English hybrid classes in Islamic University and National University in Indonesia. *INSANIA: Jurnal Pemikiran Alternatif Kependidikan*, 27(2), 160–171. https://doi.org/10.24090/insania.v27i2.6787
- Querbach, S., Waldkirch, M., & Kammerlander, N. (2022). Benefitting from benefits—A comparison of employee satisfaction in family and non-family firms. *Journal of Family Business Strategy*, *13*(2), Article 100351.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfbs.2020.100351
- Quickfall, A. (2022). Reflecting on ethical processes and dilemmas in doctoral research. *Education Sciences*, 12(11), Article 751. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci12110751
- Rajagani, V. (2019). Review of succession planning research. *Management Research Journal*, 8, 58–65. https://doi.org/10.37134/mrj.vol8.5.2019
- Rashid, Y., Rashid, A., Warraich, M. A., Sabir, S. S., & Waseem, A. (2019). Case study method: A step-by-step guide for business researchers. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18, Article 1609406919862424.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919862424

- Raziq, M. M., Benito, G. R., & Igoe, J. (2020). Subsidiary country managers and subsidiary development: Upper echelons and resource-based perspectives.

 German Journal of Human Resource Management, 34(3), 291–323.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/2397002219898184
- Razzak, M. R., & Jassem, S. (2019). Socioemotional wealth and performance in private family firms: The mediation effect of family commitment. *Journal of Family Business Management*, 9(4), 468–496. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFBM-05-2019-0035
- Reisoğlu, İ., & Çebi, A. (2020). How can the digital competences of pre-service teachers be developed? Examining a case study through the lens of DigComp and DigCompEdu. *Computers & Education*, *156*, Article 103940.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2020.103940
- Renjith, V., Yesodharan, R., Noronha, J. A., Ladd, E., & George, A. (2021). Qualitative methods in health care research. *International Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 12(20, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.4103/ijpvm.IJPVM_321_19
- Reuber, A. R., & Fischer, E. (2022). Putting qualitative international business research in context (s). *Journal of International Business Studies*, 53(1), 27–38. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41267-021-00478-3
- Roberts, R. E. (2020). Qualitative interview questions: Guidance for novice researchers.

 Qualitative Report, 25(9), 3185–3203. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2020.4640

- Roffia, P., Moracchiato, S., Liguori, E., & Kraus, S. (2021). Operationally defining family SMEs: A critical review. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 28(2), 229–260. https://doi.org/10.1108/JSBED-11-2020-0399
- Rose, J., & Johnson, C. W. (2020). Contextualizing reliability and validity in qualitative research: toward more rigorous and trustworthy qualitative social science in leisure research. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 51(4), 432–451.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00222216.2020.1722042
- Ross, P. T., & Bibler Zaidi, N. L. (2019). Limited by our limitations. *Perspectives on Medical Education*, 8(4), 261–264. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-019-00530-x
- Rothwell, W. (2015). Effective succession planning: Ensuring leadership continuity and building talent from within (5th ed.). Amacom.
- Rothwell, W. J., & Prescott, R. K. (2022). Succession planning for small and family businesses: Navigating successful transitions. CRC Press.
- Roulston, K. (2021). *Interviewing: A guide to theory and practice*. SAGE Publications.
- Rovelli, P., Ferasso, M., De Massis, A., & Kraus, S. (2021). Thirty years of research in family business journals: Status quo and future directions. *Journal of Family Business Strategy*, 13(3), Article 100422. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfbs.2021.100422
- Rumanko, B., Lušňáková, Z., Moravanská, M., & Šajbidorová, M. (2021). Succession as a risk process in the survival of a family business—Case of Slovakia. *Journal of Risk and Financial Management*, *14*(10), Article 458.

 https://doi.org/10.3390/jrfm14100458

- Ruslin, R., Mashuri, S., Rasak, M. S. A., Alhabsyi, F., & Syam, H. (2022). Semi-structured interview: A methodological reflection on the development of a qualitative research instrument in educational studies. *IOSR Journal of Research* & *Method in Education*, *12*(1), 22–29. https://doi.org/10.9790/7388-1201052229
- Rychta, B. (2022). The role of mentoring in next generations' knowledge acquisition in a family business. *Entrepreneurship-Education*, 18(1), 131–145. https://doi.org/10.24917/20833296.181.11
- Sabal, M. (2019). Public support for succession in family business. *Zarządzanie Publiczne*, *3*(47), 191–204. https://doi.org/10.4467/20843968ZP.19.015.10691
- Sacco, F., & Conz, E. (2023). Corporate heritage communication strategies of iconic Italian brands: A multiple case study. *Corporate Communications: An International Journal*, 28(7), 19–43. https://doi.org/10.1108/CCIJ-12-2021-0136
- Saddour, I. (2020). Methodological considerations when piloting an interview protocol:

 The example of Syrian asylum seekers in France. *Journal of French Language Studies*, 30(2), 211–238. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0959269520000101
- Saunders, M., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2019). Research methods for business students (8th ed.). Pearson.
- Schell, S., de Groote, J. K., Moog, P., & Hack, A. (2020). Successor selection in family business—A signaling game. *Journal of Family Business Strategy*, 11(3), Article 100286. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfbs.2019.04.005
- Schmidt, N. A., & Brown, J. M. (2022). Evidence-based practice for nurses: Appraisal and application of research (5th ed.). Jones & Bartlett Learning.

- Schoch, K. (2019). Case study research. In G. J. Burkholder, K. A. Cox, L. M. Crawford & J. H. Hitchcock (Eds.), *Research design and methods: An applied guide for the scholar-practitioner* (pp. 245–258). SAGE Publications.
- Sebele-Mpofu, F. Y. (2020). Saturation controversy in qualitative research: Complexities and underlying assumptions. A literature review. *Cogent Social Sciences*, *6*(1), Article 1838706. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311886.2020.1838706
- Sebele-Mpofu, F. Y. (2021). The sampling conundrum in qualitative research: Can saturation help alleviate the controversy and alleged subjectivity in sampling?

 International Journal of Social Science Studies, 9, 11–25.

 https://doi.org/10.11114/ijsss.v9i5.5294
- Seema, M., & Ali, S. S. (2021). A study on succession planning, prospective successor selection, transfer of idiosyncratic firm knowledge in family owned businesses of Hyderabad. *Shanlax International Journal of Management*, 9(1), 8–16.

 https://doi.org/10.34293/management.v9i1.4101
- Selig, B. (2020). Nurse manager interns: A proactive approach to developing leadership talent and solidifying succession planning. *Nurse Leader*, *18*(6), 609–615. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mnl.2020.07.007
- Shahriari, P., & Rasuli, B. (2020). No study is ever perfectly flawless: Exploring research limitations in theses and dissertations of Iranian higher education institutes.

 Iranian Journal of Information Processing and Management, 36(1), 95–126.

 https://doi.org/10.35050/JIPM010.2020.015

- Short, J. C., & Payne, G. T. (2020). In their own words: A call for increased use of organizational narratives in family business research. *Family Business Review*, 33(4), 342–350. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894486520967765
- Siewert, K. G., & Louderback, P. (2019). The "bus proof" library: Technical succession planning, knowledge transfer, and institutional memory. *Journal of Library Administration*, 59(4), 455–474. https://doi.org/10.1080/01930826.2019.1593716
- Simkhada, A. (2023). Impact of succession planning practices on the profitability of Nepalese commercial banks. *International Journal of Emerging Trends in Social Sciences*, 14(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.55217/103.v14i1.595
- Simsek, Z., Heavey, C., & Fox, B. C. (2018). Interfaces of strategic leaders: A conceptual framework, review, and research agenda. *Journal of Management*, 44(1), 280–324. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206317739108
- Singh, P., & Kataria, P. (2021). Importance of communication in succession planning—A critical analysis of an Australian city council. *ISBR Management Journal*, 6(1), 34–41. https://doi.org/10.52184/isbrmj.v6i1.104
- Somboonvechakarn, C., Taiphapoon, T., Anuntavoranich, P., & Sinthupinyo, S. (2022).

 Communicating innovation and sustainability in family businesses through successions. *Heliyon*, Article 11760.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2022.e11760
- Sreih, J. F., Lussier, R. N., & Sonfield, M. C. (2019). Differences in management styles, levels of profitability, and performance across generations, and the development

- of the family business success model. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 32(1), 32–50. https://doi.org/10.1108/JOCM-01-2018-0030
- Stahl, N. A., & King, J. R. (2020). Expanding approaches for research: Understanding and using trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Journal of Developmental Education*, 44(1), 26–28. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1320570
- Staller, K. M. (2021). Big enough? Sampling in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Social*Work, 20(4), 897–904. https://doi.org/10.1177/14733250211024516
- Steinbach, A. L., Gamache, D. L., & Johnson, R. E. (2019). Don't get it misconstrued:

 Executive construal-level shifts and flexibility in the upper echelons. *Academy of Management Review*, 44(4), 871–895. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2017.0273
- Stenfors, T., Kajamaa, A., & Bennett, D. (2020). How to...assess the quality of qualitative research. *The Clinical Teacher*, *17*(6), 596–599. https://doi.org/10.1111/tct.13242
- Stephen, E. (2019). Paradigm shift in mentoring. *Indian Journal of Vascular and Endovascular Surgery*, 6(2), 63–64. https://doi.org/10.4103/ijves.ijves_26_19
- Stilwell, P., & Harman, K. (2021). Phenomenological research needs to be renewed:

 Time to integrate enactivism as a flexible resource. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 20, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406921995299
- Strijker, D., Bosworth, G., & Bouter, G. (2020). Research methods in rural studies:

 Qualitative, quantitative and mixed methods. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 78, 262–270. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2020.06.007

- Strike, V. M., Michel, A., & Kammerlander, N. (2018). Unpacking the black box of family business advising: Insights from psychology. *Family Business Review*, 31(1), 80–124. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894486517735169
- Surmiak, A. (2020). Should we maintain or break confidentiality? The choices made by social researchers in the context of law violation and harm. *Journal of Academic Ethics*, 18(3), 229–247. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10805-019-09336-2
- Tan, J. D., Supratikno, H., Pramono, R., Purba, J. T., & Bernarto, I. (2019). Nurturing transgenerational entrepreneurship in ethnic Chinese family SMEs: Exploring Indonesia. *Journal of Asia Business Studies*, 13(2), 294–325.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/JABS-04-2018-0132
- Tanjung, M. (2020). A cross-firm analysis of corporate governance compliance and performance in Indonesia. *Managerial Auditing Journal*, *35*(5), 621–643. https://doi.org/10.1108/MAJ-06-2019-2328
- Teixeira, S., Veiga, P. M., Figueiredo, R., Fernandes, C., Ferreira, J. J., & Raposo, M. (2020). A systematic literature review on family business: Insights from an Asian context. *Journal of Family Business Management*, 10(4), 329–348. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFBM-12-2019-0078
- Temple, A. (2019). The postgraduate's guide to research ethics. Bloomsbury.
- Theofanidis, D., & Fountouki, A. (2018). Limitations and delimitations in the research process. *Perioperative Nursing*, 7(3), 155–163. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.2552022

- Thier, A. (2020). The directions for development of family businesses in the contemporary economy. *Studia Ekonomiczne*. *Gospodarka, Społeczeństwo, Środowisko*, 1(5), 27–47. https://bibliotekanauki.pl/articles/2046370.pdf
- Tien, N. H., Minh, H. T. T., Ngoc, N. M., & Nhan, M. K. (2019). Family business in Vietnam and in Poland: Review of characteristics and trends of development.

 Journal of Southwest Jiaotong University, 54(6) 1–19.

 https://doi.org/10.35741/issn.0258-2724.54.6.20
- Tolchin, B., Conwit, R., Epstein, L. G., & Russell, J. A. (2020). AAN position statement: Ethical issues in clinical research in neurology. *Neurology*, *94*(15), 661–669. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000000009241
- Tomaszewski, L. E., Zarestky, J., & Gonzalez, E. (2020). Planning qualitative research:

 Design and decision making for new researchers. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 19, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406920967174
- Toska, A., Ramadani, V., Dana, L. P., Rexhepi, G., & Zeqiri, J. (2021). Family business successors' motivation and innovation capabilities: The case of Kosovo. *Journal of Family Business Management*, 12(4), 1152–1166.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/JFBM-11-2021-0136
- Tucker, C. A. (2020). Succession planning for academic nursing. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, *36*(5), 334–342. ttps://doi.org/10.1016/j.profnurs.2020.02.002
- Ugwu, F. I., & Enudu, T. O. (2022). Succession planning and the performance of family-owned businesses in Enugu State. *Advance Journal of Management and Social*

Sciences, 6(4), 1–29.

https://aspjournals.org/Journals/index.php/ajmss/article/view/90

- Umans, I., Lybaert, N., Steijvers, T., & Voordeckers, W. (2020). Succession planning in family firms: Family governance practices, board of directors, and emotions. Small Business Economics, 54(1), 189–207. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-018-0078-5
- Umans, I., Lybaert, N., Steijvers, T., & Voordeckers, W. (2021a). The influence of transgenerational succession intentions on the succession planning process: The moderating role of high-quality relationships. *Journal of Family Business*Strategy, 12(2), Article 100269. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfbs.2018.12.002
- Umans, I., Lybaert, N., Steijvers, T., & Voordeckers, W. (2021b). The family CEO's effect on succession planning: Founder status, difficulties with letting go and gender differences. *Gender in Management: An International Journal*, *36*(5), 659–673. https://doi.org/10.1108/GM-01-2020-0007
- Ungerer, M., & Mienie, C. (2018). A family business success map to enhance the sustainability of a multi-generational family business. *International Journal of Family Business and Management Studies*, 2(1), 1–13.

 https://doi.org/10.15226/2577-7815/2/1/00112
- Urban, B., & Nonkwelo, R. P. (2020). Intra-family dynamics and succession planning in family businesses in South Africa: The daughter as a potential successor. *Journal of Family Business Management*, 12(2), 266–279. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFBM-08-2020-0084

- Vandekerkhof, P., Steijvers, T., Hendriks, W., & Voordeckers, W. (2019). The effect of nonfamily managers on decision-making quality in family firm TMTs: The role of intra-TMT power asymmetries. *Journal of Family Business Strategy*, *10*, Article 100272. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfbs.2019.01.002
- van Helvert-Beugels, J., Nordqvist, M., & Flören, R. (2020). Managing tensions as paradox in CEO succession: The case of nonfamily CEO in a family firm.

 International Small Business Journal, 38(3), 211–242.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0266242619898609
- Vardaman, J. M., & Montague-Mfuni, M. (2021). Forced transgenerational succession:

 Insights from a South African family business. *Journal of Small Business*Management, 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1080/00472778.2021.1937634
- Visser, T., & van Scheers, L. (2018). Can family business managers manage family business risks? *Management: Journal of Contemporary Management Issues*, 23(1), 123–137. https://doi.org/10.30924/mjcmi/2018.23.1.123
- Vivek, R., & Nanthagopan, Y. (2021). Review and comparison of multi-method and mixed method application in research studies. *European Journal of Management Issues*, 29(4), 200–208. https://doi.org/10.15421/192119
- Vu, T. T. N. (2021). Understanding validity and reliability from qualitative and quantitative research traditions. VNU Journal of Foreign Studies, 37(3), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.25073/2525-2445/vnufs.4672

- Wahyuningsih, R. S. W., & Ferijani, A. (2021). Succession analysis in family business (case study at PT. BJE). *Journal of Management and Business Environment*, 2(2), 115–125. https://doi.org/10.24167/jmbe.v2i2.2693
- Wallace, D. M., Torres, E. M., & Zaccaro, S. J. (2021). Just what do we think we are doing? Learning outcomes of leader and leadership development. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 32(5), Article 101494. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2020.101494
- Wang, Y. Z., Lo, F. Y., & Weng, S. M. (2019). Family businesses successors knowledge and willingness on sustainable innovation: The moderating role of leader's approval. *Journal of Innovation & Knowledge*, 4(3), 188–195.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jik.2019.05.001
- Welch, C., Paavilainen-Mäntymäki, E., Piekkari, R., & Plakoyiannaki, E. (2022).

 Reconciling theory and context: How the case study can set a new agenda for international business research. *Journal of International Business Studies*, *53*(1), 4–26. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41267-021-00484-5
- White, M. G. (2020). Why human subjects research protection is important. *Ochsner Journal*, 20(1), 16–33. https://doi.org/10.31486/toj.20.5012
- Więcek-Janka, E., Majchrzak, J., Wyrwicka, M., & Weber, G. W. (2020). Application of grey clusters in the development of a Synthetic Model of the goals of Polish family enterprises' successors. *Grey Systems: Theory and Application*, 11(1), 63– 79. https://doi.org/10.1108/GS-12-2019-0062
- Williams, M., & Moser, T. (2019). The art of coding and thematic exploration in qualitative research. *International Management Review*, *15*(1), 45–55.

- Woodfield, P. J., & Husted, K. (2022). Sharing knowledge across generations and its impact on innovation. *Wine Business Journal*, 5(1), 88–103. https://doi.org/10.26813/001c.31022
- Worytkiewicz-Raś, K. (2020). The being and the significance of the process of the inheritance in family enterprises in Poland. *Problems of Economics and Law*, 4(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.5604/01.3001.0014.3047
- Wu, M., Coleman, M., Rahaman, A. R. A., & Edziah, B. K. (2020). Successor selection in family business using theory of planned behaviour and cognitive dimension of social capital theory: Evidence from Ghana. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 27(6), 205–226. https://doi.org/10.1108/JSBED-05-2019-0152
- Wu, Y., Maas, G., Zhang, Y., Chen, F., Xia, S., Fernandes, K., & Tian, K. (2023). The secrets to successful entrepreneurship: How occupational experience shapes the creation and performance of start-ups. *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behavior & Research*, 29(2), 354–384. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJEBR-09-2021-0748
- Wysocka, M. (2019). Determinants of efficient activity of the family businesses in Spain, Poland, Turkey, and Latvia. *Forum Teologiczne*, 20, 61–73. https://doi.org/10.31648/ft.4803
- Xu, A., Baysari, M. T., Stocker, S. L., Leow, L. J., Day, R. O., & Carland, J. E. (2020).

 Researchers' views on, and experiences with, the requirement to obtain informed

- consent in research involving human participants: A qualitative study. *BMC Medical Ethics*, 21(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12910-020-00538-7
- Yadav, D. (2022). Criteria for good qualitative research: A comprehensive review. *The Asia-Pacific Education Researcher*, 31(6), 679–689.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s40299-021-00619-0
- Yates, V. A., Vardaman, J. M., & Chrisman, J. J. (2022). Social network research in the family business literature: A review and integration. *Small Business Economics*, 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-022-00665-y
- Yeong, M., Ismail, R., Ismail, N., & Hamzah, M. (2018). Interview protocol refinement: Fine-tuning qualitative research interview questions for multi-racial populations in Malaysia. *The Qualitative Report*, 23(11), 2700–2713. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2018.3412
- Yezza, H., Chabaud, D., & Calabrò, A. (2021). Conflict dynamics and emotional dissonance during the family business succession process: Evidence from the Tunisian context. *Entrepreneurship Research Journal*, 11(3), 219–244. https://doi.org/10.1515/erj-2019-0294
- Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research and applications: Design and methods (6th ed.).

 Sage.
- Yoon, B., & Uliassi, C. (2022). "Researcher-as-instrument" in qualitative research: The complexities of the educational researcher's identities. *Qualitative Report*, 27(4), 1088–1102. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2022.5074

- Young, M., & Cater, J. J., III. (2019). Millennials in family firms: Success factors, enhancing firm attractiveness, and the changing roles of successors. *Southern Journal of Business and Ethics*, 11, 157–180.
- Yuan, X. (2019). A review of succession and innovation in family business. *American Journal of Industrial and Business Management*, 9(4), 974–1001. https://doi.org/10.4236/ajibm.2019.94066
- Yusof, M. Y. P. M., Teo, C. H., & Ng, C. J. (2022). Electronic informed consent criteria for research ethics review: A scoping review. *BMC Medical Ethics*, 23(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12910-022-00849-x
- Zapata-Cantu, L., Sanguino, R., Barroso, A., & Nicola-Gavrilă, L. (2022). Family business adapting a new digital-based economy: Opportunities and challenges for future research. *Journal of the Knowledge Economy*, 1–18.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s13132-021-00871-1
- Zhang, Q., Abdullah, A., Hossan, D., & Hou, Z. (2021). The effect of transformational leadership on innovative work behavior with moderating role of internal locus of control and psychological empowerment. *Management Science Letters*, 11(4), 1267–1276. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2020.11.012
- Zhao, J., Carney, M., Zhang, S., & Zhu, L. (2020). How does an intra-family succession effect strategic change and performance in China's family firms? *Asia Pacific Journal of Management*, *37*(2), 363–389. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10490-018-9568-x

Zybura, J., Zybura, N., Ahrens, J. P., & Woywode, M. (2021). Innovation in the post-succession phase of family firms: Family CEO successors and leadership constellations as resources. *Journal of Family Business Strategy*, *12*(2), Article 100336. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfbs.2020.100336

Appendix: Interview Protocol

Interview Protocol

Interview Script

Read the following highlighted section into the interview audio for transcription purposes.

First, thank you for allowing me the opportunity to speak with you about succession planning in your company. I am conducting a multiple case study on succession planning strategies in Polish family firms. You were selected as a participant for this study because of your expertise in succession planning.

This interview is scheduled for one hour and I will attempt to stay within that time frame, while also allowing you time to give a thorough answer for each interview question. Please remember that you participation is voluntary and you may withdraw from the study at any time without any consequences.

Do you have any questions about the study or the research protocol that were not addressed in the informed consent form or prior communication? If there are no other general questions, let's begin the interview. May I record the interview? Read the following highlighted section into the interview audio for transcription purposes.

The title of the research is: What succession planning strategies do Polish family business leaders use to conduct leadership transition to the next generation?

This is an interview with participant: Include identification number from the participant sheet here.

The Walden IRB protocol number is:

The date is: Insert today's date here.

The time is: Insert time here.

The interviewer will initiate the interview by asking the first question and then proceeding through the next questions, along with potential follow-up questions until complete. The interviewer will do the following as necessary throughout the interview:

- Use minimal note taking to remain engaged with the interviewee.
- Rephrase questions as necessary
- · Watch for nonverbal cues.
- Inquire further in areas where they detect uncertainty from the interviewee.
- Ask any additional questions that emerge from the interviewee responses to increase depth.

- 1. What succession planning strategies did you use at your family business to conduct leadership transition to the next generation?
- 2. What key skills and abilities did you look for in potential successors during the succession planning process at your firm to conduct leadership transition to the next generation?
- 3. How did you communicate your succession planning strategies to prospective successors and other stakeholders to conduct leadership transition to the next generation?
- 4. What specific leadership development strategies did you use to prepare the successors for post-transition family business leadership?
- 5. What challenges did you encounter when implementing your succession planning strategies to conduct leadership transition to the next generation?
- 6. How did you address the challenges affecting the implementation of your succession planning strategies to conduct leadership transition to the next generation?
- 7. How did you assess the effectiveness of your succession planning strategies to conduct leadership transition to the next generation?
- 8. What additional information can you share about strategies for succession planning in your family business to conduct leadership transition to the next generation?

Finish the interview with a thank you to the interviewee.

Thank you for your time and insight into the topic. Your responses are very helpful in understanding succession planning strategies in Polish family businesses.

Schedule a follow-up member checking meeting to review the original interview data and interpretations.

I would like to schedule a brief follow-up meeting with you in several days for your review of my comprehension of the responses that you provided in this interview. I will email my summaries of your answers a few days before our next meeting. Then, when we meet, we can address any changes or additions you wish to make.

Take some reflective notes. Note feelings and write down any passing thoughts about the interview.